

Silver fluoride and caries management

Edited by Raman Bedi

Published in Frontiers in Oral Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5431-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5431-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Silver fluoride and caries management

Topic editor

Raman Bedi — King's College London, United Kingdom

Citation

Bedi, R., ed. (2024). *Silver fluoride and caries management*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5431-9

We acknowledge the funding of the manuscripts published in this Research Topic by SDI Limited. We hereby state publicly that SDI Limited has had no editorial input in articles included in this Research Topic, thus ensuring that all aspects of this Research Topic are evaluated objectively, unbiased by any specific policy or opinion of SDI Limited.

🐉 **frontiers** | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Silver fluoride and caries management Catherine Abdelsayed, Riwa Deghaim, Danaé Dimitracopoulos, Lucia Momblona Robres and Raman Bedi
- 07 Parental acceptance of silver fluoride as a treatment option for carious lesions among South African children with special health care needs

N. Potgieter, N. Noordien, R. Mulder, C. Peck and S. Groisman

- 12 Penetration of SDF and AgF from the infected dentine towards the unaffected tooth structure Riaan Mulder, Nicoline Potgieter and Naeemah Noordien
- 19 Characterization of chemical reactions of silver diammine fluoride and hydroxyapatite under remineralization conditions

M. Kaur, S. Shahid, N. Karpukhina, P. Anderson and F. S. L. Wong

A pilot study on the global practice of informed consent in paediatric dentistry

Nicoline Potgieter, Gemma Bridge, Marlies Elfrink, Morenike Oluwatoyin Folayan, Sherry S. Gao, Sonia Groisman, Ashwin Jawdekar, Arthur M. Kemoli, David Lim, Phuong Ly, Shani A. Mani, Ray Masumo, Joana Monteiro, Marjorie K. Muasya, Ambrina Qureshi and Norman Tinanoff

32 Remineralization and inactivation of carious lesions treated with silver fluoride in Brazilian children with special healthcare needs

Nicoline Potgieter, Viviane Pereira, Roberto Elias, Senda Charone and Sonia Groisman

38 Comparing cytocompatibility of two fluoride-containing solutions and two resin-based restorative materials—a pilot study

Riaan Mulder, Naeemah Noordien and Nicoline Potgieter

43 Chemical kinetics of silver diammine fluoride in demineralization and remineralization solutions—an *in vitro* study

M. Kaur, P. Anderson, S. Shahid and F. S. L. Wong

- 49 Acceptance of the use of silver fluoride among Brazilian parents of children with special health care needs N. Potgieter, V. Pereira, R. Elias, S. Charone and S. Groisman
- 53 Effects of silver diammine fluoride with/without potassium iodide on enamel and dentin carious lesions in primary teeth M. Kaur, P. Anderson, S. Shahid, G. R. Davis, D. Mills and F. S. L. Wong

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Chun Hung Chu, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Catherine Abdelsayed Sc.s.f.abdelsayed@sms.ed.ac.uk

RECEIVED 14 August 2024 ACCEPTED 19 August 2024 PUBLISHED 03 September 2024

CITATION

Abdelsayed C, Deghaim R, Dimitracopoulos D, Momblona Robres L and Bedi R (2024) Editorial: Silver fluoride and caries management. Front. Oral. Health 5:1480767. doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1480767

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Abdelsayed, Deghaim, Dimitracopoulos, Momblona Robres and Bedi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Silver fluoride and caries management

Catherine Abdelsayed^{1*}, Riwa Deghaim²,

Danaé Dimitracopoulos³, Lucia Momblona Robres⁴ and Raman Bedi⁵

¹Edinburgh Medical School: Molecular, Genetic and Population Health Sciences, Usher Institute, The University of Edinburgh, Scotland, United Kingdom, ²Higher Institute of Public Health, Saint Joseph University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon, ³Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, ⁴General Health Psychology, International University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ⁵King's College, London, United Kingdom

KEYWORDS

dental caries, silver diamine fluoride, silver fluoride, caries activity, prevention

Editorial on the Research Topic Silver fluoride and caries management

If the public was asked to list diseases that have the highest global burden, oral diseases may not be included in the provided answers. According to the WHO (1) in the report on global oral health status, oral diseases represent a global public health problem that necessitates intervention. Since 1990, oral diseases have been the most prevalent worldwide condition. In 2019, 3.5 billion people were affected globally by oral diseases. Moreover, there is an alarming proportion of affected people in middle-income countries where 3 out of 4 residents are affected. Accordingly, oral diseases not only affect the individual's health and well-being but also affect healthcare systems and economies. This can be shown by the US\$ 387 billion spent by 194 countries in 2019 as a direct cost for oral diseases in addition to global US\$ 323 billion productivity losses resulting from the same conditions.

One of the oral diseases of the highest-burden is untreated dental caries, whether in deciduous or permanent teeth. More than 30% of humanity lives with untreated dental caries. 2 billion people globally have untreated caries in their permanent teeth compared to 514 million children with untreated caries in deciduous teeth making it the sole most frequent chronic childhood disease. The estimated global average prevalence of untreated caries in deciduous and permanent teeth are 43% and 29% respectively. Although these numbers are alarming, it is possible to reduce the global disease burden by self-care or simple measures (1).

The WHO recognized the important link between oral health and overall health, where dental caries and other oral diseases can have significant consequences impacting nutrition, speech, self-esteem, and overall quality of life (2). Accordingly, WHO included a dental section in its Essential Medicines list.

The WHO Essential Medicines List is a curated compilation of the most effective, safe, and cost-effective medicines needed for basic healthcare (3). It provides a guiding framework for countries to prioritize access to essential medicines while ensuring their availability and affordability (4). This list is extremely important because it influences national pharmaceutical policies and procurement decisions, eventually affecting the delivery of healthcare services.

The inclusion of a dental section in the WHO Essential Medicines List highlights the important link between oral health and overall health. In a significant step forward, the World Health Organization has added silver diamine fluoride (SDF) to the dental section of its Essential Medicines List in 2021. This shows the WHO's recognition of its potential to revolutionize the prevention and management of dental caries, especially in resource-constrained settings and vulnerable populations like the elderly and disabled.

According to WHO (5), the newly added medicine, SDF, Ag F (NH3)2 is a clear liquid formulation containing high concentrations (most commonly 38%) of fluoride (approximately 44,800 ppm) and silver (approximately 253,870 ppm silver) (6). It has garnered attention for its remarkable efficacy in preventing and arresting dental caries, showing an 81% success rate for a topical application on primary teeth (7). 80% effectiveness is also confirmed as the general efficacy rate (5). The material costs of recommended bi-annual applications are approximately USD \$0.20 per year per person.

The decision of the EML revising committee to add SDF was not only based upon its numerous advantages but also due to the strong 50-year existing evidence about its effectiveness. Studies proved that SDF application decreased the incidence of new dentinal caries significantly when compared to placebo, no received treatment, and fluoride vanish in a 2-year follow-up. SDF was also found to successfully arrest root caries by 90% at 30-month follow-up. Another advantage is that SDF has no reported side effects. However, aesthetically, it stains the treated caries with a dark color. Tooth pain and irritation of the gingiva have rarely occurred and if occurred, they subsided quickly (5).

The importance of SDF extends beyond its role in addressing the global burden of dental caries. For aging populations and individuals with disabilities, SDF offers a minimally invasive, cost and time-effective alternative to traditional restorative treatments. Decades of research have demonstrated its ability to halt the progression of carious lesions, particularly in aging populations or populations with limited access to conventional dental care.

Aging populations often face unique challenges when it comes to maintaining oral health. As people age, they may experience decreased manual dexterity, making it difficult to maintain proper oral hygiene. In addition, many medications commonly prescribed to older adults can cause dry mouth, which could increase the risk of dental caries (8).

Similarly, people with disabilities may face barriers to accessing dental care due to physical limitations (9), transportation difficulties (9), or financial constraints (10). SDF can be easily applied in non-traditional settings, such as nursing homes or community health centers, thus making it more accessible to this population (11). By preventing and arresting dental caries, SDF can help reduce the need for more invasive and expensive dental treatments, which may be especially challenging for people with disabilities.

In this comprehensive discussion, we explore the diverse ramifications of integrating SDF into worldwide oral health strategies, emphasizing its potential to mitigate socioeconomic disparities associated with dental caries. We stress the necessity of proactive measures in fostering oral health equity, advocating for collaborative endeavors and sustained investment in accessible, evidence-based interventions.

Ultimately, this editorial underscores the imperative of addressing the global caries crisis through multifaceted approaches, highlighting SDF as a promising solution to not only prevent and treat tooth decay but also to narrow dental care gaps and advance equity in oral health. Through concerted efforts, we envision a future where dental caries cease to pose a significant threat to global well-being.

Author contributions

CA: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. RD: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. DD: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. LM: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. RB: Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

^{1.} WHO. Global Oral Health Status Report: Towards Universal Health Coverage for Oral Health by 2030. Geneva: World Health Organization (2022). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ 9789240061484

^{2.} Bertagna B. *The Link Between Oral Health and Overall Well-Being*. United States: Rupa Health (2024). Available online at: https://www.rupahealth.com/post/the-linkbetween-oral-health-and-overall-well-being

^{3.} Bridge G. Silver diamine fluoride: transforming community dental caries program. *Redirecting.* (2021) 71:458-61. doi: 10.1016/j.identj.2020.12.017

^{4.} FDI F. WHO Breakthrough: Model List of Essential Medicines Includes new Section for Dental Preparations. Geneva: FDI (2021). Available online at: https://www.fdiworlddental.org/who-list-essential-medicines-includes-new-sectiondental-preparations

^{5.} WHO. Silver Diamine Fluoride 1. Summary Statement of the Proposal for Inclusion, Change or Deletion. Geneva: World Health Organization (2021). Available online at: https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/essential-medicines/2021-eml-expert-committee/applications-for-addition-of-new-medicines/a. 28_silver-diamine-fluoride.pdf?sfvrsn=e9d947bb_4

6. Chu CH, Lo ECM, Lin HC. Effectiveness of silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride varnish in arresting dentin caries in Chinese pre-school children. *J Dent Res.* (2012) 91(12):135–40. doi: 10.1177/0810767

7. Gao SS, Zhao IS, Hiraishi N, Duangthip D, Mei ML, Lo ECM. Clinical trials of silver diamine fluoride in arresting caries among children: a systematic review. J Dent Res. (2019) 98(8):831-7. doi: 10.1177/2380084416661474

8. Turner M. Dry mouth and its effects on the oral health of elderly people. *Redirecting*. (2007) 138:15s-20s. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2007.0358

9. Rocha LL, de Lima Saintrain MV, Vieira-Meyer APGF. Access to Dental Public Services by Disabled Persons—BMC Oral Health. United Kingdom: BioMed Central (2015). Available online at: https://bmcoralhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/ s12903-015-0022-x

10. Da Rosa SV. (PDF) barriers in access to dental services hindering the treatment of people with disabilities: A systematic review. (2020). Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/343188098_Barriers_in_Access_to_Dental_Services_Hindering_the_Treatment_of_People_with_Disabilities_A_Systematic_Review (Accessed May 7, 2024)

11. Shakir H. Effectiveness of silver diamine fluoride in arresting dental caries in residents living in nursing homes: a randomized controlled trial. *J Public Health Dent.* (2023) 83:292–8. doi: 10.1111/jphd.12578

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Martin Vorster, University of Pretoria, South Africa

REVIEWED BY Ilana Middleton, University of Pretoria, South Africa Rutendo Kudenga, University of Pretoria, South Africa

*correspondence N. Potgieter ⊠ nipotgieter@uwc.ac.za

RECEIVED 14 September 2023 ACCEPTED 11 October 2023 PUBLISHED 16 November 2023

CITATION

Potgieter N, Noordien N, Mulder R, Peck C and Groisman S (2023) Parental acceptance of silver fluoride as a treatment option for carious lesions among South African children with special health care needs. Front. Oral. Health 4:1294227. doi: 10.3389/froh.2023.1294227

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Potgieter, Noordien, Mulder, Peck and Groisman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Parental acceptance of silver fluoride as a treatment option for carious lesions among South African children with special health care needs

N. Potgieter^{1*} D, N. Noordien¹ D, R. Mulder² D, C. Peck¹ D and S. Groisman³ D

¹Department of Orthodontics and Paediatric Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa, ²Department of Prosthodontics, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa, ³Faculdade de Odontologia, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Providing dental care for children with neurological special health care needs, including Down syndrome, Cerebral palsy and Autism spectrum disorders, is challenging. They often require repeat exposure to sedation or general anaesthesia for routine dental care. 51 parents of children with special needs completed a questionnaire regarding the acceptance of Silver Fluoride as a treatment option.

Background: Silver Diamine Fluoride has become popular as a minimally invasive treatment option for providing oral health care to young or uncooperative children. Silver Fluoride (SF) is a newer development with similar but improved properties. The aim was to determine the acceptance of SDF/SF as treatment option for Children with Special Health Care Needs (CSHCN), including Down Syndrome, Autism Spectrum Disorder and Cerebral Palsy.

Methods: 51 Parents of CSHCN completed a questionnaire on the overall acceptance of SF; aesthetic concerns related to the location of application; the use of SDF as an alternative to general anesthesia; and the composition of SF.

Results: The use of SF on posterior teeth were more acceptable (70.59%) as opposed to its application to anterior teeth (50.98%). Parents generally agreed/ strongly agreed to the use of SF to reduce infection and pain (82%); to avoid treatment under GA (26.70%); and to avoid an injection (78%). 64% of parents indicated their agreement in using SF because it has a reduced cost when compared to a conventional restoration. Majority of parents were in agreement to use SF even if it contains Fluoride (84%) and Silver (78%).

Conclusion: The use of SF, as treatment option for caries, was well accepted by South African parents of CSHCN. Shared decision making should be applied when considering SF as treatment option for CSHCN.

KEYWORDS

parental acceptance, silver fluoride, silver diamine fluoride, special care dentistry, caries

Abbreviations

CSHCN, children with special health care needs; SDF, silver diamine fluoride; SF, silver fluoride.

1. Introduction

Within the group of patients with special health care needs are three very common neurological conditions namely Cerebral Paralysis (CP), Down Syndrome (DS) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). These conditions not only affect the paediatric patients' general health but also their craniofacial development and subsequent oral health (1).

Several studies have highlighted the difficulties of performing dental care on children with a serious mental disability like CP, DS and ASD (1-3). Non-pharmacological behavior management of children with neurological conditions is often challenging as they often struggle with communication and social interaction. Linking with patient cooperation, restoration of cavities requires cooperation, time and moisture control which is often not possible in children with CP, DS and ASD. The Atraumatic Restorative Technique can be considered as a treatment option, however, still requires moderate cooperation to execute and may therefore not be applicable to all patients. As a result, children with CP, DS and ASD often require sedation or general anesthesia to enable routine restorative dentistry procedures to be performed. The risks of exposing children with CP, DS and ASD to repeated sedation and general anesthesia for routine dental treatment is worrying, and hence alternative treatment options are needed.

Silver Diamine Fluoride (SDF) has emerged as one such an alternative arrest dental caries, while being non-invasive and clinically efficient (4). The new generation, ammonia free Silver Fluoride (SF) has the added benefits of less tissue burn and irritation, improved smell, and better stability. Both Silver Diamine Fluoride (Riva Star) and Silver Fluoride (Riva Aqua) is approved for medical use with product registration numbers (D349082/K172047/GMDN code 45232 Class iia).

Parental acceptance of SDF treatments among healthy children has been reported as a limitation, due the resulting unaesthetic black staining when applied to carious lesions (5–7). Limited scientific evidence is available regarding the acceptancy of these techniques among children with special health care needs and their parents.

2. Methods, results and discussion

2.1. Material and methods

The aim of this study was to determine the acceptance of special needs children's parents of SF as a treatment option for carious lesions. The quantitative cross-sectional study was conducted by means of a self-administered questionnaire. The questionnaire included several relevant constructs, namely the overall acceptance; aesthetics concerns by tooth location, and its use as an alternative treatment in order not to admit the children to general anaesthesia for dental treatment.

Parents of children with special health care needs, meeting the inclusion criteria, were invited to participate in this study. The inclusion criteria was parents of patients diagnosed with DS, CP or ASD, in need of dental treatment (at least having one cavity indicated for restoration). Parents were informed about the nature, benefits and risks associated with the study after which written consent for voluntary participation was obtained. After consent was obtained, the parents were educated about SF as alternative to dental restorations by means of an information leaflet, adapted from the British Society of Paediatric Dentistry's patient leaflet for SDF (BSPD) (8). Participants then completed the questionnaire (it was printed in English but a translator was available in Afrikaans and Xhosa when necessary).

A convenience sample of 100 participants, in line with a peer review article published by Bagher et al. (9) was used. From the 100 participants approached, 20 parents declined participation. Questionnaires that were incomplete or had double answers marked were excluded from the study resulting in n = 51questionnaires that were analyzed, indicating a 51% response rate.

2.1.1. Ethical considerations

Ethical clearance was obtained from the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (BM22/7/9) of the University of the Western Cape. All parents who participated in the questionnaire were not obliged to take SF as a treatment option and could opt for conventional treatment as routinely offered by the hospital. Patients screened for the study that did not meet the inclusion criteria but still required dental treatment received routine care. Parents had the option to opt out from the research at any time with the option to receive conventional restorative treatment or no further treatment. All patients were advised to attend regular follow up visits, regardless of their participation in the study. In terms of the requirements of the Protection of Personal Information Act (Act 4 of 2013), personal information was collected and processed as explained in the information sheet and consent from participants to use this information in the study was obtained on the consent form.

2.2. Results

Fifty-one Questionnaires were available that were correctly completed by the parent/guardian. The participating parents represented 20 (39.21%) children with Autism, 22 (43.13%) with Cerebral Palsy and 9 with Down Syndrome 9 (17.64%). The demographics of the participating parents and their children are summarized in **Table 1**, with the majority of parents being female (80.39% and between the ages of 30–49 years (52.93%). The children of participating parents were mostly male (68.62%) and between the ages of 6–10 years.

The parental acceptance with regards to the use of silver fluoride is reported in **Table 2**. Majority of parents (n = 38, 74.5%) agreed/ strongly agreed to the use of SF for their children. The use of SF on posterior teeth was more acceptable (N = 36, 70.59%) as opposed to its application to anterior teeth (N = 26, 50.98%). Parents generally agreed/ strongly agreed to the use of SF to reduce infection and pain (N = 42, 82%); to avoid treatment under GA (N = 26.70%); and to avoid an injection (N = 40, 78%). 64% of parents indicated their agreement in using SF because it has a reduced cost when compared to a conventional restoration. TABLE 1 Demographics of participating parents and their children.

Variable	N (%)
Child age	
0-5 years	13 (24.49)
6-10 years	26 (50.98)
11-15 years	12 (23.52)
>16 years	0 (0)
Male	35 (68.62)
Female	16 (31.37)
Other	0
Parents	
Female	41 (80.39)
<20 years	0 (0)
20-30 years	13 (25.49)
30-40 years	21 (41.17)
>50 years	7 (13.72)
Male	10 (19.61)
<20 years	1 (1.96)
20-30 years	1 (7.96)
30-40 years	6 (11.76)
>50 years	2 (3.92)

Majority of parents were in agreement to use SF even if it contains Fluoride (N = 43, 84%) and Silver (N = 40, 78%).

The result of the chi-square statistical analysis is reported in Table 3. The Chi-square statistic of 15.7669 is not statistically significant at p = 0.469343.

2.3. Discussion

Although SDF if widely researched, the newer Silver Fluoride is not. Most of the comparisons and agreements will be drawn with

TABLE 2 Parental acceptance of SF use reported in percentages.

parental acceptance studies on SDF. However, over time our hypothesis is that acceptance will only improve due to the newer properties of SF.

Bahger et al. (9) reported a 57.8% response rate from a similar questionnaire relating to children aged between 2 and 12 years with a mean \pm SD age of 7.27 \pm 2.35. These demographics are comparable with our study, at a 51% response rate with majority of the children being between the ages of 6 and 10 (50.98%). Majority of the children (whose parents participated in this study) were diagnosed with ASD and were male. This is in alignment with a higher incidence of ASD being diagnosed in males and the findings of Hu et al. (5) who reported 83% male participants in a SDF acceptance study among children diagnosed with ASD. Moreover, parents' level of acceptance towards SDF increased according to the level of increased difficulty that their child would experience in order to receive treatment (7).

An important factor which influences a parent's decision to accept the use of SDF/ SF in their children's mouth, is whether it is being applied anteriorly or posteriorly due to aesthetic concerns. The acceptance rate for anterior teeth was 50.97% (agree and strongly agree), while for posterior teeth was 70.58% (agree and strongly agree), which concurs with what is reported in the literature. Hu et al. (5) found the parental acceptance rate to increase from 35% for anterior teeth to approximately 67.5% for posterior teeth, while Crystal et al. (7) reported 29.7% and 67.5% respectively. Although no statistically significant difference could be found between the acceptance for use on anterior and posterior teeth in this study, Bahger et al. (9) reported significantly higher acceptance of SDF treatment on their child's primary compared to permanent teeth and posterior compared to anterior in both dentitions (P < 0.001).

Variable	Definitely disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Neutral N (%)	Agree N (%)	Definitely agree N (%)
Use of SF on front teeth	9 (17.64)	9 (17.64)	7 (13.72)	17 (33.33)	9 (17.64)
Use of SF on back teeth	6 (11.76)	4 (7.84)	5 (9.80)	26 (50.98)	10 (19.60)
Use to reduce infection and pain	3 (5.88)	3 (5.88)	3 (5.88)	25 (49.01)	17 (33.33)
Use to avoid treatment under GA	3 (5.88)	7 (13.73)	4 (7.84)	26 (50.98)	11 (21.57)
Use to avoid injection	2 (3.92)	6 (11.76)	3 (5.88)	27 (52.94)	13 (25.49)
Use for reduced cost compared to filling	4 (7.84)	9 (17.65)	5 (9.80)	26 (50.98)	7 (13.72)
Use even if it contains fluoride	2 (3.92)	2 (3.92)	4 (7.84)	35 (68.62)	8 (15.68)
Use even if it contains silver	2 (3.92)	3 (5.88)	5 (9.80)	34 (66.66)	6 (11.76)
Overall acceptance of use	4 (7.84)	4 (7.84)	5 (9.80)	29 (56.86)	9 (17.65)

TABLE 3 Chi-square analysis of results.

	Results						
	SF front teeth	SF back teeth	Prevent GA	Avoid injection	SF accepted to use	Row totals	
Definitely disagree	9 (4.80) [3.68]	6 (4.80) [0.30]	3 (4.80) [0.68]	2 (4.80) [1.63]	4 (4.80) [0.13]	24	
Disagree	9 (6.00) [1.50]	4 (6.00) [0.67]	7 (6.00) [0.17]	6 (6.00) [0.00]	4 (6.00) [0.67]	30	
Neutral	7 (4.80) [1.01]	5 (4.80) [0.01]	4 (4.80) [0.13]	3 (4.80) [0.68]	5 (4.80) [0.01]	24	
Agree	17 (25.00) [2.56]	26 (25.00) [0.04]	26 (25.00) [0.04]	27 (25.00) [0.16]	29 (25.00) [0.64]	125	
Definitely agree	9 (10.40) [0.19]	10 (10.40) [0.02]	11 (10.40) [0.03]	13 (10.40) [0.65]	9 (10.40) [0.19]	52	
Column totals	51	51	51	51	51	255	

However, Crystal et al. (7) further found that the acceptance rate for the use on anterior teeth increased to 60.3% when taking the risk of general anaesthesia into account, which echoes the finding of this study as 72.55% of parents supported the use of SDF to reduce to possibility of general anaesthesia for their child's treatment. Similarly, Hu et al. (5) reported an increase from 60% to 70% when the reality of general anaesthesia was given as a path to facilitate dental treatment and that parents of younger children are more likely to accept SDF as an alternative to GA.

The main ingredients of SDF are fluoride and silver, both of which have been elicited controversy in the past with regards to its safety for use in oral health care. The results from this study indicate that 84.3% of parents did not object to the product containing fluoride or silver (78.42%) for the combined "agree" and "strongly agree" Likert scales. Hu et al. (5) reported that more than 60% of parents would use SDF despite it containing silver and fluoride.

Children with ASD have higher levels of dental fear (5), which poses real contextual difficulties in receiving and delivering optimal dental care. This can delay treatment and increase dental pain, often further complicating the effective treatment pathways. In this study, 82.34% of parents accepted the use of SDF for the possibility of it reducing dental pain, avoiding intra-oral injections (78.43%) and possibly reducing dental costs of restorations (64.7%) as opposed to a minimal approach such as SDF. Both dental pain of pathological origin and giving injections feed dental fear. Crystal et al. (7) reported an increased level of acceptance of SDF as the level of difficulty that their child would experience in order to receive treatment increased, and parents of children with previous uncooperative behavior during dental treatment were significantly more accepting of the use of SDF, regardless of the type (primary or permanent) and location of the teeth (9).

Furthermore, Bagher et al. (9) found no statistically significant difference between the parental acceptance rate of SDF usage with the child's gender, parent's gender, parental education level and family income, which illustrates that the demands of special needs children are more influential on parental decision making (such as pain, anxiety, fear, communication challenges and need for treatment under GA). As such, the overall acceptance of SDF usage in this study was 82.34% (for both "agree" and "strongly agree" scales), which is somewhat higher than was reported by Hu et al. (5), as 60% in Singapore. Given that the dental demands of a developing country such as South Africa would be vastly different from that of a developed country like Singapore, this is not surprising. The burden of disease, caries prevalence and lack of appropriate dental care services for special needs children, makes the benefits of SDF very appealing to families who are struggling to meet the complex dental needs of their children. This not only includes financial constraints, but logistic challenges to find care to promote and maintain their children's oral health without compounding dental fears (i.e., with injections, fillings, extractions, etc.) or having no other options than being referred to GA for extensive treatment plans. It is clear, from this study and international literature, that parental acceptance with the use of SDF, despite its unaesthetic outcome, greatly increases when the benefits are weighed against the risks of not using it, given what the more extensive options are of not arresting active caries early.

3. Conclusion

SF, as treatment option for caries, was well accepted by South African parents of CSHCN and should be offered as a treatment option when indicated. Shared decision making should be applied when considering SF as treatment option for CSHCN.

3.1. Possible benefits of the study to the population

SF application in carious lesions is economic (cost and time effective) and safe not requiring local anaesthesia, sedation or general anaesthesia. The results of this study indicate that majority of parents with CSHCN would accept SF as a treatment option. Dental professionals should therefore consider and present SF as a treatment option for this vulnerable group of children.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Biomedical Research Ethics Council at the University of the Western Cape: BM22/7/9. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

NP: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. NN: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Writing – review & editing. RM: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. CP: Validation, Writing – review & editing. SG: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

SDI limited has provided funding for publication and has sponsored products to conduct research in another study. The funder did however have no input into the study/ methodology/ manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or

References

1. Rodríguez Peinado N, Mourelle Martínez MR, Diéguez Pérez M, De Nova García MJ. A study of the dental treatment needs of special patients: cerebral paralysis and down syndrome. *Eur J Paed Dent.* (2018) 19:3.

2. Forsberg H, Quick-Nilsson I, Gustavson K-H, Jagell S. Dental health and dental care in severely mentally retarded children. *Swed Dent J.* (1985) 9:15–28.

3. Carvalho R, Mendes R, Prado R, Moita JM. Oral health and oral motor function in children with cerebral palsy. *Spec Care Dent.* (2011) 31:58–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-4505.2011.00180.x

4. Gao SS, Zhang S, Mei ML, Lo EC, Chu CH. Caries remineralisation and arresting effect in children by professionally applied fluoride treatment— a systematic review. *BMC Oral Health.* (2016) 16:12. doi: 10.1186/s12903-016-0171-6

5. Hu S, Meyer B, Lai BWP, Chay PL, Tong HJ. Parental acceptance of silver diammine fluoride in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Int J Paediatr Dent.* (2020) 30:514–22. doi: 10.1111/ipd.12624

claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/froh.2023. 1294227/full#supplementary-material

ANNEXURE I Patient information sheet. SF information and consent form.

ANNEXURE II Questionnaire.

6. Rosenblatt A, Stamford TCM, Niederman R. Silver diamine fluoride: a caries "Silver-Fluoride Bullet". J Dent Res. (2009) 88(2):116–25.

7. Crystal YO, Janal MN, Hamilton DS, Niederman R. Parental perceptions and acceptance of silver diamine fluoride staining. J Am Dent Assoc. (2017) 148 (7):510-18.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.adaj.2017.03.013

8. British Society of Paediatric Dentistry. *Patient leaflet: silver diamine fluoride (SDF) liquid treatment*. Available at: https://www.bspd.co.uk/Portals/0/BSPD_SDF% 20patient%20leaflet_For%20website.pdf

9. Bagher SM, Sabbagh HJ, AlJohani SM, Alharbi G, Aldajani M, Elkhodary H. Parental acceptance of the utilization of silver diamine fluoride on their child's primary and permanent teeth. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2019) 23(13):829–35. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S205686

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Mohsin Chaudhary, Queen Mary University of London, United Kingdom Ashwin Jawdekar, Navi Mumbai, India Sasan Rabieh, New York University. United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Nicoline Potgieter Image: nicoline.potgieter@gmail.com

RECEIVED 21 September 2023 ACCEPTED 20 November 2023 PUBLISHED 11 December 2023

CITATION

Mulder R, Potgieter N and Noordien N (2023) Penetration of SDF and AgF from the infected dentine towards the unaffected tooth structure. Front. Oral. Health 4:1298211. doi: 10.3389/froh.2023.1298211

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Mulder, Potgieter and Noordien. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Penetration of SDF and AgF from the infected dentine towards the unaffected tooth structure

Riaan Mulder¹, Nicoline Potgieter^{2*} and Naeemah Noordien²

¹Department of Restorative Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Bellville, South Africa, ²Department of Orthodontics & Paediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Bellville, South Africa

Background: The use of SEM-EDS line scan analysis to evaluate the movement of ions from dental materials towards the tooth structure and the concept of ion movement is well established. This analysis technique was used to determine the ion movement of two commercially available silver- and fluoride-containing products.

Methods: This study aimed to compare the elemental analysis of primary molar teeth treated with silver diamine fluoride (SDF) and water-based silver fluoride (AgF) and to analyse the penetration of SDF and AgF from the infected dentine towards the healthy dentine. The teeth were cleaned from debris and contaminants off the roots and stored until use. A total of 15 primary molars with large active cavitated lesions, not extending into the pulp (specimens), were divided into three test groups: silver diamine fluoride (SDF) (n = 5), water-based silver fluoride (AgF) (n = 5), and deionised water (W) (n = 5) as the control group. The teeth were sectioned, embedded, and received SEM-EDS line scans. The line scan had a total length of 82.65 µm. The visible end of the infected dentine and the start of the more affected dentine were chosen as the starting point to ensure that the infected caries' line distribution towards the affected dentine's transition area was as standardized as possible. Therefore, the infected dentine length of the scan was 22.80 μ m (8 scan points of 2.85 μ m apart), and the affected dentine, including the healthy dentine, was $59.8 \,\mu m$ (21 scan points). The SEM-EDS line scan from each specimen determined the average fluoride, iodide, and silver weight percentage for that specimen.

Results: The 15 sample SEM-EDS line scans were used to determine the average ion movement in wt%. The Kruskall–Wallis test and Tukey's HSD test were completed at a p < 0.05. SDF and AgF presented no significant fluoride movement in terms of the weight percentage. There was, however, significantly more fluoride movement from infected caries to the healthy dentine with SDF and AgF (p = 0.0010053) compared to the control specimens treated with deionised water. There was no significant difference between SDF and AgF for the movement of the iodide (p = 0.5953) and silver (p = 0.3708) from infected caries to the healthy dentine.

Conclusion: SDF and AgF easily penetrated through infected caries and affected tooth structure to the healthy dentine for the line scan of 82.65 μ m. There was no significant difference between SDF and AgF for the movement of ions within the infected dentine nor in the affected/healthy dentine.

KEYWORDS

ion movement, silver diamine fluoride, water based silver fluoride, infected dentine, affected dentine, special care dentistry

1. Introduction

The use of scanning electron microscopy-energy dispersive spectroscopy (SEM-EDS) analysis to evaluate the movement of ions from the glass ionomer restorative cement into the tooth structure and the concept of ion movement is well documented in the literature. These ions and their release into the tooth structure through ion exchange have been established as the mechanism that enables glass ionomer cement to remineralise the demineralised dentine (1). During subsequent research, Gjorgievska et al. (2) indicated that aluminium, fluoride, magnesium, silicon, and strontium were incorporated into the dentine from Fuji IX (GC Corporation, Japan). Although the distance of ion movement was not assessed using SEM-EDS line scans as in this present in vitro study, Gjorgievska et al. (2) could conclude that the variation of the ion movement between different teeth would be limited by the dense crystalline nature of the tooth structure (2). This in vitro study, therefore, assessed the movement of ions from silver diamine fluoride (SDF) and water-based silver fluoride (AgF) into the healthy dentine through the infected and affected dentine. SDF is known to easily penetrate through 1-1.5 mm dentine discs where the surface was treated with 17% EDTA to open the dentinal tubules (3). Therefore, the depth of penetration and the corresponding weight percentage change will be insightful to the remineralising properties of the SDF and AgF materials. The use of SEM-EDS can be considered to be destructive as the teeth need to be sectioned and prepared. The use of Micro-CT evaluation has shown value in assessing microstructures such as interglobular dentine (4, 5) and is a method that should be considered for incorporation in future research to augment the caries remineralisation assessment of affected and infected dentine, preceding SEM-EDS analysis. Assessing if the AgF where the ammonium was removed as per the previous generation known as SDF becomes clinically relevant to clinicians using AgF in communities where refrigeration is no longer a requirement for AgF.

The hypothesis of this study was that the weight percentage of ion movement from the SDF and AgF towards the healthy dentine structure through the infected and affected dentine would be no different.

2. Materials and methods

This study aimed to compare the ion movement from the infected dentine towards the healthy dentine through elemental analysis of primary molar teeth treated with silver diamine fluoride (SDF) and water-based silver fluoride (AgF).

2.1. Sample size calculation

Based on the fluoride values obtained from Knight et al. (6), the fluoride ion mean of the control group was 4 and that of the test group was 10, with a standard deviation of 3. Assuming a pooled standard deviation of 3 units, the study would require a sample size of 4 teeth per group. The sample size of 5 is, therefore, more

than sufficient to achieve a power of 80% and a level of significance of 5% (two-sided) for detecting a true difference in means between the test and the reference groups.

2.2. Specimen collection and SDF/AgF treatment

All teeth used in this study were collected from a pool of teeth that were extracted as part of a comprehensive treatment plan based on the patient's needs and not for the purpose of this study. All patients or parents/legal guardians signed written consent for the treatment plans independently of this research and gave consent for teeth to be used for anonymised research purposes. The teeth used are not traceable to the patients. Specimens were stored appropriately and disposed of according to medical waste guidelines, once testing took place. The study was approved by the University of the Western Cape Research Ethical Committee with approval number: BM22/7/3.

The teeth were cleaned from debris and contaminants from the roots and stored under refrigeration in 1% thymol distilled water until use. When the experiment commenced, teeth were rinsed with double distilled water. A total of 15 primary molars with large active cavitated lesions, not extending into the pulp (specimens), were divided into three test groups: silver diamine fluoride (SDF) (n = 5), water-based silver fluoride (AgF) (n = 5), and deionised water (W) (n = 5) as the control group.

SDF (Riva Star, SDI Limited, Australia) and AgF (Riva Star Aqua, SDI Limited, Australia) were the commercially available products and they were used as per the manufacturer's instructions. The control group was represented with deionised water. The treated teeth were stored in 80% humidity at 37°C for 2 weeks before SEM-EDS assessment. This method allowed for the removal of the confounding factor of excessive moisture that could carry ions deeper than the natural remineralisation progression of the ions into the tooth structure.

2.3. SEM-EDS analysis of the sectioned teeth

The teeth that were sectioned and embedded in clear acrylic resin received an SEM-EDS line scan from the infected tooth structure toward the healthy dentine structure to assess the ion elemental transition in weight percentage concentration (wt%). This SEM-EDS line scan was repeated five times per sample and the average of the corresponding μ m positions was used to calculate the average elemental wt% within groups. Each SEM-EDS line scan was 50 μ m apart from the adjacent scanning lines. All five specimens from each group were critical-point dried in a desiccator, invested in clear acrylic, polished, and sputter-coated with carbon prior to SEM-EDS analysis. The SEM-EDS line scan from each specimen determined the average fluoride, iodide, and silver weight percentage for that specimen at each point on the line scan. The scanning electron microscopy unit (Hitachi S-4800 FEG Scanning Electron Microscope, Hitachi Ltd, Tokyo, Japan) was

10.3389/froh.2023.1298211

used to examine the surface morphology of the specimens to perform the line scan. The line scan had a total length of 82.65 μ m. The visible end of the infected dentine to the affected dentine was chosen as the starting point to ensure that the infected caries' line distribution towards the affected dentine's transition area was as standardized as possible. Therefore, the infected dentine length of the scan was 22.80 μ m (8 scan points of 2.85 μ m apart) and that of the affected dentine, including the healthy dentine, was 59.8 μ m (21 scan points) (Figure 1). Images were obtained at FOV: 944 μ m, Mode: 15 kV—Map, Detector: BSD Full. The measurements of the scan points were 2.85 μ m apart and wt% percentage concentration for the ion elements present.

2.4. Baseline elements

The baseline fluoride, silver, and iodide weight percentage concentration (wt%) in the healthy dentine was assessed with SEM-EDS 4 mm away from the infected tooth structure for the teeth used in this *in vitro* investigation and was chosen to be 1.4% per weight. The fluoride results obtained from the line scan did not receive any data correction and were used as analysed per line scan point. There was no iodide nor silver present in these sections of the teeth.

3. Results

The sample (n = 5) SEM-EDS line scans were used to determine the average ion movement in wt%. The Kruskall–Wallis test determined there was a difference among the groups.



Illustration of the sectioned tooth as seen under the SEM.

Tukey's HSD test determined where the significant difference was between groups at a p < 0.05. SDF and AgF presented significantly more fluoride movement from infected caries to the healthy dentine, with SDF and AgF showing significantly more (p = 0.0010053) movement compared to the control specimen treated with deionised water (Figure 2). There was no significant difference between SDF (Riva Star) and AgF (Riva Star Aqua) for the movement of the fluoride (p = 0.8999), iodide (p = 0.5953) (Figure 3), and silver (p = 0.3708) (Figure 4) from infected caries to the healthy dentine.

There were no significances found between AgF (Riva Star Aqua) and SDF (Riva Star) with regard to the wt% present in the affected and healthy dentine cumulatively for fluoride wt% (Figure 5), silver wt%, and iodide (p < 0.05).

4. Discussion

The hypothesis that the ion movement from the AgF (Riva Star Aqua) and SDF (Riva Star) towards the healthy dentine structure through the infected and affected dentine would be no different was accepted.

When a carious tooth is restored with a glass ionomer cement it is well established that the carious teeth develop an interdiffusion zone with a width of $1-2 \mu m$ (7). The ion movement from Fuji IX (GC Corporation, Japan) and Riva Self Cure (SDI Limited, Australia) glass ionomer restorative cement was also assessed by Knight et al. (6). Their investigation illustrated the movement of ions into the tooth up to 75 µm for Fuji IX and Riva Self Cure, but their graphs illustrated a sharp decline of ion wt% after 20 µm (6).

The use of 38% SDF encourages the remineralisation of carious lesions when looking at depth, mineral density, and remineralisation (8). SDF, when exposed to demineralised dentine, increases the mineral organic content and increases the size of the hydroxyapatite crystals in the treated dentine (9). This contributes to the improvement of the mechanical properties of the remineralised dentine thus preventing further demineralisation. This was also demonstrated by Iijima and Onuma (10), who reported that the addition of fluoride into the lattice of remnant crystals changed and decreased the solubility of the apatite. This is further supported by Zhi et al. (11), who found that topical application of silver and fluoride ions increases the mineral density of demineralised dentine lesions. This in vitro study confirmed this conclusion and was able to quantify the weight percentage for the various ions. The use of a remineralisation product, especially on special care patients, that is nearly odourless, has no tissue irritation, and has a physiological pH like Riva Star Aqua could be considered favourable properties. The mineralisation and arrestation of dental caries is the primary function of SDF and AgF products and this role must be optimal. This in vitro analysis compared ion movement in weight percentage concentration (wt%) of Riva Star (SDF) to establish if the physical material properties would hinder the mineralisation effect of the Riva Star Aqua (AgF).

Mulder et al.



It would be expected that the composition of SDF (Riva Star) and AgF (Riva Star Aqua) would play a role in the ion wt% potential of the material that is available to move through the infected and affected dentine into the healthy tooth structure. Although there were no significant differences (p > 0.05) between the wt% concentrations of SDF (Riva Star) and AgF (Riva Star Aqua) in the infected tooth structure, affected dentine, healthy dentine nor in the line scan as a whole, there were interesting wt % concentrations that correlate well with the formulation of the Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua product content. The safety data sheets presented by Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua have similar weight concentration percentages of fluoride (5%) and silver (25%) (12). The SEM-EDS detection of calcium-fluoride mineral content is lower for infected dentine and increase progressively towards the unaffected and healthy dentine. It has been documented that Riva Star forms a calcium fluoride precipitation on the surface of the carious lesion as protein-based globules (13), so the higher fluoride wt% of Riva Star Aqua on the surface (Figure 2) due to the neutral pH could be investigated further with confocal microscopy to visualize what exact mechanism results in the higher fluoride wt%. It seemed that the wt% for Riva Star Aqua started lower than Riva Star in the infected tooth structure but the line scan wt% increased through the affected tooth structure towards the affected dentine for iodide (Figure 3) and silver (Figure 4), with Riva Star still achieving the highest wt % of fluoride at the start of the affected dentine compared to Riva Star Aqua. The use of ammonia in Riva Star is postulated, based on microstructural tooth research of ammonia adsorption (14), to result in a greater collagen expansion and binding compared to water alone (15). Adding nitric acid assists with the collagen expansion and stabilisation of the components to achieve a stable shelf life without refrigeration. The storage advantage of Riva Star Aqua (AgF) not needing to be refrigerated like other SDF products is ideal for clinical and outreach events within urban and rural settings. This ability to be used in rural areas where electricity or continuous refrigeration is limited speaks to the United Nations' sustainable development goals of good health and well-being as communities, which otherwise would not have been able to receive this new formulation of AgF, can be reached. Besides speaking to the UN's goal, it also





highlights the efforts of manufacturers in creating and delivering innovation to the curative and preventative dentistry sphere. The literature from a 6-month follow-up clinical study (16) supported the findings that Riva Star Aqua and Riva Star are effective in arresting the advancement of caries. Riva Star Aqua is an ideal addition to the armamentarium of the clinician for wider population caries treatment methodologies. Additionally, teeth treated with Riva Star Aqua have shown on a hydroxyapatite microcellular surface an antibiofilm effect on the microbial biofilm (17).

The penetration of the two products through the infected and affected dentine towards the healthy dentine through the affected caries is also an important consideration. The cumulative mean fluoride weight percentage for Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua was similar (Figure 5). As the line scan analysis of the wt% continued towards the arrested caries area, it was noted that the point scan of 25.65 μ m into the infected dentine seemed to be the "tipping point" for where the mineral structure became denser towards the affected dentine. The affected dentine also had the initial part closest to the infected dentine where cariogenic bacteria penetrated and was also mineralised by the various SDF products. The interdiffusion zone of Riva Star Aqua has been shown to be an effective product against *S. mutans* when assessed with other SDF products (18). The Riva Star Aqua had a non-significant higher wt% for silver (Figure 4) and iodide (Figure 3) in the various aspects of the line scan compared to Riva Star, which had a slightly higher fluoride wt% (Figure 2). This could be explained by the aqua



component of Riva Star Aqua, which drove the wt% through the infected dentine into the affected tooth structure, whereas the evaporation of the solvent could have possibly delayed the initial penetration of the ions through infected caries for the Riva Star, explaining the much higher wt% of iodide (14.83 wt%) and silver (9.8 wt%) at the first line scan point in the infected dentine. Whereas Riva Star Aqua had 8.3 wt% and 5.5 wt% of iodide and silver, respectively, and could penetrate deeper due to the aqueous content and potential lack of solvent evaporation upon application.

From the literature and reports using various techniques, the silver concentration of Riva Star Aqua was estimated to be 266,477 ppm (26.65% of the content) and the fluoride concentration was estimated to be 42,429 ppm (18) compared to the fluoride concentration of Riva Star at 3,922 ppm (3). The different techniques provide different ppm values for fluoride, and further research should be completed to have the available fluoride values determined with the same methodologies, as it was out of the scope of this research. The Safety Data Sheet documents of the products indicated the same fluoride wt% for Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua. The ion movement in the various parts of the teeth was also found to be similar (Figures 2, 5). Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua at contact with the infected dentine indicated the silver wt% in the infected dentine was 9.8 wt% and 5.5 wt%, respectively, indicating that the silver phosphate layer (19) formed by Riva Star also served as a reservoir and allowed deeper penetration of the silver and iodine. This also explains the lower fluoride wt% close to the caries surface of Riva Star-treated teeth, as the first container of Riva Star contains the fluoride where the initial deeper penetration was supported by the second bottle in the system. The line scan progression towards the affected dentine indicated an increase in the wt% and at the last infected dentine reading Riva Star illustrated a 16.4 wt% and Riva Star Aqua showed 19.4 wt%. The first line scan point in the affected dentine showed the following: Riva Star 19.5 wt% and Riva Star Aqua 29.3 wt%. Riva Star Aqua would, therefore, also offer resistance to future cariogenic attacks, since silver has been cited to react and bind to hydroxyapatite (20). As the line scan progressed from the affected dentine to the healthy dentine, Riva Star (5.2 wt%) had a consistently higher silver concentration than Riva Star Aqua (4.1 wt%).

For both silver and iodide, the $34.2-37.05 \mu m$ measurement from the infected dentine presented Riva Star Aqua with a higher wt% at $34.2 \mu m$ with 36.5 wt% iodide and 24.2 wt% silver compared to Riva Star with 24.9 wt% iodide (Figure 3) and 14.9 wt% silver (Figure 4). The crossover of the iodide concentration was at multiple line scan points between Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua.

When Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua came into contact with the infected dentine of the tooth samples, the iodide wt% in the infected dentine was 27.9 wt% and 26.6 wt%, respectively. The line scan progression towards the affected dentine indicated an increase in the wt% and at the last infected dentine reading the Riva Star illustrated a 26 wt% and the Riva Star Aqua registered a much higher reading at 35.1 wt%. The first line scan point in

the affected dentine was Riva Star (22.5 wt%), with Riva Star Aqua having once again a much higher wt% (33 wt%). As the line scan progressed from the affected dentine to the healthy dentine, Riva Star (8.5 wt%) had a consistently lower iodide concentration than Riva Star Aqua (9.1 wt%) (Figure 3).

After 14 days of the infected dentine lesion, the control group presented with 1.4 wt% fluoride and this increased to 2.1 wt% at the perceived end of the infected dentine. From the affected dentine, 3.8 wt% fluoride was present and stabilized at 2.6 wt%. Riva Star (2.4 wt%) and Riva Star Aqua (2.0 wt%) were similar at the start of the line scan of the infected dentine of the tooth structure. Both Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua presented a significantly higher fluoride concentration in the infected dentine lesion compared to the control. This was to be expected as caries would reduce the wt% of the fluoride and other ions usually present in dentine. At the perceived border of the infected dentine and the transition into affected dentine, the wt% in the infected dentine for Riva Star was 5.8 wt% and 3.6 wt% for Riva Star Aqua. The start of the affected dentine showed an increase: 6.8 wt% for Riva Star and 5.5 wt% for Riva Star Aqua. At both interfaces the wt% between the two products were not statistically significant. Both Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua illustrated a fluoride wt% penetration for the entire length of the line scan to the 82.65 µm healthy dentine at 3.7 wt% and 3 wt%, respectively. Therefore, the combination of ion movement well through the infected dentine towards the healthy dentine from Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua provides the building blocks for maintaining remineralisation of the affected dentine collagen (20) (Figure 2).

5. Conclusion

There was no significant difference between SDF (Riva Star) and AgF (Riva Star Aqua) for the movement through the AgF and SDF groups of infected caries nor the wt% in the affected/ healthy dentine. Limitations to this study are the degree of demineralisation of the infected and affected dentine between teeth, this is also why the calcium wt% was not discussed. The SDF and AgF in the in vitro setting had no artificial saliva exposure, so the calcium wt% changes that would take place in such a scenario were not a confounding factor. This cannot be standardised, but the wt% of fluoride in the teeth could be measured in order to determine the ion movement. Additionally, the visibly infected caries towards the affected caries area were determined to be the transition point, as seen by the line scan wt % values. The use of micro-CT evaluation of the carious lesion before and after treatment of the tooth is a valuable methodology to add to future research.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Biomedical and Ethics Committee of the University of the Western Cape. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

RM: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. NP: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. NN: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

The study was funded by UWC SR funding applications and the author incentive fund of Prof R Mulder and Dr N Noordien.

References

1. Ngo HC, Mount G, Mc Intyre J, Tuisuva J, Von Doussa RJ. Chemical exchange between glass-ionomer restorations and residual carious dentine in permanent molars: an in vivo study. J Dent. (2006) 34(8):608–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2005.12.012

2. Gjorgievska E, Nicholson JW, Grcev AT. Ion migration from fluoride-releasing dental restorative materials into dental hard tissues. *J Mater Sci Mater Med.* (2012) 23(7):1811–21. doi: 10.1007/s10856-012-4653-z

3. Luong M, Sadr A, Chan D. Dentin discoloration and pulpal ion concentrations following silver diamine fluoride and potassium iodide treatment. *Oper Dent.* (2022) 47(6):640–7. doi: 10.2341/20-287-l

4. Veselka B, Brickley MB, D'Ortenzio L, Kahlon B, Hoogland MLP, Waters-Rist AL. Micro-CT assessment of dental mineralization defects indicative of vitamin D deficiency in two 17th–19th century Dutch communities. *Am J Phys Anthropol.* (2019) 169(1):122–31. doi: 10.1002/ajpa.23819

5. Shimizu M, Matsui N, Sayed M, Hamba H, Obayashi S, Takahashi M, et al. Micro-CT assessment of the effect of silver diammine fluoride on inhibition of root dentin demineralization. *Dent Mater J.* (2021) 40(4):1041–8. doi: 10.4012/dmj.2020-290

6. Knight GM, McIntyre JM, Craig GG. Ion uptake into demineralized dentine from glass ionomer cement following pretreatment with silver fluoride and potassium iodide. *Aus Dent J.* (2006) 51(3):237–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1834-7819.2006.tb00435.x

7. Ngo H, Mount G, Peters M. A study of glass ionomers cement and its interface with enamel and dentine using a low temperature, high resolution scanning electron microscopic technique. *Quintessence Int.* (1997) 28(1):63–9.

8. Punyanirun K, Yospiboonwong T, Kunapinun T, Thanyasrisung P, Trairatvorakul C. Silver diamine fluoride remineralized artificial incipient caries in permanent teeth after bacterial ph-cycling in-vitro. *J Dent.* (2018) 69:55–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2017.09.005

 Cifuentes-Jiménez CC, Bolaños-Carmona MV, Enrich-Essvein T, González-López S, álvarez-Lloret P. Evaluation of the remineralizing capacity of silver diamine fluoride on demineralized dentin under pH-cycling conditions. J App Oral Sci. (2023) 27(31): e20220306. doi: 10.1590/1678-7757-2022-0306 The majority of the study was funded by SDI Limited with no limitations placed on the researchers to report the findings of the study.

Acknowledgments

Beam analytical for performing the SEM-EDS line scans.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Iijima M, Onuma K. Roles of fluoride on octacalcium phosphate and apatite formation on amorphous calcium phosphate substrate. *Cryst Growth Des.* (2018) 18 (4):2279–88. doi: 10.1021/acs.cgd.7b01717

11. Zhi Q, Lo E, Kwok A. An in vitro study of silver and fluoride ions on remineralization of demineralized enamel and dentine. *Aus Dent J.* (2013) 58 (1):50–6. doi: 10.1111/adj.12033

12. Home—SDI. (2020, August 7). SDI. Available at: https://www.sdi.com.au/au/

13. Mei ML, Lo ECM, Chu CH. Arresting dentine caries with silver diamine fluoride: what's behind it? J Dent Res. (2018) 97(7):751-8. doi: 10.1177/0022034518774783

14. Loebenstein WV. Heats of adsorption of ammonia and carbon dioxide on tooth components. J Dent Res. (1972) 51(6):1529–36. doi: 10.1177/00220345720510060401

15. Rootare HM, Craig RG. Vapor phase adsorption of water on hydroxyapatite. J Dent Res. (1977) 56(12):1437-48. doi: 10.1177/00220345770560120101

16. Turton B, Horn R, Durward C. Caries arrest and lesion appearance using two different water based silver fluoride therapies on primary teeth with and without potassium iodide: 12-month results. *Clin Exp Dent Res.* (2021) 7(4):609–19. doi: 10. 1002/cre2.367

17. He Y, Ketagoda DHK, Bright R, Britza SM, Zechner J, Musgrave I, et al. Synthesis of cationic silver nanoparticles with highly potent properties against oral pathogens and their biofilms. *Chem Nano Mat.* (2023) 9(3):e202200472. doi: 10.1002/cnma.202200472

18. Lee H, An S. Antibacterial effects of silver fluoride and difluorosilane-based varnish on streptococcus mutans. *J Korean Acad Pediatr Dent.* (2022) 49(4):497–504. doi: 10.5933/jkapd.2022.49.4.497

19. Rajendra A, Veitz-Keenan A, Oliveira BH, Ruff RR, Wong MCM, Innes NPT, et al. Topical silver diamine fluoride for managing dental caries in children and adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 2017(7):CD012718. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd012718

20. Mei ML, Ito I, Cao Y, Li QL, Lo EC, Chu CH. Inhibitory effect of silver diamine fluoride on dentine demineralisation and collagen degradation. *J Dent.* (2013) 41 (9):809–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2013.06.009

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Sandrine Bittencourt Berger, North University of Paraná, Brazil David John Manton, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE F. S. L. Wong Is.l.wong@qmul.ac.uk

RECEIVED 02 November 2023 ACCEPTED 24 January 2024 PUBLISHED 01 March 2024

CITATION

Kaur M, Shahid S, Karpukhina N, Anderson P and Wong FSL (2024) Characterization of chemical reactions of silver diammine fluoride and hydroxyapatite under remineralization conditions. Front. Oral. Health 5:1332298.

doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1332298

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Kaur, Shahid, Karpukhina, Anderson and Wong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Characterization of chemical reactions of silver diammine fluoride and hydroxyapatite under remineralization conditions

M. Kaur, S. Shahid, N. Karpukhina, P. Anderson and F. S. L. Wong*

Dental Physical Sciences Unit, Centre for Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom

Introduction: Silver Diammine Fluoride (SDF) is a clinically used topical agent to arrest dental caries. However, the kinetics of its chemical interactions with hydroxyapatite (HA), the principal inorganic component of dental enamel, are not known. The aim was to characterize the step-wise chemical interactions between SDF and HA powder during the clinically important process of remineralization.

Methods: Two grams of HA powder were immersed in 10 ml acetic acid pH = 4.0 for 2 h to mimic carious demineralization. The powder was then washed and dried for 24 h and mixed with 1.5 ml SDF (Riva Star) for 1 min. The treated powder was then air-dried for 3 min, and 0.2 g was removed and stored in individual tubes each containing 10 ml remineralizing solution. Powder was taken from each tube at various times of exposure to remineralization solution (0 min, 10 min, 2 h, 4 h, 8 h, 24 h, and 10 days), and characterized using Magic Angle Spinning-Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (MAS-NMR) spectroscopy.

Results and discussion: ¹⁹F MAS-NMR spectra showed that calcium fluoride (CaF₂) started to form almost immediately after HA was in contact with SDF. After 24 h, the peak shifted to –104.5 ppm suggesting that fluoride substituted hydroxyapatite (FSHA) was formed with time at the expense of CaF₂. The ³¹P MAS-NMR spectra showed a single peak at 2.7 ppm at all time points showing that the only phosphate species present was crystalline apatite. The ³⁵Cl MAS-NMR spectra showed formation of silver chloride (AgCl) at 24 h. It was observed that after the scan, the whitish HA powder changed to black color. In conclusion, this time sequence study showed that under remineralization conditions, SDF initially reacted with HA to form CaF₂ which is then transformed to FSHA over time. In the presence of chloride, AgCl is formed which is subsequently photo-reduced to black metallic silver.

KEYWORDS

remineralization, MAS-NMR, cariostatic, SDF, silver chloride, fluoride-substituted hydroxyapatite

Introduction

Dental caries is a multifactorial process leading to a net mineral loss of dental hard tissues. It is a dynamic process which depends on the interaction of protective and pathologic factors in saliva and plaque biofilm (1). As reported in the global survey (2), 2.3 billion people suffer from dental caries of permanent teeth and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth. In the UK, dental caries is the most common preventable disease and despite the prevention procedures provided by

dentists in UK, the prevalence of experience of dental decay in 5year-old children in England (d3mft) was 23.4%.

In the oral environment, the caries process is an alternating cycle of demineralization, the loss of tooth mineral tissue (principally calcium hydroxyapatite) via reactions with organic acids at lower pHs, and remineralization the redeposition of mineral from local calcium and phosphate ions at higher pHs (3) leading to net loss of mineral from the tooth, resulting in cavitation (1). If demineralization exceeds remineralization, then tissue loss occurs, whereas, if remineralization exceeds demineralization, then tissue replacement occurs, which is the aim of non-surgical clinical intervention such as SDF. Saliva is a unique biologic fluid with a complex composition. Saliva acts as a buffering agent, and plays an important role in the demineralization and remineralization in the oral cavity. Salivary calcium, phosphorous and hydroxyl ions are at a dynamic equilibrium with apatite mineral in enamel (4). During remineralization, the calcium and phosphate ions combine with the fluoride ions to rebuild a new surface layer on the subsurface demineralized lesion (1).

Non-restorative caries control (NRCC) treatment with silver diammine fluoride (SDF) is becoming a popular management strategy (5, 6). In the UK (for example), during the COVID pandemic, SDF was used as an intervention to arrest/ remineralize cavitated carious lesions in primary teeth for precooperative children due to the long general anesthetic waiting list (7). Clinical trials showed that SDF is an effective cariostatic agent, and safe to be used in children (6–14). However, SDF has the disadvantages of staining teeth black, unpleasant taste, gingival burn, and tattooing, which deters dentists to use it routinely due to low parental acceptance (15).

Solid state Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) spectroscopy is used to characterize compounds formed in chemical interactions and has been used in inorganic mineralized tissue dental research to identify various components (16, 17). For example, ¹⁹F Magic angle spinning (MAS)-NMR can identify all existing fluorine compounds in crystalline, amorphous, or adsorbed forms, within enamel mineral (18–20).

It is known that fluoride (F) interacts with the hydroxyapatite (HA) in enamel or dentine to form fluorapatite (FA) which provides cariostatic protection (e.g., 19, 21-23). Further, other studies have investigated the compounds formed when high concentration F products such as SDF (44,800 ppm) F) interact with dental hard tissues (19, 24, 25). However, these previous studies did not investigate the intermediate phases in a time sequential manner, or used the detailed capability and sensitivity of ¹⁹F MAS-NMR. Hence, the aim of this current study was to investigate the chemical interactions between SDF and HA powder, and characterize the products, under standard in vitro remineralizing conditions at a sequence of time points within 24 h (known to be the time period over which the calcium is used up) and finally at 10 days using ¹⁹F, ³¹P and ³⁵Cl MAS-NMR spectroscopies in order to understand the complex chemistry during the remineralization processes.

Materials and methods

To mimic exposure of dental hard tissue mineral to cariogenic acidic conditions, 2 g of HA powder (4.14 µm particle size, P3R SD, Captal HA, Plasma Biotal, UK) were immersed in 10 ml of demineralizing solution (0.1 mol/L acetic acid buffered to pH = 4.0 using potassium hydroxide) in a centrifuge tube and placed in a shaking-incubator at 37°C for 2 h (26, 27). After centrifugation for 3 min, the powder was collected, washed, and dried on filter paper for 24 h in an incubator at 37°C. The demineralized HA powder was then mixed with 1.5 ml of 38% SDF (Riva Star, SDI, Australia, LOT 1213678) solution for 1 min, using cement spatula and made into a paste and then air-dried for 3 min, following the British Society of Paediatric Dentists (BSPD) clinical protocol for SDF application. The SDF treated demineralized HA powder was divided equally into 10 samples of 0.2 g each and stored in darkened centrifuge tubes to prevent light interaction with SDF. In 7 of the tubes, 10 ml of remineralization solution [2.0 mmol/L CaCl₂ 1.2 mmol/L KH_2PO_4 , 150 mmol/L NaCl and buffered to pH = 7.0 using potassium hydroxide; as described by Siddiqui et al. (28)] were added. These tubes were placed in a shaking incubator at 37°C for different time intervals (t = 0 min, 10 min, 2 h, 4 h, 8 h, 24 h, and 10 days). At the end of each time point, the powder was collected from one of the tubes, washed, dried and analyzed using MAS-NMR spectroscopies.

MAS-NMR spectroscopy

¹⁹F, ³¹P and ³⁵Cl MAS-NMR spectra were collected using a 600 MHz, 14.1 T, Avance NEO spectrometer (Bruker, Germany) using the parameters listed in Table 1. The ³⁵Cl MAS-NMR spectra were referenced to 0 ppm of the signal in solid NaCl purchased commercially (29, 30). The spectra were processed and analyzed using the TopSpin software package (Bruker, version 4.0.8).

Results

Figure 1 shows the time series of ¹⁹F MAS-NMR spectra of HA powder treated with SDF and immersed in remineralization solution. The initial (t = 0 min) spectrum shows a dominant sharp peak at -115.8 ppm which is demonstrative of loosely

TABLE 1 Parameters used for MAS-NMR.

Parameters for MAS-NMR	¹⁹ F	³¹ P	³⁵ Cl
Resonance frequency (MHz)	564.8	242.9	58.8
Spinning frequency (KHz)	22	12	12
Signal of reference adjusted chemical shift/ppm	-120	0	0
Number of scans	128	32	512
Size of rotor	2.5mm	4mm	4mm
Reference material	1 mol/l aq NaF	85% aq H ₃ PO	Solid NaCl



broad peak at -108 ppm suggesting the presence of a mixture of CaF2 and FSHA. With passage of time, the peak shifted from -108 ppm to -104.5 ppm indicating that more FSHA were formed at the expense of CaF₂

bound fluoride adsorbed on the surface (31). This sharp signal was also present in the t = 10 min sample, though with the center shifted to -116.9 ppm. Also, the broad minor peak centered at -108.1 ppm shows instantaneous reactionary products. Similarly, at t = 10 min, a very small and broad peak was visible at -107.8 ppm indicating the formation of calcium fluoride (CaF₂) (18). At t = 2 h, the sharp peak around -116 ppm was replaced by a broad peak at -107 ppm confirming formation of CaF₂ (18). At t = 4 h, CaF₂ formation continued as indicated by the broader peak at -108 ppm. At t = 24 h this peak position shifted to -105.2 ppm, indicating the formation of fluoride substituted hydroxyapatite (FSHA) (18), which is a mineral in which some (but not all) of the hydroxyl (-OH) groups in HA are substituted by F. At t = 10 days, the broad peak remained but shifted to -104.4 ppm, confirming the formation of FSHA. In addition to this signal, the spectra at t = 24 h and t = 10 day also showed a peak at -108 ppm.

Figure 2 shows the time series of ³¹P MAS-NMR spectra of the demineralized HA powder treated with SDF, collected after immersion in remineralization solution. From t = 0 to t = 24 h, there was only one single sharp peak around 2.7 ppm, suggesting the crystalline structure of the HA did not change during their exposure to remineralization solution. No other phosphate phases were detected.

Figure 3 shows a ³⁵Cl MAS-NMR spectrum of the demineralized HA powder treated with SDF after immersion in remineralization solution for 24 h. The spectrum showed the reference peak at 0 ppm for NaCl. The sharp peak at 36.5 ppm shows presence of silver chloride (AgCl).

After the NMR scan, when the powder was retrieved, the whitish color changed to black as shown in Figure 4.



FIGURE 2

Time series of ³¹P MAS-NMR spectra of HA powder treated with SDF and immersed in remineralization solution. The duration of immersion is indicated next to each spectrum. The peak position (2.7 ppm) represents the HA pattern which remains the same throughout the time sequence.



FIGURE 3

³⁵Cl MAS-NMR spectrum of the demineralized HA powder treated with SDF and immersed in the remineralization solution for 24 h. The peak at 0 ppm is the reference peak for NaCl. The peak at 36.5 ppm indicates the presence of AqCl.





Powder retrieved after NMR scan and exposed to light. The white powder turned to black indicating metallic silver was formed

Discussion

The ¹⁹F MAS-NMR results (Figure 1) shows CaF₂ was dominantly formed at an early stage (t < 2 h). This could be due to the very high F concentration (44,800 ppm) in SDF. When SDF dissolved in the remineralizing solution, the free F⁻ ions could react rapidly with the Ca²⁺ ions in the solution to form insoluble CaF₂ (20, 32, 33). However, as the signal at -108 ppm was broad and covered a wide range of values with down to -100 ppm, contemporaneous formation (albeit a small amount) of FSHA (between -102 and -107 ppm) at this initial state cannot be excluded. Furthermore, the asymmetrical peaks at -106 to -104 ppm at later time points indicated the overlap of FSHA and CaF2. However, no fully fluoride substituted fluorapatite (FA) peak was observed. Investigating the chemical shift of the current spectra, the maximum substitution was up to 20% (18). From the trend of the chemical shift, FSHA was formed over time at the expense of CaF2. In the oral environment, the SDF may interact saliva with high calcium rapidly to form insoluble CaF2, which acts as a reservoir for FSHA formation, providing protection against acidic attack, though not as effective as fully substituted FA (34-36).

The ³¹P spectra (Figure 2) show the presence of HA in all time points, mainly from the HA powder. It is surprising that no other phosphate products such as silver phosphate (Ag₃PO₄) was detected, as reported in previous literature (26, 37). This is due to the presence of NaCl in the remineralizing solution, causing the formation of AgCl instead (Figure 3). As the content of Ag⁺ was small compared to the NaCl concentration, all the Ag ions were used up before they could combine with the phosphate ions. In previous studies, the demineralizing solutions did not contain NaCl, hence, Ag₃PO₄ was formed (26).

In the present experiment, the powders removed from the tubes were white as they were kept away from light. The black color (Figure 4) after NMR scan was likely due to the photoreduction of AgCl to metallic silver. Clinically, SDF is topically applied using an applicator brush onto carious tooth surfaces which turn black in minutes, mainly on dentine and less so on enamel. As oral environment saliva contains chloride ions, it is likely AgCl particles are formed, which is a whitish insoluble powder. If the AgCl particles are deposited on the smooth enamel surface, they will be washed away. However, if they are deposited and accumulate in rough exposed dentinal tubules, they cannot be washed away quickly. The AgCl is then photoreduced to black metallic silver which causes the discoloration in dentine. As these insoluble Ag particles block the dentine tubules, they may act as pulpal barrier, thus reducing dental pain and have anti-bacterial effect to reduce caries progression (38-40).

Conclusions

This study characterized the products formed as a reaction between HA and SDF under remineralizing conditions. It was found that initially CaF_2 was formed, which subsequently changed to FSHA over a 24 h period. AgCl was formed rapidly which could be photo-reduced to metallic silver.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

MK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft. SS: Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization. NK: Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. PA: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. FW: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors, but was financially supported by the Institute of Dentistry.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Dr Harold Toms and Dr Nasima Kanwal, both the facility managers of cross faculty NMR Centre at Queen Mary University of London, London for their contribution to this project.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Featherstone JDB. Dental caries: a dynamic disease process. *Aust Dent J.* (2008) 53 (3):286–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1834-7819.2008.00064.x

2. Kassebaum NJ, Smith AGC, Bernabé E, Fleming TD, Reynolds AE, Vos T, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence, incidence, and disability-adjusted life years for oral conditions for 195 countries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the global burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. *J Dent Res.* (2017) 96(4):380–7. doi: 10. 1177/0022034517693566

3. Anderson P, Hector MP, Rampersad M. Critical pH in resting and stimulated whole saliva in groups of children and adults. *Int J Paediatr Dent.* (2001) 11 (4):266–73. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-263X.2001.00293.x

4. Dodds M, Roland S, Edgar M, Thornhill M. Saliva A review of its role in maintaining oral health and preventing dental disease. *BDJ Team.* (2015) 2:15123. doi: 10.1038/bdjteam.2015.123

5. Bani Hani A, Santamaría RM, Hu S, Maden M, Albadri S. Minimal intervention dentistry for managing carious lesions into dentine in primary teeth: an umbrella review. *Eur Arch Paediatr Dent.* (2021) 23(5):667–93. doi: 10.1007/s40368-021-00675-6

6. Urquhart O, Tampi MP, Pilcher L, Slayton RL, Araujo MWB, Fontana M, et al. Nonrestorative treatments for caries: systematic review and network meta-analysis. *J Dent Res.* (2018) 98(1):14–26. doi: 10.1177/0022034518800014

7. Recommendations for Paediatric Dentistry during the recovery phase of the COVID-19 pandemic (2020).

8. Chu CH, Lo ECM, Lin H. Effectiveness of silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride varnish in arresting dentin caries in Chinese pre-school children. J Dent Res. (2002) 81(11):767-70. doi: 10.1177/0810767

9. Chu CH, Lo ECM. Promoting caries arrest in children with silver diamine fluoride: a review. Oral Health Prev Dent. (2008) 6(4):315-21. doi: 10.3290/j.ohpd. a14177

10. Fung MHT, Duangthip D, Wong MCM, Lo ECM, Chu CH. Randomized clinical trial of 12% and 38% silver diamine fluoride treatment. *J Dent Res.* (2018) 97(2):171–8. doi: 10.1177/0022034517728496

11. Seifo N, Robertson M, MacLean J, Blain K, Grosse S, Milne R, et al. The use of silver diamine fluoride (SDF) in dental practice. *Br Dent J.* (2020) 228(2):75–81. doi: 10.1038/s41415-020-1203-9

12. Yassin R, Amer H, Tantawi ME. Effectiveness of silver diamine fluoride versus sodium fluoride varnish combined with mother's motivational interviewing for arresting early childhood caries: a randomized clinical trial. *BMC Oral Health.* (2023) 23(1):710. doi: 10.1186/s12903-023-03456-3

13. Zheng FM, Yan IG, Duangthip D, Lo ECM, Gao SS, Chu CH. Caries prevention using silver diamine fluoride: a 12-month clinical trial. *Int Dent J.* (2023) 73 (5):667–73. doi: 10.1016/j.identj.2022.12.005

14. Gao SS, Chen KJ, Duangthip D, Wong MCM, Lo ECM, Chu CH. Arresting early childhood caries using silver and fluoride products—a randomised trial. *J Dent.* (2020) 103:103522. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2020.103522

15. Crystal YO, Niederman R. Evidence-based dentistry update on silver diamine fluoride. Dent Clin North Am. (2019) 63(1):45-68. doi: 10.1016/j.cden.2018.08.011

16. White DJ, Bowman WD, Faller RV, Mobley MJ, Wolfgang RA, Yesinowski JP. ¹⁹F MAS-NMR and solution chemical characterization of the reactions of fluoride with hydroxyapatite and powdered enamel. *Acta Odontol Scand.* (1988) 46 (6):375–89. doi: 10.3109/00016358809004791

17. Yesinowski JP, Mobley MJ. Fluorine-19 MAS-NMR of fluoridated hydroxyapatite surfaces. J Am Chem Soc. (1983) 105:6191–3. doi: 10.1021/ja00357a060

18. Gao Y, Karpukhina N, Law RV. Phase segregation in hydroxyfluorapatite solid solution at high temperatures studied by combined XRD/solid state NMR. *RSC Adv.* (2016) 6(105):103782–90. doi: 10.1039/c6ra17161c

19. Hiraishi N, Sayed M, Hill R, Shimada Y. Solid-state NMR spectroscopy measurement of fluoride reaction by bovine enamel and dentin treated with silver diammine fluoride. *Dent Mater.* (2022) 38(5):769–77. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2022.04.017

20. Mohammed NR, Kent NW, Lynch RJ, Karpukhina N, Hill R, Anderson P. Effects of fluoride on in vitro enamel demineralization analyzed by ¹⁹F MAS-NMR. *Caries Res.* (2013) 47(5):421–8. doi: 10.1159/000350171

21. Buzalaf MAR, Pessan JP, Honório HM, Ten Cate JM. Mechanisms of action of fluoride for caries control. *Monogr Oral Sci.* (2011) 22:97–114. doi: 10.1159/000325151

22. Rosin-Grget K, Lincir I. Current concept on the anticaries fluoride mechanism of the action. *Coll Antropol.* (2001) 25(2):703–12. Available online at: https://api. semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:36579961

23. White DJ, Nancollas GH. Physical and chemical considerations of the role of firmly and loosely bound fluoride in caries prevention. *J Dent Res.* (1990) 69 (2_suppl):587-94. doi: 10.1177/00220345900690s116

24. Mei ML, Nudelman F, Marzec B, Walker JM, Lo ECM, Walls AW, et al. Formation of fluorohydroxyapatite with silver diamine fluoride. *J Dent Res.* (2017) 96(10):1122–8. doi: 10.1177/0022034517709738

25. Yu OY, Mei ML, Zhao IS, Li QL, Lo EC, Chu CH. Remineralisation of enamel with silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride. *Dent Mater.* (2018) 34(12):e344–52. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2018.10.007

26. Huang WT, Anderson P, Duminis T, Shahid S. Effect of topically applied silver compounds on the demineralisation of hydroxyapatite. *Dent Mater.* (2022) 38 (4):709–14. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2022.02.013

27. Ferizoli B, Cresswell-Boyes AJ, Anderson P, Lynch RJ, Hill RG. Effects of fluoride on in vitro hydroxyapatite demineralisation analysed by 19F MAS-NMR. *Front Dental Med.* (2023) 24(4):1171827. doi: 10.3389/fdmed.2023.1171827

28. Siddiqui S, Anderson P, Al-Jawad M. Recovery of crystallographic texture in remineralized dental enamel. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9(10):e108879. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0108879

29. Bryce DL, Sward GD. Solid-state NMR spectroscopy of the quadrupolar halogens: chlorine-35/37, bromine-79/81, and iodine-127. *Magn Reson Chem.* (2006) 44(4):409-50. doi: 10.1002/mrc.1741

30. Holmes ST, Vojvodin CS, Veinberg N, Iacobelli EM, Hirsh DA, Schurko RW. Hydrates of active pharmaceutical ingredients: a 35Cl and 2H solid-state NMR and DFT study. *Solid State Nucl Magn Reson.* (2022) 122:101837. doi: 10.1016/j.ssnmr. 2022.101837

31. Duke CV, Miller JM, Clark JH, Kybett AP. 19F mas NMR and FTIR analysis of the adsorption of alkali metal fluorides onto alumina. *J Mol Catal.* (1990) 62 (2):233–42. doi: 10.1016/0304-5102(90)85216-5

32. Cate JMT. Review on fluoride, with special emphasis on calcium fluoride mechanisms in caries prevention. *Eur J Oral Sci.* (1997) 105(5):461–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0722.1997.tb00231.x

33. Øgaard B. The cariostatic mechanism of fluoride. *Compend Contin Educ Dent.* (1999) 20(1 Suppl):10–7. quiz 34.

34. García-Godoy F, Hicks MJ. Maintaining the integrity of the enamel surface. J Am Dent Assoc. (2008) 139:25S-34S. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive. 2008.0352

35. Hicks J, García-Godoy F, Flaitz CM. Biological factors in dental caries enamel structure and the caries process in the dynamic process of demineralization and remineralization (part 2). *J Clin Pediatr Dent.* (2005) 28(2):119–24. doi: 10.17796/ jcpd.28.2.617404w302446411

36. Robinson C. Fluoride and the caries lesion: interactions and mechanism of action. *Eur Arch Paediatr Dent.* (2009) 10(3):136–40. doi: 10.1007/bf03262674

37. Yamaga R, Nishino M, Yoshida S, Yokomizo I. Diammine silver fluoride and its clinical application. *J Osaka Univ Dent Sch.* (1972) 12:1–20. PMID: 4514730.

38. Arends J, Ruben JL, Christoffersen J, Jongebloed WL, Zuidgeest TG. Remineralization of human dentine in vitro. *Caries Res.* (1990) 24(6):432–5. doi: 10. 1159/000261304

39. Seto J, Horst JA, Parkinson DY, Frachella JC, DeRisi JL. Enhanced tooth structure via silver microwires following treatment with 38 percent silver diamine fluoride. *Pediatr Dent.* (2020) 42(3):226–31. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/32522328

40. Srisomboon S, Kettratad M, Stray A, Pakawanit P, Rojviriya C, Patntirapong S, et al. Effects of silver diamine nitrate and silver diamine fluoride on dentin remineralization and cytotoxicity to dental pulp cells: an in vitro study. *J Funct Biomater.* (2022) 13(1):16. doi: 10.3390/jfb13010016

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Kenneth Eaton, University of Kent, United Kingdom Hugh Devlin, Victoria University of Manchester, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Nicoline Potgieter Image: nicoline.potgieter@gmail.com

RECEIVED 21 September 2023 ACCEPTED 22 January 2024 PUBLISHED 01 March 2024

CITATION

Potgieter N, Bridge G, Elfrink M, Folayan MO, Gao SS, Groisman S, Jawdekar A, Kemoli AM, Lim D, Ly P, Mani SA, Masumo R, Monteiro J, Muasya MK, Qureshi A and Tinanoff N (2024) A pilot study on the global practice of informed consent in paediatric dentistry. Front. Oral. Health 5:1298277. doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1298277

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Potgieter, Bridge, Elfrink, Folayan, Gao, Groisman, Jawdekar, Kemoli, Lim, Ly, Mani, Masumo, Monteiro, Muasya, Qureshi and Tinanoff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A pilot study on the global practice of informed consent in paediatric dentistry

Nicoline Potgieter^{1*} ^(b), Gemma Bridge² ^(b), Marlies Elfrink^{3,4} ^(b), Morenike Oluwatoyin Folayan^{5,6,7,8} ^(b), Sherry S. Gao⁹ ^(b), Sonia Groisman¹⁰ ^(b), Ashwin Jawdekar¹¹ ^(b), Arthur M. Kemoli¹² ^(b), David Lim^{13,14,15} ^(b), Phuong Ly¹⁶ ^(b), Shani A. Mani¹⁷ ^(b), Ray Masumo¹⁸ ^(b), Joana Monteiro¹⁹ ^(b), Marjorie K. Muasya¹² ^(b), Ambrina Qureshi²⁰ ^(b) and Norman Tinanoff²¹ ^(b)

¹Department of Orthodontics & Paediatric Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa, ²School of Earth and Environment, The University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom, ³Mondzorgcentrum Nijverdal, Nijverdal, Netherlands, ⁴Paediatric Research Project (PREP), Barneveld, Netherlands, ⁵Department of Child Dental Health, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Nigeria, ⁶Nigerian Institute of Medical Research (NIMR), Lagos, Nigeria, ⁷Community Oral Health Department, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁸Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain, ⁹Department of Stomatology, School of Medicine, Xiamen University, Xiamen, China, ¹⁰Institute of Biological Sciences, DNA Diagnostic Laboratory, University Stadual of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ¹¹Department of Paediatric and Preventive Dentistry, Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed to be University Dental College and Hospital, Navi Mumbai, India, ¹²Department of Paediatric Dentistry and Orthodontics, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya, ¹³Tzu Chi Free Clinic, Buddhist Compassion Relief Tzu Chi Foundation Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ¹⁴Geriatric and Special Care Dental Clinic, National Dental Centre, Singapore, Singapore, ¹⁵Special Oral Care Network, Singapore, Singapore, ¹⁶Department of Development Studies. The Graduate Institute Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ¹⁷Department of Paediatric Dentistry & Orthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Universiti Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ¹⁸Department of Community Health and Nutrition, Tanzania Food and Nutrition Centre, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, ¹⁹Department of Paediatric Dentistry, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals, Sheffield, United Kingdom, ²⁰Community Dentistry, Dow University of Health Sciences, Karachi, Pakistan, ²¹Department of Orthodontics and Pediatric Dentistry, School of Dentistry, University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD, United States

Background: Conducting oral treatment early in the disease course, is encouraged for better health outcomes. Obtaining informed consent is an essential part of medical practice, protecting the legal rights of patients and guiding the ethical practice of medicine. In practice, consent means different things in different contexts. Silver Diamine Fluoride (SDF) and Silver Fluoride (SF) is becoming popular and cost effective methods to manage carious lesions, however, cause black discolouration of lesions treated. Obtaining informed consent and assent is crucial for any dental treatment—and has specific relevance with SDF/ SF treatments.

Methods: The aim of this paper is to describe informed consent regulations for dental care in a selection of countries, focusing on children and patients with special health care needs. An online survey was shared with a convenience sample of dental professionals from 13 countries. The information was explored and the processes of consent were compared.

Results: Findings suggest that there are variations in terms of informed consent for medical practice. In Tanzania, South Africa, India, Kenya, Malaysia and Brazil age is the determining factor for competence and the ability to give self-consent. In other countries, other factors are considered alongside age. For example, in Singapore, the United Kingdom, and the United States the principle of Gillick Competence is applied. Many countries' laws and regulations do not specify when a dentist may overrule general consent to act in the "best interest" of the patient.

Conclusion: It is recommended that it is clarified globally when a dentist may act in the "best interest" of the patient, and that guidance is produced to indicate what constitutes a dental emergency. The insights gathered provide insights on international practice of obtaining informed consent and to identify areas for change, to more efficient and ethical treatment for children and patients with special needs. A larger follow up study is recommended to include more or all countries.

KEYWORDS

informed consent, child consent, self-consent, ethical practice, medical consent, paediatric dentistry

1 Introduction

Oral diseases pose a major health burden, affecting over 3.5 billion people globally (1). According to the Global Burden of Disease survey 2017, untreated dental caries in permanent teeth is the most common health condition, whilst over 530 million children suffer from dental caries of primary teeth annually (2). If left untreated, dental caries can lead to pain, tooth loss and infection, affecting quality of life and productivity. As such, conducting treatment early in the disease course is encouraged.

In addition to dental caries, children also suffer from traumatic dental injuries, which are very common in the first ten years of life. These injuries are more common particularly in school-going children who may be involved in sports activities. These injuries may include not only laceration of chin and lips but also fractures of facial bones and teeth that require children to be taken to a dentist for further management and treatment (3).

Obtaining informed consent before treatment, delivered to a patient is an essential part of contemporary medical practice, protecting the legal rights of patients and guiding the ethical practice of medicine (4). Informed consent is when a person gives permission before they receive treatment or an examination after receiving all pertinent information about the procedure. In practice however, consent means different things in different contexts, largely determined by whether consent is being obtained for legal, ethical or administrative purposes.

Globally, persons who can provide consent varies. Typically, whether or not a patient can provide consent themselves is determined by each patient's comprehension of the treatment proposed (5). Younger children, Patients with Special Health Care Needs (PSHCN) or those who are incapacitated, and are unable to fully understand the treatment process or purpose, require consent for care provided by legal parents, guardians or an acting caregiver. In such situations, assent for treatment by children or PSHCN is promoted. Assent pertains to actively involving the patient in making and taking decisions about their own body and health (6).

The aim of this article is to describe informed consent regulations for dental care in a selection of countries, focussing on children and PSHCN. This paper's view of consent aims to provide insights on international practice of obtaining informed consent for paediatric dentistry and to identify areas for change, to more efficient and ethical treatment of children and PSHCN populations.

2 Methods

The cross-sectional study was conducted, in 2021/22, by means of a self-administered questionnaire, by representatives from different countries. The selection of countries was based on personal contacts and past research collaborations. The questionnaire asked each representative to provide information on the policies, guidelines and practice of informed consent and assent in the respective countries/areas. A convenience sample of 13 countries/ jurisdictions across the globe were used. The data collected through the questionnaire. The principle researchers collated the data from the questionnaires and and cross-checked the data with the laws and regulations referenced. Once all data were combined, tabled and organized, all authors contributed to the discussion to bring context of the different countries' laws and regulations.

3 Results

3.1 Different measures of competency enable self-consent

Globally, parent or legal guardian are required to give informed consent to "minors" for medical/dental treatment. Age is the main determinant of being a minor in most countries. Table 1 summarizes the legal ages for obtaining consent for dental treatment for children and exceptions to the "age-rule". Of the countries included in this evaluation, Tanzania, South Africa, India, Kenya, Malaysia and Brazil fully rely on age as determining factor for competence and the ability to give selfconsent: In contrast, Pakistan and Singapore do not have a standard age for self-consent to medical/dental treatment and instead, only require verbal consent from parents/guardians or family members for treatment (23, 26).

In other countries, there are varying exceptions and multiple factors that are taken into consideration to apply the "age-rule" for consent. In Singapore, the United Kingdom, and the United States the principle of Gillick Competence is applied. Gillick Competence is used to identify children aged under 16 who have the legal competence to consent to medical treatment. Competency is conferred if the child can demonstrate sufficient maturity and intelligence to fully understand the proposed treatment and its implications, including an understanding of the risks and any possible alternative course of action (38).

	Age of giving self- consent	Exceptions to enable giving self- consent as a minor	Act/law/policy stipulating specific age for self-consent	Summary of consent allowed during an emergency situation	Assent legally required?
Brazil (7–9)	>18 years	None	No 2-SEI/2017-CGSAJ/DAPES/SAS/MS, together with Children and Teenager Statute, and The Brazilian Dental Ethical Conduct (Resolution CFO—118/2012) in the article 11°	 Medical professionals are forbidden from performing any medical procedure without previous explanation and consent of the patient or his/her legal representative, except in cases of imminent threat to life 	No
China (10)	≥18 years	<8 years has no civil capacity and 8–17 years restricted civil capacity	Civil Code of People's Republic of China Chapter 2 and Chapter 6	 Dentists may provide treatment with the approval by the person-in- charge of the hospital 	No
India (11–15)	>18 years	12-18 years can consent for examination but not procedures	Majority Act, Guardian and Wards Act, and Indian Contract Act	 "Loco parentis" person in charge: example: Principle of the school. No consent needed in medical emergency/ life endangerment 	No
Kenya (16, 17)	>18 years	None	Kenyan Children Act No 8 of 2001	 Reasonable steps to obtain consent Clinician Court of law Next of kin Not necessary in emergency that could result in death or irreversible damage 	No
Malaysia (18, 19)	>18 years	None	The Laws of Malaysia Act 21: Age of Majority Act 1971 and Malaysian Medical Council guideline: Consent for treatment of patients by registered medical practitioners	 Court of law "Protector" when child is in protective custody When parent or legal guardian is unavailable, Primary and secondary physician co-sign during life endangerment Dental practitioner may act for the best interest of the patient, in consultation with parents or legal guardian 	No
Maryland state USA (20)	>18 years	Gillick Competency ^a	People's Law Library of Maryland	- Minor has the same capacity as an adult	No
Netherlands (21)	>16	Gillick Competency ^a	Wet Geneeskundige BehandelOvereenkomst	- Dentists may act to create a non- acute situation.	Verbally Assent
Nigeria (22, 39)	≥18 years	Married woman and head of households can give consent regardless of their age.	Section 29 (4) of the 1999 Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria	 Dentist to avoid death or serious harm Police Nigerian Supreme Court 	Yes
Pakistan (23– 25)	None set for routine dental procedures. Self- consent is required only major surgical procedures ≥ 18 years	Gillick competence ^a	Majority Act, 1975	 Physician Consultation with family members 	No
Singapore (26-29)	>21 years	Gillick competence ^a	No statute law, however "…presumption in law and medical practice is that all adults have capacity to consent or refuse treatment, unless proven otherwise…"	 Doctor/dentist acting in "best interest" Some healthcare institutions may necessitate a "double clinician consent", where a registrar-level and a consultant-level doctor/ dentist will discuss and concur on a shared best-interest decision. This is not required legally, but an organisational policy. 	No

TABLE 1 Summary of the legal requirements for consent and the age of self-consent for dental treatment.

(Continued)

	Age of giving self- consent	Exceptions to enable giving self- consent as a minor	Act/law/policy stipulating specific age for self-consent	Summary of consent allowed during an emergency situation	Assent legally required?
South Africa (6)	≥12 years	With sufficient maturity Need accompanied parental consent for surgical procedures <16 years	Children's Act No 38 of 2005	 Court appointed Social worker Clinical manager/Superintendent of hospital 	Yes
Tanzania (30)	>18 years	None	The Law of the Child Act, No.21 of 2009	 Government authorities Doctor/Dentist Police 	Yes
United Kingdom (31, 32)	≥16 years	Gillick Competency ^a	The Children Act 1995 The Children Act 1995 (England, Wales, Scotland) The Children Order 1995 (Northern Ireland)	 Any adult with parental responsibility. Practitioner in the "best interest of a child" 	No
Vietnam (33–37)	>18 years	15–18 years may perform civil transactions (this may be argued as dental treatment)	None	 Legal representative or representative appointed by court Head of medical facility Dentist/medical practitioner 	No

TABLE 1 Continued

^aGillick Competency: is used to identify children aged under 16 who have the legal competence to consent to medical treatment. Competency is conferred if the child can demonstrate sufficient maturity and intelligence to fully understand the proposed treatment and its implications, including an understanding of the risks and any possible alternative course of action (38).

The Netherlands also have an age range (12–16 years) wherein both the parent and the child should give consent with two exceptions: (1) if not treating the child will give a serious disadvantage; (2) If the treatment is the well-considered wish of the child. In Nigeria, the social status of the child's family can influence the decision to give self-consent (21). If a child, regardless of their age, is married, they are considered as an emancipated minor, which means that they can give consent. Likewise, if a child becomes the head of a household, for example as a result of both parents dying, then again, they are considered capable of providing consent for medical treatment.

In Vietnam, for those who are from 15 to 18 years old, the civil act capacity determines the ability of the individual to provide consent. The civil act capacity of an individual is his or her capability to establish and perform civil rights and obligations. Per article 21 of the Civil Code, those who are above six years of age also have civil act capacity. However, in a similar vein to the Gillick Competency test, if the patient is incapable of "recognizing or controlling his/her acts due to mental disease or other ailments", the court may revoke or restrict their civil act capacity (article 22 and 23). In such a case, a legal representative will give consent to medical/dental treatments on their behalf (35).

Like Vietnam, India applies age as a determinant of competence, however comprehension of treatment is also considered, whereby an incompetent patient is one "who is a minor" or a person of unsound mind or a patient who is unable to weigh, understand or retain the relevant information about his or her medical treatment; unable to make an informed decision because of impairment of or a disturbance in the functioning of the mind or brain: or a person who is unable to communicate the informed decision regarding medical treatment through speech, sign or language or any other mode (40).

3.2 Parents/legal guardian refusing consent

When patients are not deemed capable of providing consent themselves, it is requested that a parent or legal guardian consent on their behalf. However, in some situations, one or two of the parents or guardians may refuse to provide consent for treatment. In this situation, there are different procedures in place depending on the context.

In India, "when the parents/guardian refuses their child to undergo the diagnostic procedure/treatment after a complete and comprehensive information has been provided, the parents should be informed in a discreet professional manner of consequences of refusal, failing that the physician can be held liable in the court of law. The conflict of "best interest standards" for treatment of the child vs. "rational parent standard" for the attitude of parents is matter of never ending debate" (11). In Malaysia, when one parent consents and the other refuses, counselling of the parents to reach an agreement on what is in the child's best interest is conducted. A decision can be made on a case-by-case basis in the best interest of the patient by the medical practitioners when the patient is in a situation of helplessness and the decision is the most appropriate and fair to that child under the circumstances. If the child is under the temporary custody, the protector or police officer may authorise treatment without obtaining consent from the parent/guardian in certain circumstances.

In Tanzania, Section 4 (2) of the Law of the Child Act insists that the best interest of a child should be the primary consideration in all actions pertaining to the child. Also Section 9 (1) of the same Act provides for the right to life, dignity, respect, leisure, liberty and health for children and parents, guardians and relatives are responsible to ensure the enjoyment of those rights. Again Section 13 (1) of the same Act prohibits degrading treatments to children, and institutions like local government authorities and police are vested with legal duties under the said Act to ensure children's safety (30). Similarly, in *Singapore*, the healthcare provider is expected to uphold the "best interest" of the patient or child, in line with the Mental Capacity Act, regardless of who holds the ultimate authority in healthcare decision making (29). Should a decision, or non-decision (willful neglect or acts of omission), lead to potential harm of the child, this would constitute a child protection concern and other actors are brought in to resolve the conflict. Initially this is sought from a single or multiple agencies, such as a school. If resolution is not sought, then the Child Protection Service (CPS) is brought in (40).

In the United Kingdom, as in Singapore, another actor is brought in if the young person themselves, or the individual with parental responsibility refuses to give consent to medical treatment for the young person or child. In most countries participating in this study, the Court of Protection is brought in and can overrule the decision if it is deemed to be in the best interest of the young person or child, such as, if refusing the treatment may result in the death or permanent injury.

3.3 Country specific ethical dilemmas

There are several country-specific issues related to consent that add to the complexities of securing informed consent for dental treatments.

In India, most dentists are unaware of all the necessary aspects of the consent process (41, 42). This could be explained by the lack of guidance in how to obtain consent, in the Dental Council of India's Code of Ethics (43). In a similar vein, according to a recent study in Pakistan, it was found that 93% of parents are not aware that they need to obtain a copy of a signed informed consent document for their record (23). This reflects the lack of knowledge within the country related to informed consent and rights.

In Nigeria, an ethical dilemma dentist's face is the request to extract the maxillary central primary incisors when they erupt ahead of the lower central incisors. This is because of the widespread belief that a child who erupts the maxillary central primary incisors ahead of the lower has supernatural abilities that makes the child able to pronounce curses. Parents therefore, request dentists to remove these teeth otherwise they hide the child out of sight from guests until the lower teeth fully erupts or get "quacks" to do the extraction. The presence of natal/neonatal teeth gives similar concerns to the parents. Also, a diastema is regarded as a sign of beauty and patients sometimes visit the dentist to create an artificial diastemas (44). Dentists are faced with ethical challenges when the size of the requested diastema is large with increased risk for exposure of dentine and its attendant complications.

In Singapore, healthcare decision making can be affected by the source of financing. Singapore's healthcare utilises a mixed financing system (45). Particularly for dental services, where limited subsidies are available, procedures that are arguably elective, such as orofacial reconstruction or orthodontic cases,

may be costly. For example, a child may wish to retain a primary molar by pulpotomy and stainless steel crown, while the parents may deem this too expensive and opt instead for an extraction. As such, treatment decision can become intertwined with willingness-to-pay (46). Patients also face this dilemma in Nigeria.

In Vietnam, an ethical dilemmas often arises when family members of the child disagree on an emergency treatment. Due to the Law on Medical Examination and Treatment, physicians are legally prevented from delivering care, unless the patients' family comes to a consensus (47). However, there is a new draft of the Law on Medical Examination and Treatment, submitted to the National Assembly in March 2021, which proposed that a doctor or dentist provide treatment to a child, even if the parents object to giving consent for treatment on behalf of the child (48).

If the Gillick Competency test is met, then the child is deemed capable of providing consent to treatment (38). In countries applying Gillick competency, ethical dilemmas arise when children who are considered Gillick competent choose different treatment options than the parents. If a Gillick competent child gives consent this may not be overruled by the parents if the practitioner feels the treatment is appropriate.

Beyond the country specific issues related to obtaining informed consent highlighted above, there are also cultural or religious practices that, due to their risk of harm to patients, they raise ethical concerns and have specific consent related considerations. In Pakistan, the religious beliefs can be problematic as some believe a negative medical outcome is God's Will, and as a result they would prefer to accept their child's fate and pray, rather than to provide consent for treatment (49). In Tanzania, due to religious or cultural beliefs, some parents enucleate the tooth buds of as a way of reduction the risk for infections and illnesses (in Swahili- Dawa ya Jino Kung'oa), contrary to the recommendation of dentists or dental professional boards. Consent is often not sought from the parent nor assent from the child (in case of lower incisor extraction). Similar practices are also seen in several other East African countries such as Kenya (50). In South Africa, dentists are sometimes faced with the ethical dilemma of children, over the legal age of consent (12 years), requesting their four maxillary incisors to be extracted with the parents' approval, as it is believed that it will make the individual more "attractive and romantic" and will therefore ensure a better life partner (51).

4 Discussion

Dentists, as professional health care providers, are required to provide care based on sound ethical principles. Ethics is defined as "the moral principles or virtues that govern the character and conduct of an individual or a group" (52). Ethics therefore refers to our actions and how we relate to one another as human beings. It includes our intentions and the consequences, even when one's actions don't always result in the intended outcome. In more simple terms we can translate ethics as: do unto others as you would have them do unto you. However, acting ethical is most often more complex than definitions or principles and the challenges faced in clinical situations. Although ethical principles and guidelines are available to guide dental practitioners—these principles are subject to different individual interpretations. Nonetheless, ethics forms the core of all decision making, patient relationships, hence being an ethical professional and is a lifelong process through consistent ethical behaviour.

The ethical principle "Autonomy" refers to "Patients have the right to determine what should be done to their bodies" (52) and the parents or legal guardians have the right to decide what happens to their children's bodies. In simple terms autonomy can be described as informed consent: "permission granted in full knowledge of the possible consequences, typically that which is given by a patient to a doctor for treatment with knowledge of the possible risks and benefits" (53). The process must be explained to the patient requiring any treatment/clinical intervention, and involving that patient in decision making; and even if that involvement is limited, it is critical in meeting the legal, ethical and administrative requirements of informed consent. However, enabling true informed consent can be challenging and requires flexibility, especially where young children and PSCHNs are concerned.

Although all countries included in this study have governing, rules and regulations regarding consent and the age of consent, the final decision making falls to the dentist. "Regardless of the parent's request, the dentists' primary ethical, moral and legal duty is to the child" (54). Even the Gillick Competent principle assumes that "the child has the maturity and ability to understand what the treatment involve as determined by medical practitioner, i.e., they have been assessed to have adequate capacity (i.e., intelligence, competence and understanding) to be able to make an informed decision about their treatment". Although subjective, the dental practitioner responsible to determine if the child is Gillick competent or not.

Many dental practitioners would like to apply the "best interest" principle in routine practice, thereby taking control of the decision making regarding treatment of minors. However, the responses from most countries confirmed that dentists may only act in the best interest of the patient and treat the patient without formal consent if it is a life threatening situation and/or there is no legal person available to give consent. However, in Nigeria children are primarily considered the property of the State and parents are custodians of children on behalf of the State (55). This rightsoriented model for child care limits absolute parental control over the child and gives the State the right to interfere in the care of the child (44). The Health Professions Council of South African guidelines states that the "best interest" principle does not apply to patients who are competent, have sufficient maturity and mental capacity (53). With the exception of Pakistan, dental practitioners globally are dependent on consent for dental treatment obtained by a legal parent/guardian or the child of age for routine dental care. Informed consent therefore requires a dynamic interaction between the dentist, patient and parent/legal guardian. Dentist must provide sufficient information and education to enable parents and children who can self-consent to make the right decisions.

Although some countries' laws mention the dentists' authority to act in emergency situations, what constitutes an emergency in the dental setting is not specified or defined. Most laws only refer to "emergency" or "life threatening" situations, which leaves room for individual interpretation regarding dental conditions. Examples of dental emergencies are trauma, abscess formation (without facial swelling) or a lost filling among other. However, it is debatable if these dental conditions can be considered as "emergencies" for which dentist may overrule consent/assent or even act in the best interest of the child regardless of consent.

A limitation of this study is that it only includes 13 countries and a larger follow up study involving more or all countries should be done. The results of this pilot study can therefore not be safely generalized.

5 Conclusion

The policies and guidelines enabling children to self-consent for dental treatment varies globally. Some countries make use of a combination of age and Gillick Competency, whereas others strictly adhere to age as determining factor for competency. Obtaining assent from a child-patient is compulsory in some countries, but not specified in laws or regulations in all countries. Many countries' laws and regulations do not specify when a dentist may act in the "best interest" of the child- overruling general consent rules. Taking into consideration the aesthetic implications of SDF/ SF treatments, obtaining informed consent plays a crucial role in successful management of caries with these products.

It is recommended at three areas are clarified to help dentists in providing appropriate dental care; first, when a dentist may act in the "best interest" of the child. Second, guidance what constitutes a dental emergency and third, clarity within the law with regard to overruling consent. A larger follow up study is recommended to include more or all countries around the world.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

NP: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – original draft. GB: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ME: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MF: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SG: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SG: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SG: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. AJ: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AK: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. DL: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PL: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SM: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. RM: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. JM: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MM: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AQ: Data curation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. NT: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

1. United Nations General Assembly. Political Declaration of the High-level Meeting of the General Assembly on the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases. Resolution A/66/L1. (2011).

2. GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1789–8583. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7

3. Malmgren B, Andreasen JO, Flores MT, Robertson A, DiAngelis AJ, Andersson L, et al. International association of dental traumatology guidelines for the management of traumatic dental injuries: 3. Injuries in the primary dentition. *Dent Traumatol.* (2012) 28(3):174–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-9657.2012.01146.x

4. Hall DE, Prochazka AV, Fink AS. Informed consent for clinical treatment. Can Med Assoc J. (2012) 184(5):533-40. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.112120

5. Francis CM. Autonomy and Informed Consent, Medical Ethics. 2nd ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers (2004). p. 54-65.

6. Children's Act No 38 of 2005. South Africa. Available online at: https://www.justice.gov.za/legislation/acts/2005-038%20childrensact.pdf (cited May 5, 2022).

7. The Ministery of Health has a technical note No 2-SEI/2017-CGSAJ/DAPES/SAS/ MS. Brazil. Available online at: https://www.ribeiraopreto.sp.gov.br/files/ssaude/pdf/ nt_bucal_atend_desacompanhado_pais.pdf (cited May 05, 2022).

8. Statute of the Child and Adolescent [Brazil], Law no 8.069. (1990). Available online at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/4c481bcf2.html (cited June 19, 2022).

9. Benedicto E, Rodrigues B, Fernandes M, Silva F, Paranhos L. Principais alterações de novo código de ética odontológica brasileiro de 2012. *Salusvita Bauru.* (2013) 32 (2):149–61.

10. Civil Code [Luật dân sự]. (2015). Available online at: https://thuvienphapluat. vn/van-ban/Quyen-dan-su/Bo-luat-Dan-su-2005-33-2005-QH11-2463.aspx (cited January 19, 2022).

11. Kaushik JS, Narang M, Agarwal N. Informed consent in pediatric practice. *Indian Pediatr.* (2010) 47:1039-46. doi: 10.1007/s13312-010-0173-4

12. Yadav M. Age of consent in medical profession: a food for thought. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. (2007) 29(2):80-5.

13. Sharma RK. Legal Aspects of Patient Care. New Delhi: Modern publishers (2000).

14. Sobti PC, B G, Sobti BS. Medicolegal Issues in Adolescent Health Care, Bhave's Textbook of Adolescent Medicine. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers (2006).

15. Nandimath OV. Consent and medical treatment: the legal paradigm in India. Indian J Urol. (2009) 25(3):343-7. doi: 10.4103/0970-1591.56202

16. The Government printer, The Health Act. (2017). Kenya Gazette Supplement. Available online at: http://kenyalaw.org/kl/fileadmin/pdfdownloads/Acts/ HealthActNo.21of2017.pdf (cited August 15, 2021).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

17. The National Council for law reporting, The Kenyan Children Act No 8 of 2001. Children act. Available online at: http://kenyalaw.org/kl/fileadmin/pdfdownloads/ Acts/ChildrenAct_No8of2001.pdf (cited August 15, 2021).

18. Malaysian Medical Council. (2016). Malaysian Medical Council Guideline: Consent for treatment of patients by registered medical practitioners. Kuala Lumpur. Available online at: https://mmc.gov.my/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Consent_Guideline_21062016.pdf (cited January 20, 2022).

19. Age of Majority Act. (1971). Available online at: https://syazwaniawangco.com/ wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Age-Majority-Act.pdf (cited January, 2022).

20. People's Law Library of Maryland. Maryland Legal Assistance Network/ MLSC. (1999–2006). Available online at: https://www.peoples-law.org (cited January, 2022).

21. Dutch Medical Treatment Contracts Act. (2019). Available online at: https:// english.ccmo.nl/investigators/legal-framework-for-medical-scientific-research/laws/ dutch-medical-treatment-contracts-act (cited June 19, 2022).

22. Federal Ministry of Health. Guidelines for young persons' participation in research and access to sexual and reproductive health services. (2014). Available online at: https://www.popcouncil.org/uploads/pdfs/2014HIV_YoungPersonsSRH-Nigeria.pdf (cited January 23, 2022).

23. Lal R, Pal V, Punjabi SK, Khawaja N, Shoro M. Informed consent: a survey of knowledge and practice of informed consent among dental practitioners in Hyderabad city Pakistan. *Prof Med J.* (2017) 24(05):772–7.

24. Guidelines and Teachers Handbook for Introducing Bioethics to Medical and Dental Students. Available online at: http://nbcpakistan.org.pk/assets/may-16-bioethics-facilitator-book—may-16%2c-2017.pdf (cited June 19, 2022).

25. The Majority Act, 1875, (XI of 1875); An act to amend the law respecting the age of majority. Pakistan. Available online at: https://nasirlawsite.com/laws/majorit.htm (cited June 05, 2022).

26. Soe M. Consent (1): Overview and Capacity—Ethics & Professionalism. Singapore Medical Association News. (2001). Available online at: https://sma.org.sg/sma_news/3310/ethics_consent.pdf (cited January 19, 2022).

27. NUP. Consent for Dental Treatment/Operation/Procedure (for Minors Under 21 Years Old). Singapore: National University Polylinics (2018). Available online at: https://www.nup.com.sg/Documents/NUP%20Consent%20form%20for%20Minors. pdf (cited January 19, 2022).

28. Thirumoorthy T, Loke P. Consent in Medical Practice 3—Dealing with Persons Lacking Capacity. Singapore Medical Association News. (2013). Available online at: https://www.sma.org.sg/UploadedImg/files/Publications%20-%20SMA%20News/4508/CMEP.pdf (cited January 19, 2022).

29. Mental Capacity Act (Chapter 177A). Legislation Division of the Singapore Attorney-General's Chambers. Singapore Statutes Online. (2008). Available online at: https://sso.agc.gov.sg/Act/MCA2008 (cited January 19, 2022).

30. The law of the Child Act, No. 21 of 2009. Tanzania. Available online at: https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—ed_protect/—protrav/—ilo_aids/documents/ legaldocument/wcms_151287.pdf (cited December 23, 2022).

31. Scotland's Children—The Children (Scotland) Act 1995 Regulations and Guidance: Volume 1 Support and Protection for Children and Their Families. Available online at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-children-children-scotland-act-1995-regulations-guidance-volume-1-support-protection-children-families/pages/1/#:~:text=The%20Children%20(Scotland)%20Act%201995%20marks%20a%20 significant%20stage%20in,care%20of%20children%20in%20Scotland.&text=It%20sets %20out%20the%20duties,the%20child's%20welfare%20requires%20it (cited June 19, 2022).

32. The Children Order. (1995). Northern Ireland. Available online at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/1995/755/contents/made (cited June 19, 2022).

33. SRHR Africa Trust, Thomson Reuters Foundation, UNICEF. Age of Consent: Legal Review—Vietnam Country Report. (2018). Available online at: http:// satregional.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Age-of-consent-Vietnam.pdf (cited January 19, 2022).

34. Law on Medical Examination and Treatment [Luật khám bệnh, chữa bệnh] Vietnam. (2009). Available online at: https://kcb.vn/vanban/luat-kham-benh-chuabenh-2 (cited January 19, 2022).

35. Civil Code [Luật dân sự] Vietnam. (2015). Available online at: https:// thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Quyen-dan-su/Bo-luat-Dan-su-2005-33-2005-QH11-2463. aspx (cited January 19, 2022).

36. Law on HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control [Luật Phòng chống nhiễm suy giảm miễn dịch mắc phải ở người] Vietnam. (2020). Available online at: https:// thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/The-thao-Y-te/Van-ban-hop-nhat-33-VBHN-VPQH-2020-Luat-Phong-chong-nhiem-suy-giam-mien-dich-mac-phai-o-nguoi-469838.aspx (cited January 19, 2022).

37. Law on Medical Examination and Treatment, Vietnam. (2009). Available online at: https://sites.google.com/a/ecolaw.vn/luat-tieng-anh/1-bo-luat-luat/-law-on-medical-examination-and-treatment (cited January 19, 2022).

38. Griffith R. What is gillick competence? Hum Vaccin Immunother. (2015) 12 (1):244-7. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2015.1091548

39. Human Rights Watch. Nigeria. (2022). Child Marriage Violates Girls' Rights. Available online at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/01/17/nigeria-child-marriage-violates-girls-rights (cited May 20, 2022).

40. Protecting the Safety and Well-being of Children. *Ministry of Social and Family Development*. Singapore: Ministry of Social and Family Development (2021). Available online at: https://www.msf.gov.sg/opg/Pages/Protecting-the-Vulnerable.aspx (cited January 19, 2022).

41. Kemparaj VM, Panchmal GS, Kadalur UG. The top 10 ethical challenges in dental practice in Indian scenario: dentist perspective. *Contemp Clin Dent.* (2018) 9 (1):97. doi: 10.4103/ccd.ccd_802_17

42. Informed Consent: Legal Analysis of Consent Forms By Kartikey. Available online at: https://www.legalserviceindia.com/legal/article-4528-informed-consent-legal-analysis-of-consent-forms.html (cited June 19, 2022).

43. Dental Council of India. (2014). Revised Dentists (Code of Ethics) Regulations. Available online at: https://dciindia.gov.in/Rule_Regulation/Gazette_Notification_reg_DCI_Revised_Dentists_Code_of_Ethics_Regulations_2014_27.06.2014.pdf (cited June 19, 2022).

44. Poon R. The perfect smile—part 1. Br Dent J. (2018) 225:385. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj. 2018.777

45. Gusmano MK. Healthcare financing in Singapore. In: Chin J, Berlinger N, Dunn MC, Gusmano MK, editors. *A Singapore Bioethics Casebook*. Singapore: National University of Singapore (2017). Available online at: http://www.bioethicscasebook.sg/ backgrounder/healthcare-financing-in-singapore/ (cited June 19, 2022).

46. Nair R, Yee R. Differences in willingness to pay for an extraction, a filling, and cleaning teeth at various levels of oral health-related quality of life, as measured by oral impacts on daily performance, among older adults in Singapore. *Singapore Dent J.* (2016) 37:2–8. doi: 10.1016/j.sdj.2016.10.003

47. Thao M. Limitations of the Law on Medical Examination and Treatment (Translated) [Còn nhiều vướng mắc từ Luật Khám, chữa bệnh]. Viet Times. (2019). Available online at: https://viettimes.vn/post-110726.html (cited January 19, 2022).

48. The Draft Law on Medical Examination and Treatment (Translated) [Dự Thảo Luật Khám Chữa Bệnh (Sửa Đổi)]. (2021). Available online at: https://moh.gov.vn/ documents/174505/0/1.+To+tr%C3%ACnh+CP+KCB+date+2021.01.27.doc/73ef9a23-2b18-4134-9582-29684b70f227 (cited June 19, 2022).

49. Qidwai W, Tabassum R, Hanif R, Khan FH. Belief in prayers and its role in healing among family practice patients visiting a teaching hospital in Karachi, Pakistan. *Pak J Med Sci.* (2009) 25(2):182–9.

50. Kemoli A, Gjørup H, Nørregaard M-LM, Lindholm M, Mulli T, Johansson A, et al. Prevalence and impact of infant oral mutilation on dental occlusion and oral health-related quality of life among Kenyan adolescents from Maasai Mara. *BMC Oral Health.* (2018) 18(1):1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12903-018-0631-2

51. Friedling L, Morris A. Pulling teeth for fashion: dental modification in modern day Cape Town, South Africa: scientific. S Afr Dent J. (2007) 62(3):106–13.

52. Ethics Handbook for Dentists. Rockville, Maryland: American College of Dentists (2016). Available online at: https://www.acd.org/publications-2/ethics-handbook/ (cited June 29, 2022).

53. Cambride Dictionary. Available online at: https://dictionary.cambridge.org/ dictionary/english/informed-consent (cited June 29, 2022).

54. Health Professions Council South Africa. *Ethical Guidelines for Good Practice in the Health Care Professions, Booklet 4.* Pretoria: Health Professions Council of South Africa (2016). Available online at: https://www.hpcsa.co.za/?contentId=79 (cited June 19, 2022).

55. Uzodike EN. Implications and limits of parental rights in Nigeria. *Afr J Int Comp Law.* (1990) 2:282–97.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Paul Anderson

Queen Mary University of London, United Kingdom Ashwin Jawdekar, Navi Mumbai, India Anjalee Vacharaksa,

Chulalongkorn University, Thailand

Nicoline Potgieter ⊠ nicoline.potgieter@gmail.com

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS Sonia Groisman, DNA Diagnostic Lab, Biology Institute of University Estadual of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

RECEIVED 27 November 2023 ACCEPTED 27 February 2024 PUBLISHED 27 March 2024

CITATION

Potgieter N, Pereira V, Elias R, Charone S and Groisman S (2024) Remineralization and inactivation of carious lesions treated with silver fluoride in Brazilian children with special healthcare needs. Front. Oral. Health 5:1345156. doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1345156

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Potgieter, Pereira, Elias, Charone and Groisman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Remineralization and inactivation of carious lesions treated with silver fluoride in Brazilian children with special healthcare needs

Nicoline Potgieter^{1*}, Viviane Pereira², Roberto Elias³, Senda Charone⁴ and Sonia Groisman^{4†}

¹Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Bellville, South Africa, ²Mestre em Periodontia-SL, Doutoranda em Odontopediatria, São Leopoldo Mandic, Sao Leopoldo, Brazil, ³Academia Interamericana de Pacientes Especiais, Clinic Department of Brazilian Association of Dentistry from Duue de Cazias, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ⁴Community Dentistry, Federal University of Rio De Janeiro, Rio de Jeaneiro, Brazil

Introduction: Providing conventional, restorative dental care to children with special healthcare needs (CSHCN) often requires sedation using general anesthesia. Saliva consistency, diet, and oral hygiene practice are different for CSHCN, and limited evidence is available on the efficacy of silver fluoride (SF) for the management of carious lesions for this vulnerable population.

Methods: Parents of CSHCN were educated about silver fluoride as a treatment option for caries. In total, 550 carious lesions from 100 participants were identified and scored according to the Nyvad Caries criteria. A total of 100 lesions with Nyvad scores 1, 2, and 3 were treated with a single application of silver fluoride and observed postoperatively at 1, 3, and 6 weeks.

Result: The results indicate statistically significant (p < 0.05) differences in lesion remineralization over the 6-week follow-up period. At the 6-week follow-up, more than 85% of all lesions were remineralized across all children, regardless of condition or original Nyvad score of 1, 2, or 3.

Conclusion: A single application of silver fluoride has demonstrated effectiveness in remineralization and inactivation of carious lesions over 6 weeks among Brazilian CSHCN. Silver fluoride should be considered an option for the management of carious lesions among CSHCN. Further studies are recommended, including larger sample sizes, longer follow-up times, a second application of SF, and different special needs conditions.

KEYWORDS

Abbreviations

silver diamine fluoride (SDF), silver fluoride, caries remineralization, caries inactivation, children with special care needs

1 Introduction

Children with special healthcare needs (CSHCN) often experience functional impairment, impacting their oral health, as well as facial growth and development, making conventional dental care more challenging. CSHCN often also have impaired intellectual development and communication skills, and therefore do not have the ability to interpret and express dental pain. It has been reported that CSHCN require more complex restorative treatments as the affected children do not report pain as

32

ASD, autism spectrum disorder; CP, cerebral palsy; CSHCN, children with special healthcare needs; DS, Down syndrome; SDF, silver diamine fluoride; SF, silver fluoride; WHO, World Health Organization.

easily (1). Several investigations have highlighted the difficulties of performing conventional dental care on children with cognitive impairment (2–4).

Providing dental care to CSHCN often requires hospitalization to receive dental treatment under general anesthesia. Minimally invasive dentistry has shifted the focus to remineralization or inactivating caries as an alternative to conventional restorations. The ideal caries management technique for CSHCN should be a simple, non-invasive dental procedure that lasts and that is able to remineralize the tooth surfaces below and around restorations. The atraumatic restorative technique (ART) has proven to be a viable option for some patients; however, the ART procedure still requires moderate cooperation and is considered a temporary solution. As described by Rosenblatt et al. (5), products containing silver fluoride (SF) have become a non-invasive alternative to dental restorations. In vitro studies suggested that silver fluoride regimens also inhibit the growth of Streptococcus mutans (4). SF is a new generation of the well-known silver diamine fluoride (SDF) with improved properties. SF is ammonia-free and therefore has less risk for tissue burn and irritation, improved smell, has a more physiological pH, and has

TABLE 1 Description of Nyvad caries criteria (7).

Score	Diagnostic	Criteria
0	Sound	Normal translucency and enamel texture (possible light pigmentation in a sound fissure).
1	Active caries (intact surface)	Enamel surface opaque, no shiny surface, whitish/yellowish enamel surface, rough on probing, usually covered with bacterial plaque. There is no detectable loss of substance. On a smooth surface, the carious lesion is located close to the gingival margin. In pits and fissures, the morphology is intact and the lesion extends along its walls.
2	Active caries (surface discontinued)	Same criteria for score 1. Superficial defect. Localized (microcavity) only in enamel. Absence of soft enamel.
3	Active caries (cavitation)	Enamel/dentin cavitated easily visualized by eye; surface of cavity softened on gentle probing. It might have or not pulp involvement
4	Inactive caries (intact surface)	White, brownish or dark enamel surface. Enamel can became shiny hard and smooth on gentle probing. There is no clinically detectable loss of substance. On a smooth surface, the carious lesion is typically located to some distance from gingival margin. In pits and fissures, an intact morphology is observed with the lesion extending along the cleft walls.
5	Inactive caries (surface discontinuity)	Same criteria for score 4. Superficial defect localized (microcavitaded) in enamel. Without enamel softened on probing.
6	Inactive caries (cavitation)	Enamel/dentin cavity easily visible clinically— cavity can be shiny and hardened on probing with light pressure. Without pulp involvement.
7	Restoration with sound surface	Normal translucency and enamel texture (possible light pigmentation in a sound fissure).
8	Restoration + active caries	Caries active lesion could be cavitated or not
9	Restoration + inactive caries	Caries inactive lesion could be cavitated or not

more stability, therefore not requiring refrigeration (6). If disease progression can be halted through remineralization/inactivation of carious lesions, it might assist in the overall management and oral health of CSHCN without the need for repeat sedation or general anesthesia appointments.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the clinical remineralization and inactivation of active carious lesions among Brazilian CSHCN after being treated with a single application of silver fluoride.

2 Materials and methods

Approval from the Ethical Committee was obtained (CEP, Brazilian Association of Dentistry, Duke de Caxias, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil) before the study. The study was conducted at the Brazilian Association of Dentistry Caxias, State of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

In total, 125 CSHCN diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), Down syndrome (DS), or cerebral palsy (CP) at the age of 7–12 years and their parents were invited to participate in the study. The children had to have at least one carious lesion indicated for conventional restoration [caries limited to dentin, according to Nyvad et al. (7)] (Table 1).

Parents were informed about SF by making use of the patient information leaflet adapted from the British Society of Paediatric Dentistry (8). The information included the following: use of silver compounds in medicine and dentistry; composition of SF and its mechanism of action; the indications for SF treatment; the procedure of application; effectiveness and possible concerns; and photographs of lesions treated with SF. Written consent was obtained by parents/legal guardians as well as assent from the participating children aged over 12 years. This is the age for obtaining assent for research purposes in Brazil. The parents who did not authorize their child to be in the study or did not accept the terms of consent, still received dental treatment in the conventional away as offered by the facility. All identified children received additional and/or emergency treatment if needed before commencement of the study.

2.1 Clinical procedures and follow-up

Active carious lesion from each participant were identified for the study and scored according to the Nyvad system to obtain baseline data (Table 1) (7). All clinical procedures were performed by qualified, experienced single operators and all Nyvad scoring was carried out by an additional single operator. An experienced expert in the Nyvad scoring system, who was calibrated by Bent Nyvad in 2012, trained the principal investigator who conducted all examinations and Nyvad scoring. Interrater reliability between the expert and principal investigator was Kappa = 0.81 and intracalibration of the principal investigator was Kappa was 0.89 (Cohen's Kappa coefficient).

After baseline scoring, the SF was applied to the active carious lesions (Nyvad scores 1, 2, or 3) as per the manufacturer's instructions (9):



- Isolation: cocoa butter was applied to the lips and surrounding gingival tissues, and care was taken not to inadvertently coat the surfaces of the caries lesions. Isolation of the tooth was achieved with cotton rolls and the lesion was lightly dried with compressed air (Figure 1);
- (2) SF application: one drop of SF (Riva Star Aqua, SDI, VIC, Australia, product registration code: D349082 / K172047/ GMDN code 45232 Class IIa) was dispensed into a glass Dappen dish and the microbrush was dipped into the solution. The SF was directly applied to the carious lesion. The lesion was then dabbed with a clean cotton pellet to remove any excess SF, and a gentle flow of compressed air was applied until the medicament was dry. The second step, the application of potassium iodide, was not done in this study, as the aim of this study was remineralization and not limiting discoloration.

No local anesthesia, sedation, or general anesthesia was used during the visit.

Patients were recalled at 1, 3, and 6 weeks after the single application of SF and the lesions were evaluated again according to the Nyvad scoring system at each visit to record remineralization within and around the treated lesions.

2.2 Statistical analysis

The results are reported with a descriptive analysis in the form of percentages. Differences in remineralization levels were evaluated with the Friedman test between weeks 1, 3, and 6. Pairwise comparisons were made with the paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test. *p*-Values were adjusted using the Bonferroni multiple testing correction method, and p = 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. The statistical analysis was conducted using R Project 4.3.2 software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

TABLE 2 Baseline Nyvad scores or lesions observed in 100 children.

Score	Nyvad caries criteria	N	Percentage
1	Active caries (intact surface)	171	31.1
2	Active caries (surface discontinued)	111	20.2
3	Active caries (cavitation)	100	18.1
4	Inactive caries (intact surface)	25	4.5
5	Inactive caries (surface discontinuity)	84	15.3
6	Inactive caries (cavitation)	3	0.6
7	Restoration with sound surface	0	0
8	Restoration + Active caries	12	2.2
9	Restoration + Inactive caries	44	8
Total		550	100

3 Results

In total, 125 children aged 7–12 years and their parents were invited to participate in the clinical study; however, only 100 children took part in this study; 25 were excluded because they did not obtain consent from their parents/guardians to participate. Of the 100 participating children, 28 had DS, 27 had CP, and 45 had ASD. In total, 550 carious lesions were identified and scored according to the Nyvad criteria, as reported in Table 2.

Among the lesions, 300 active carious lesions had Nyvad scores of 1 (n = 100), 2 (n = 100), and 3 (n = 100), and were selected and treated with a single application of SF and analyzed for 6 weeks. Teeth with a baseline Nyvad score of 8 would also have been eligible for treatment but had a low prevalence (n = 12); therefore, they were excluded from the analysis in this study.

Follow-up evaluations, after a single application of SF at 1, 3, and 6 weeks, are reported in Table 3. The results indicate that the majority of the carious lesions remineralized or inactivated (Nyvad criteria: 4-6 grouped together) throughout the observation period. After 6 weeks, of those carious lesions with a Nyvad score of 1, only 11% did not remineralize; of those lesions with a Nyvad score of 2, only 10% did not remineralize; and of those lesions with a Nyvad score of 3, only 14% did not remineralize. The same pattern was found for all conditions, indicating that one single application of SF was able to promote a quick remineralization/inactivation of the active carious lesions, therefore avoiding progression of the disease. Figure 2 shows the increase of remineralization from week 1 to week 3 and from week 3 to week 6, with the exception of lesions with a Nyvad score of 3 that had a small, non-significant decrease from week 3 to week 6 (from 87% to 86%, i.e., -1 percentage point) but kept a steady increase from week 1 (78% remineralized/inactivated). Statistical tests (Friedman test and paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test) reported statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) between the weeks for the total sample and for most of the Nyvad scores in each condition. The most prominent differences have been between week 1 and week 6, also indicating the continuous effect of a single application of SF.

Group	Nyvad caries criteria		riteria Base Remineralized Nyvad line criteria: 4, 5 or 6			Variation Variation w3-w1 w6-w3	Frieadman <i>p</i> -value		
	Score	Diagnostic		1 week	3 weeks	6 weeks			
Total (N = 100)	1	Active caries (intact surface)	100	54 (54%) ^a	70 (70%) ^b	88 (88%) ^c	16 (16 pp)	18 (18 pp)	<0.001*
	2	Active caries (surface discontinued)	100	77 (77%) ^a	82 (82%) ^a	89 (89%) ^b	5 (5 pp)	7 (7 pp)	<0.001*
	3	Active caries (cavitation)	100	78 (78%) ^a	87 (87%) ^b	86 (86%) ^b	9 (9 pp)	-1 (-1 pp)	<0.001*
	1, 2, 3	Total active carious lesions	300	211 (70%) ^a	244 (81%) ^b	265 (88%) ^c	33 (11 pp)	21 (7 pp)	<0.001*
Autism $(N = 45)$	1	Active caries (intact surface)	45	25 (56%) ^a	32 (71%) ^b	40 (89%) ^c	7 (16 pp)	8 (18 pp)	<0.001*
	2	Active caries (surface discontinued)	45	35 (78%) ^a	37 (82%) ^{a,b}	40 (89%) ^b	2 (4 pp)	3 (7 pp)	0.022*
	3	Active caries (cavitation)	45	35 (78%) ^a	39 (87%) ^a	39 (87%) ^a	4 (9 pp)	0 (0 pp)	0.072
	1, 2, 3	Total active carious lesions	135	95 (70%) ^a	108 (80%) ^b	119 (88%) ^c	13 (10 pp)	11 (8 pp)	< 0.001*
Down Syndrome	1	Active caries (intact surface)	28	15 (54%) ^a	19 (68%) ^{a,b}	24 (86%) ^b	4 (14 pp)	5 (18 pp)	0.001*
(N = 28)	2	Active caries (surface discontinued)	28	21 (75%) ^a	23 (82%) ^a	25 (89%) ^a	2 (7 pp)	2 (7 pp)	0.052
	3	Active caries (cavitation)	28	22 (79%) ^a	24 (86%) ^{a,b}	24 (86%) ^b	2 (7 pp)	0 (0 pp)	0.001*
	1, 2, 3	Total active carious lesions	84	58 (69%) ^a	66 (79%) ^b	73 (87%) ^c	8 (10 pp)	7 (8 pp)	0.001*
Cerebral Palsy	1	Active caries (intact surface)	27	14 (52%) ^a	19 (70%) ^{a,b}	24 (89%) ^c	5 (19 pp)	5 (19 pp)	<0.001*
(N = 27)	2	Active caries (surface discontinued)	27	21 (78%) ^a	22 (81%) ^a	24 (89%) ^a	1 (4 pp)	2 (7 pp)	0.097
	3	Active caries (cavitation)	27	21 (78%) ^a	24 (89%) ^a	23 (85%) ^a	3 (11 pp)	-1 (-4 pp)	0.097
	1, 2, 3	Total active carious lesions	81	56 (69%) ^a	65 (80%) ^b	71 (88%) ^b	9 (11 pp)	6 (7 pp)	<0.001*

TABLE 3 Baseline and follow-up Nyvad scores of all lesions.

pp, percentage points.

^{a.b.c}Different letters indicate significative differences between observations with the paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test (p < 0.05). *p < 0.05.

4 Discussion

It has been proven *in vitro* that silver and fluoride ions can remineralize demineralized enamel and dentin (10, 11). Clinical studies have suggested SDF's efficacy in preventing caries in both the primary and permanent dentition and is being widely implemented worldwide for the treatment (arresting) of dental caries (12, 13). SDF has been proven to be safe, effective, patient-centered, timely, efficient, and equitable (14). However, limited scientific evidence is available on the efficacy of SF. Although SDF has an ammonia base and SF is ammonia-free, they contain the same active ingredients—38% silver fluoride and 5% fluoride (SDI, Riva Aqua Product information leaflet)—and the results of this study can therefore be compared with previous studies on SDF. The reason for using SF in this particular study was its improved properties. It was of the authors' opinion that the improved properties would make the treatment more tolerable for children who are sensitive to oral stimulus, taste, or smell. Comparing the patients' acceptance and experience between SDF and SF is an area for future research. Rosenblatt et al. (5) highlighted the need to increase access to care, improve


oral health, and ultimately reduce the need for emergency care for CSHCN. However, there is limited evidence on the efficacy of SDF/SF among CSHCN. The authors wanted to explore if the efficacy of SF will differ among CSHCN as they often have different diets, saliva consistency/quantity, and cooperation regarding home oral hygiene practice.

The baseline Nyvad scores of this study (Table 2) report the high number of untreated active carious lesions (Nyvad scores of 1, 2, and 3: n = 382) among this group of CSHCN. This prevalence of untreated carious lesions is similar to the results among schoolchildren, as reported by Machiulskiene et al. (15). The possible reasons for untreated carious lesions can include challenges associated with transport, access to care, communication from the child, as well as some practitioners not being comfortable managing CSHCN. Regarding caries treated with restorations, it is notable that no restorations with sound surfaces were reported (Nyvad score 7), 12 restorations had active caries (Nyvad score 8), and 44 restorations presented with inactive caries (Nyvad score 9). These findings suggest that restorations are not stopping disease progression within this population group.

This study did not only focus on the management of cavitated lesions (Nyvad score 3) but also included initial, demineralized lesions (Nyvad score 1, 2) to evaluate the remineralization of these lesions in this vulnerable group of children. Focusing on early intervention and prevention shifts the focus from treating cavities (e.g., fillings) to rather managing the disease and its progression.

Without proper and timely intervention, dental caries and other oral diseases can lead to severe systemic infections, may negatively affect oral health-related quality of life (oral Health Profile-OHRQoL), and are associated with decreased academic performance and school attendance of a child (16, 17). To address the high rate of untreated caries in high-risk populations, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommends school-based sealant programs, which have demonstrated clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness (18). Furthermore, a review on the effect of SDF in preventing caries in primary dentition showed significant reductions in the development of new caries vs. placebo after 24 months and was not more or less effective after 12 months compared with glass ionomer sealants (19).

The results of this study show that SF has a high prevention rate, as 88% of Nyvad score 1 and 89% of Nyvad score 2 lesions remineralized within 6 weeks (Table 2). No significant differences were found between the different special needs groups as all lesions remineralized (>85%) regardless of the specific condition. These results suggest that SF might be the ideal, cost-effective option for not only treating active carious lesions but also preventing caries among CSHCN. SF requires fewer steps and is less techniques-sensitive than application of fissure sealants, which makes it even more ideal with children with neurological and associated behavioral challenges. It is the authors' opinion that existing sealant programs may benefit from SF as an alternative to fissure sealants or to be used in a combination of placing sealants and treating active carious lesions with SF.

Overall, this study showed inactivation of cavitated lesions at 1 (78%), 3 (87%), and 6 (86%) weeks postoperatively (Table 2). These findings are comparable to those from other controlled clinical trials with longer follow-up times, which indicated no differences in the 6- and 12-month caries inactivation rates comparing SDF vs. atraumatic restorative treatment (19). With limited cooperation associated with CSHCN, even the atraumatic restorative technique can be a challenge. It is important to note that the findings reported in this study are after a single application of SF and that the results might improve with a second application as part of the care plan.

The results of this study indicated that SF could become a key element for prevention and comprehensive management programs that meet the World Health Organization (WHO) Millennium Goals (20). SDF has also recently been added to the WHO's essential medicine list. The limitations of this study include a small sample size and that it was limited to a follow-up period of 6 weeks after a single application. Further research is recommended to support the findings of this study and to confirm the long-term benefits to this population group.

5 Conclusion

A single application of silver fluoride has demonstrated effectiveness in the remineralization and inactivation of carious lesions over 6 weeks among Brazilian CSHCN. Silver fluoride should be considered an option for the management of carious lesions among CSHCN. Further studies are recommended, including larger sample sizes, longer follow-up times, a second application of SF, and different special needs conditions.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Comitê de Ética em Pesquisa—Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro.

The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the minor(s)' legal guardians/next of kin for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

NP: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Methodology, Conceptualization. VP: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data curation. RE: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data curation. SC: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data curation. SG: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Supervision, Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization.

References

1. Rodrígues MT, Masiero D, Novo NF, Simionato MR. Oral conditions in children with cerebral palsy. J Dent Child. (2003) 70:40–6. PMID: 12762607

2. Forsberg H, Quick-Nilsson I, Gustavson K-H, Jagell S. Dental health and dental care in severely mentally retarded children. *Swed Dent J.* (1985) 9:15–28. PMID: 3159118

3. Peinado NR, Martínez MM, Pérez MD, De Nova García MJ. A study of the dental treatment needs of special patients: cerebral paralysis and Down syndrome. *Eur J Paed Dent.* (2018) 19:3. doi: 10.23804/ejpd.2018.19.03.12

4. Thibodeau EA, Handelman SL, Marquis RE. Inhibition and killing of oral bacteria by silver ions generated with low intensity direct current. *J Dent Res.* (1978) 57:922–6. doi: 10.1177/00220345780570091901

5. Rosenblatt A, Stamford TCM, Niederman R. Silver diamine fluoride: a caries 'silver-fluoride bullet'. *J Dent Res.* (2009) 88(2):116–25. doi: 10.1177/0022034508329406

6. Riva Star Aqua product information, SDI Ltd. Available online at: https://www.sdi.com.au/pdfs/brochures/au/riva%20star%20aqua_sdi_brochures_au.pdf (accessed January 20, 2024).

7. Nyvad B, Machiulskiene V, Baelum V. Reliability of a new caries diagnostic system differentiating between active and inactive caries lesions. *Caries Res.* (1999) 33:252–60. doi: 10.1159/000016526

8. British Society of Paediatric Dentistry. Patient leaflet: silver diamine fluoride (SDF) liquid treatment. Available online at: https://www.bspd.co.uk/Portals/0/ BSPD_SDF%20patient%20leaflet_For%20website.pdf (accessed March 8, 2022).

9. Riva Star Aqua bottle, instruction for use, SDI Ltd. Available online at: https:// www.sdi.com.au/pdfs/instructions/au/riva%20star%20aqua%20Bottle_sdi_instruction s_au.pdf/ (accessed January 20, 2024).

10. Zhi QJ, Lo ECM, Kwok ACY. An in vitro study of silver and fluoride ions on remineralization of demineralized enamel and dentine. *Aus Dent J.* (2013) 58:50–6. doi: 10.1111/adj.12033

11. Heukamp J, Korbmacher-Steiner H, Schmidt S, Neumann CM, Bottenberg P, Jablonski-Momeni A. Remineralisation capability of silver diamine fluoride in

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

artificial enamel lesions on smooth surfaces using quantitative light-induced fluorescence measurements in-vitro. *Nat Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:8498. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-022-12498-6

12. Nishino M, Yoshida S, Sobue S, Kato J, Nishida M. Effect of topically applied ammoniacal silver fluoride on dental caries in children. J Osaka Univ Dent Sch. (1969) 9:149–55. PMID: 4245744

13. Chu CH, Lo EC, Lin HC. Effectiveness of silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride varnish in arresting dentin caries in Chinese preschool children. *J Dent Res.* (2002) 81:767–70. doi: 10.1177/0810767

14. Committee on Quality of Health Care in America. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2001).

15. Machiulskiene V, Nyvad B, Baelum V. Prevalence and severity of dental caries in 12-year-old children in Kaunas, Lithuania. *Caries Res.* (1998) 32:175–80. doi: 10.1159/000016450

16. Karki S, Pakkila J, Laitala ML, Humagain M, Anttonen V. Influence of dental caries on oral health-related quality of life, school absenteeism and school performance among schoolchildren. *J Comm Dent Oral Health Epidem*. (2019) 47 (6):461–9. doi: 10.1111/cdoe.12485-

17. Piovesan C, Ferreira AJL, Mendes FM, Guedes RS, Ardenghi TM. Influence of children's oral health-related quality of life on school performance and school absenteeism. *Pub Health Dent.* (2012) 72(2):156–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-7325.2011. 00301.x

18. Ruff RR, Niederman R. Silver diamine fluoride versus therapeutic sealants for the arrest and prevention of dental caries in low-income minority children: study protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Br Med J.* (2018) 8(4):e022646. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022646

19. Ruff RR, Barry-Godín T, Niederman R. Effect of silver diamine fluoride on caries arrest and prevention: the caried away school-based randomized clinical trial. *JAMA network Open*. (2023) 6(2):2255458. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.55458

20. World Health Organization (WHO) Millennium Goals. Available online at: https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/ (accessed February 2, 2024).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Jacob John, University of Malaya, Malaysia Aseel Alhassan, Ministry of Health, Saudi Arabia Yuxuan He, King's College London, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Nicoline Potgieter nipotgieter@uwc.ac.za

RECEIVED 31 October 2023 ACCEPTED 15 March 2024 PUBLISHED 08 April 2024

CITATION

Mulder R, Noordien N and Potgieter N (2024) Comparing cytocompatibility of two fluoridecontaining solutions and two resin-based restorative materials—a pilot study. Front. Oral. Health 5:1330944. doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1330944

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Mulder, Noordien and Potgieter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Comparing cytocompatibility of two fluoride-containing solutions and two resin-based restorative materials—a pilot study

Riaan Mulder¹^(D), Naeemah Noordien²^(D) and Nicoline Potgieter^{2*}^(D)

¹Department of Prothodontic Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa, ²Department of Orthodontics and Paediatric Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa

Background: Cytocompatibility should always be considered, especially if the surface of treated carious lesions is close to soft tissue or is accidentally exposed to the oral soft tissue by the clinician.

Methods: The aim of the present study was to compare the cytocompatibility of two fluoride-containing liquids and two resin-containing restorative materials with buccal mucosa fibroblasts. The fluoride-containing materials were silver diamine fluoride and water-based silver fluoride.

Results: The statistical analysis was completed by comparing the positive control growth of the buccal mucosa fibroblasts to the growth of cells exposed to various materials. The one-way ANOVA with Tukey's HSD result was completed. All the assessed materials compared to the control wells for both the 24 and 48 h time intervals indicated a significant cytocompatibility result, except for the test wells with Stela (SDI) at the 24 h time interval. There was no significant difference between the step 2 liquids and the two dental materials in cytocompatibility at the 24 h interval. All four materials indicated no significant differences between the cytocompatibility of any dental materials for 48 h.

Conclusion: The cytocompatibility assessment for Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua with the direct method in a full dispensing drop is not viable for step 1 of the fluoridecontaining liquids. The use of Stela Light Cure is a suitable material that will be in contact with buccal mucosa as it showed potential for increased cytocompatibility compared to Riva Light Cure. Riva Star Aqua is more cytocompatible than Riva Star.

KEYWORDS

silver diamine fluoride, silver fluoride, resin restorative material, buccal fibroblast cells, resin modified glass ionomer

1 Introduction

The use of silver diamine fluoride (SDF) has been well established for preventing the progression of dental caries and has shown promise in vulnerable populations as well as an intervention to caries progression (1). The ease of use is useful in treating large numbers of patients as a treatment modality for the prevention of caries (2). Various formulations of SDF have been assessed in the literature for caries remineralization, and the subsequent acid resistance of treated teeth (3) improved changes in the surface's micro-hardness (4, 5); the management of carious lesions as a result of molar incisor hypomineralization have been recorded (6). It has been realized that teeth usually treated with various SDF products have large active cavitated carious lesions,

with the tooth very well at the end of its life span. SDF products are, in most cases, the last chance for the survival of the tooth pulp. Some teeth might additionally receive a restoration that would inevitably have prolonged contact with the buccal mucosa; hence we have included two resin-based restorative materials for their cytocompatibility to buccal fibroblasts. Very deep pre-molar cavities of an in vivo study showed that Riva Light Cure (Southern Dental Industries (SDI) Limited, Australia) produced more damage to the pulp than Riva Self Cure Glass Ionomer (7). The *in vitro* material cytocompatibility results on pulp stem cells for Riva Light Cure indicated a significantly lower cytocompatibility to the pulpal stem cells compared to the control cells for all time intervals (24, 48, and 72 h of exposure) (8). However, these materials are deemed to be biocompatible (7) and are therefore the ideal comparative control materials for the assessment of cytocompatibility.

Initially, with the advent of SDF, pulpal cytocompatibility was debated (9, 10). The SDF products are not indicated for direct pulp application nor teeth with clinical signs of pulp involvement (11). However, the proximity of the carious lesion to the pulp cannot be ignored, hence the various cytocompatibility assessments that have been completed in the literature. The translation of in vitro studies toward the clinical sphere is represented by a clinical trial with a similar incidence of pulpal reactions in the patient groups for both the primary and secondary SDF-treated teeth groups (12). This pilot study is more focused toward the surrounding soft tissue of the oral cavity represented by buccal fibroblasts. In the initial stages of SDF use, it was predicted that oral tissue upon contact would present with reversible oral lesions (13). The importance of the buccal fibroblast cytocompatibility with SDF (Riva Star, SDI Limited, Australia) and water-based silver fluoride (AgF; Riva Star Aqua, SDI, Australia) gives further insight into the effect of these materials when they inadvertently come into contact with the oral soft tissue. In the literature, diluted versions of SDF showed inhibitory effects on cultured gingival fibroblasts with dilutions of 1,000 and 10,000 times (14). The clinician, however, uses an application brush and the volume of liquid is much bigger than the large dilutions used for in vitro studies. During SDF use and inadvertent contact with the soft tissue, the clinician will immediately start rinsing the affected area to reduce the tissue interaction and contact time. This technique was performed in a clinical trial and 3 of the 373 patients presented with small, mildly painful white lesions on the mucosa. There was complete resolution in 48 h (12). In another trial of 888 children, gum bleaching occurred in 38 children as a result of contact with SDF and resolved within 2 days (15). In vitro research has shown that there was a pH-induced chemical burn or at the very minimum mucosal corrosion with both 3 min and 1 h exposures of epithelial simulations. The authors also indicated that SDF was still less damaging than phosphoric acid etchant (16), which is widely used. SDF temporarily stains the skin as it does not penetrate the dermis; however, desquamation of skin results in skin pigmentation after 14 days with the shedding of keratinocytes (17, 18). The aim of this pilot study was to assess the long-term exposure, e.g., 24 and 48 h intervals, of these materials on buccal fibroblasts.

The use of the MTT [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide] assay provides a sensitive and quantitative colorimetric assay that measures the proliferation and viability of the cells' mitochondrial activity based on the conversion of the MTT reagent into formazan crystals. These assessments of cell viability provide insight to potential cellular interaction; in particular to the buccal mucosa, simulated by buccal fibroblasts. This pilot study present results with a clinically relevant volume of a single drop from each step of the SDF and AgF bottles. The two formulations, namely SDF (Riva Star, SDI, Australia) and AgF (Riva Star Aqua, SDI, Australia), were assessed previously by the authors of this pilot study for the penetration of materials into carious tooth structure toward affected dentine. The neutral pH of AgF also resulted in remineralization, and a depth of ion penetration was found to be similar to that of SDF (Riva Star). It was also noted that the surface of the carious lesion exposed to the oral environment and inevitably the buccal mucosa has the highest concentrations of ions derived from the SDF and AgF materials (19). With the current SDF literature only utilizing microtiter volumes (14), a full dispensing drop would be used in this pilot study as per the volume dispensed from the dispenser bottle. This study hypothesized that the cytocompatibility of the caries remineralization products of SDF and AgF would be no different to the restorative materials that contact the buccal mucosal fibroblasts. The aim of this study was to compare the cytocompatibility with buccal mucosa fibroblasts directly exposed to SDF, AgF, and two control materials, namely Riva Light Cure (SDI) and Stela Light Cure (SDI).

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Sample preparation

Five restorative material samples (height of 1 mm and diameter of 3 mm) were produced according to the manufacturer's recommendations for Stela (SDI) and Riva Light Cure (SDI). Two time periods would be assessed for the direct exposure of the restorative materials to the buccal mucosa fibroblasts in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), namely 24 and 48 h. The restorative material samples were sterilized with ethylene gas (Steri-Vac 4XL gas sterilizer, Model 400DGP; 3M Center, St Paul, MN, USA) stored at room temperature. The samples were assessed after 72 h to ensure the ethylene gas would not influence the cytocompatibility assay. The prepared restorative sample was placed directly in the well for direct contact with the medium and buccal fibroblast cells. Riva Star (SDF, SDI) and Riva Star Aqua (AgF, SDI) were used in their respective step 1 and 2 formulations to the volume of one dispensed drop, as that would be the clinical scenario. Each drop from the dispensing bottle (approximately 30μ) (20) was placed directly into each well in the well plate.

2.2 Cytocompatibility assay

The cell viability assays were completed following an established method (21). This human oral fibroblast cell line was

established in the Oral and Dental Research Institute, University of the Western Cape, as these fibroblasts were well suited to simulate the cells that would be exposed to the Riva Star and Aqua formulations as well as the restorative materials for the oral environment. Stocks of these cells were kept frozen in liquid nitrogen and retrieved for use. Cells were maintained and cultured in standard conditions. The viability of cells after the 24 and 48 h intervals of exposure was evaluated using the MTT assay.

To test the cytocompatibility of the products toward these buccal mucosa fibroblasts, the cells were first grown to near confluence and then were seeded in 96-well microtiter plates at a density of 1×10^5 cells per well. The cells were maintained in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin cocktail (penstrep) HyClone^{TM;} Cytiva, Marlborough, MA, USA) in a 37°C humidified incubator with 5% CO2 saturation. After 24 h cells, were microscopically checked for strong cell growth and the culture medium was replaced with fresh medium containing the different samples (22). Two 96-well plates were produced with samples for a 24 and 48 h assessment period for cytocompatibility. The sample distribution in each 96-well plate therefore consisted of each well containing one material sample per time (e.g., SDF bottle 1: n = 5; SDF bottle 2: n = 5; AGF bottle 1: n = 5; AGF bottle 2: n = 5; Rival Light Cure: n = 5; and Stela Light Cure: n = 5) as well as 20 untreated control wells containing only buccal mucosa fibroblasts.

Cells were exposed to the sample/medium mix for 24 and 48 h after which the MTT assay was completed (21). A total of 100 µl of the MTT reagent [prepared from 5.0 mg/ml stock solution and diluted with DMEM medium using a dilution factor of 1:10 (Sigma)] was added to each well. The plates were incubated again at 37°C for 4 h. The MTT reagent was then removed and replaced with 100 µl alkaline dimethyl sulfoxide to dissolve the purple formazan crystals (23). The restorative material samples remaining in the wells were removed at this point. After a 15 min incubation period at 37°C, the absorbance of the samples was measured at 540 nm using the microtiter plate reader. The absorbance at 630 nm was used as a reference wavelength (SPECTROstar Nano; BMG LABTECH) (21). The percentage of cell viability was calculated to the control wells. Control values were taken as 100% of the average control-wells values and subsequently expressed as a percentage of 100% using the following formula: [100/(Optical density of the control buccal fibroblast cells × Optical density of the fibroblast cells exposed to the test materials)] - 100.

3 Results

The statistical analysis was completed by comparing the control growth as 100% of the buccal mucosa fibroblasts to the growth of cells exposed to the various materials. The one-way ANOVA with Tukey's HSD result was completed. A *p*-value <0.05 indicated that significant differences were present. In the 96-well plate, the addition of the drop in step 1 from the Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua bottles resulted in an immediate change in medium color. This is indicative of a pH change in the medium. This resulted in

TABLE 1 Cytocompatibility survival rate at different time intervals in percentage of the control wells.

	Riva Star step 1	Riva Star step 2	Riva Star Aqua step 1	Riva Star Aqua step 2	Riva Light Cure	Stela Light Cure
24 h	N/A	16.9	N/A	19.7	46.18	53.09
48 h	N/A	26.08	N/A	42.74	27.41	57.66

a shock of the cells; upon completion of the cell culture, the wells were black and could not be read by the spectrophotometer. However, step 2 of both SDI products did not show a change in color in the wells, indicating that the change in pH only occurred with step 1 of both the SDF and AgF liquids.

Regarding the cells of the control wells, both the 24 and 48 h time intervals indicated a significant difference between the fluoride-containing liquids and the dental materials assessed, except for the test wells with the dental material Stela at the 24 h time interval. The comparison between both the step 2 liquids and the two dental materials showed that no significant difference in cytocompatibility was present at both the 24 and 48 h intervals (Table 1). Cytocompatibility improved from the 24 h interval to the 48 h interval and indicated that the Riva Star Aqua step 2 (42.74%) is comparable to Stela Light Cure at 53.09%. Riva Light Cure decreased in cytocompatibility from the 24 to the 48 h time interval.

4 Discussion

The hypothesis of this study was accepted since the cytocompatibility of the caries remineralization SDF and AgF products were not significantly different to the biocompatible restorative materials in contact with the buccal mucosal fibroblasts.

The water-based Riva Star Aqua (AgF) uses water as the suspension medium instead of ammonia (SDF); otherwise, the formulation to Riva Star is similar to fluoride (5%), silver (25%), and ammonium iodide (8%). The difference became visible in the 48 h results where the cytocompatibility of the AgF (42.74) improved compared to SDF (26.08). This pilot study specifically focused on the effect of the SDF and AgF that would be in contact with the buccal mucosa, hence the use of the fibroblasts. Based on the comparison and the result showing no statistical significance, the SDF and AgF materials can be considered biocompatible. In clinical trials, a very small percentage of participants experienced oral lesions (12) and gum bleaching (15), further supporting the low incidence when the products are handled correctly.

There is a clear transition of ions from the surface of the treated tooth toward the pulpal cells. The weight percentage of ions decreases as the SDF and AgF move through the tooth structures (19). Step 1 for both materials could not be assessed for buccal fibroblast compatibility due to the silver precipitation of the material. In the literature, step 1 of Riva Star was assessed in a study of SDF exposure to primary tooth stem cells. The results

indicated cell viability and the proliferation assay revealed that the clinical concentration of SDF (38%) was not cytocompatible on primary tooth stem cells. However, closer to the concentration that will diffuse toward the pulp and the dentine bridge that covers it, a concentration of 0.0038% SDF promoted cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation. That study revealed that with the ELISA experiment, the dentine exposed to 38% SDF released TGF β -1, indicating that SDF could promote reactionary dentinogenesis (24). It is important to keep in mind that a dentine bridge of 1.5 mm is considered sufficient to limit the negative effects from eluates from dental materials, and with the carious structure above the pulp that will be remineralized with the SDF products, the possible exposure to the dental pulp also becomes more limited. In addition, the SDF products usually work as a step 1 and step 2 protocol, resulting in a more favorable result for cytocompatibility when combined (25, 26).

Stela Light Cure as a restorative material compared to Riva Light Cure presented a non-significant better cytocompatibility at both time intervals, with the 48 h time interval having a greater cytocompatibility of 57.66% compared to the 27.41% cytocompatibility of Riva Light Cure. Riva Star Aqua step 2 is more cytocompatible than Riva Star step 2. The results in Table 1 indicate that Riva Star Aqua step 2 at the 48 h interval is comparable to Stela Light cure. The cytocompatibility results therefore infer that the clinician should use their clinical judgment to prevent direct pulp contact if the healthy or carious dentine covering the pulp has a thickness of less than 1.5 mm. Riva Star, representing an SDF product in this pilot study, showed better cytocompatibility than other assessed SDF products from the literature (25). Therefore, Riva Star Aqua, from a cytocompatibility point of view, is a suitable clinical choice in addition to the other advantage it possesses over Riva Star of not containing ammonium iodide.

5 Conclusion

The limitation of the study was that step 1 of Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua was unable to provide a result due to the silver precipitation. In addition, mixing the two components (steps 1 and 2) of both materials and then exposing the buccal fibroblasts could have been assessed to evaluate their combined effect, but the premise of silver precipitation is still likely considering the current results. The assessment of cytocompatibility for Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua is ideal as per the dentine disc method and therefore presents a clinically relevant cytocompatibility assessment of the materials (26). The use of Stela Light Cure is a suitable material as it showed potential for increased cytocompatibility compared to Riva Light Cure.

6 Limitations of the study

This study is *in vitro* and is limited by not being able to capture the inherent complexity of the pulp system and its reaction to external stimulus, e.g., dental material constituents interacting with the cells. The liquids from step 1 of the Riva Star and Riva Star Aqua could not be evaluated. This is therefore a pilot study, and further research with larger sample sizes and adapted methodologies to overcome the limitations could be conducted.

7 Data management plan

Only the researchers have access to the data and they will not be shared with third parties. Data management practices will be compliant with the POPI Act. Data were stored securely in a durable and accessible format and in a manner that ensures its authenticity and integrity as well as meeting all legal and confidentiality requirements. The data will be retained securely within the department, in the researcher's own office, and stored on a hard drive as a password-protected file. The data might have long-term value and will be appropriately preserved and accessible for future research. Anonymized datasets will be stored for a minimum of 5 years and be deposited in the Institutional Research Data Repository on completion of the study (Kikapu data repository; https://eresearch.uwc.ac.za/kikapu/). The principal investigator will use an ORCID identifier when depositing data. Data management and storage will be done as per UWC guidelines. Research data remain the property of the university. The data management plan is therefore in line with UWC policies. Data security and management are in place on a secure Google Drive Folder and a soft copy back-up on a hard drive in a locked office at Tygerberg Oral Health Centre.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

RM: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Resources, Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. NN: Writing – review & editing. NP: Writing – review & editing, Resources, Funding acquisition, Conceptualization.

Funding

The authors declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

The study was funded by UWC SR funding applications and the University of the Western Cape Author Fund for the research of RM and NN. The dental material products used in the study were funded by SDI Limited with no limitations placed on the researchers to report the findings of the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Seifo N, Robertson M, MacLean J, Blain K, Grosse S, Milne R, et al. The use of silver diamine fluoride (SDF) in dental practice. *Br Dent J.* (2020) 228(2):75–81. doi: 10.1038/s41415-020-1203-9

2. Gao SS, Amarquaye G, Arrow P, Bansal K, Bedi R, Campus G, et al. Global oral health policies and guidelines: using silver diamine fluoride for caries control. *Front Oral Health.* (2021) 2:685557. doi: 10.3389/froh.2021.685557

3. Kim H, Lee J, Lee S, Kim H, Park H. Evaluation of acid resistance of demineralized dentin after silver diamine fluoride and potassium iodide treatment. *J Korean Acad Pediatr Dent.* (2022) 49(4):392–401. doi: 10.5933/JKAPD.2022.49.4.392

4. Prakash M, Kang YH, Jain S, Zandona AF. In-vitro assessment of silver diamine fluoride effect on natural carious dentin microhardness. *Front Dent Med.* (2021) 2:811308. doi: 10.3389/fdmed.2021.811308

5. Mouafy NM, Ezz El Din S, Shash RY, Wassef N. Microhardness and bacterial inhibitory effect of Riva Star versus silver diamine fluoride on carious dentin of primary teeth (in-vitro study). *Adv Dent J.* (2023) 5(2):442–8. doi: 10.21608/adjc. 2023.196751.1271

 Ballikaya E, Ünverdi GE, Cehreli ZC. Management of initial carious lesions of hypomineralized molars (MIH) with silver diamine fluoride or silver-modified atraumatic restorative treatment (SMART): 1-year results of a prospective, randomized clinical trial. *Clin Oral Invest.* (2022) 26(2):2197–205. doi: 10.1007/ s00784-021-04236-5

 Ribeiro APD, Sacono NT, Soares DG, Bordini EAF, de Souza Costa CA, Hebling J. Human pulp response to conventional and resin-modified glass ionomer cements applied in very deep cavities. *Clin Oral Investig.* (2020) 24(5):1739–48. doi: 10.1007/ s00784-019-03035-3

8. López-García S, Pecci-Lloret MP, Pecci-Lloret MR, Oñate-Sánchez RE, García-Bernal D, Castelo-Baz P, et al. In vitro evaluation of the biological effects of ACTIVA kids BioACTIVE restorative, ionolux, and riva light cure on human dental pulp stem cells. *Materials (Basel)*. (2019) 12(22):3694. doi: 10.3390/ma12223694

9. Russo M, Komatsu J, Takayama S, Holland Júnior C, Sundfeld RH, Mestrener SR, et al. Diaminofluoreto de prata. Resposta pulpar à aplicação de uma solução a 10% em dentina [Silver diamine fluoride. Pulp response to application of a 10% solution to dentin]. *RGO*. (1987) 35(4):264–6. PMID: 3484047.

10. Gotjamanos T. Pulp response in primary teeth with deep residual caries treated with silver fluoride and glass ionomer cement ("atraumatic" technique). *Aust Dent J.* (1996) 41(5):328–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1834-7819.1996.tb03142.x

11. Crystal YO, Marghalani AA, Ureles SD, Wright JT, Sulyanto R, Divaris K, et al. Use of silver diamine fluoride for dental caries management in children and adolescents, including those with special health care needs. *Pediatr Dent.* (2017) 39 (5):E135–45. PMID: 29070149.

12. Llodra JC, Rodriguez A, Ferrer B, Menardia V, Ramos T, Morato M. Efficacy of silver diamine fluoride for caries reduction in primary teeth and first permanent molars of schoolchildren: 36-month clinical trial. *J Dent Res.* (2005) 84(8):721-4. doi: 10.1177/154405910508400807

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

13. Yamaga R, Nishino M, Yoshida S, Yokomizo I. Diammine silver fluoride and its clinical application. J Osaka Univ Dent Sch. (1972) 12:1-20. PMID: 4514730.

14. Kim S, Nassar M, Tamura Y, Hiraishi N, Jamleh A, Nikaido T, et al. The effect of reduced glutathione on the toxicity of silver diamine fluoride in rat pulpal cells. *J Appl Oral Sci.* (2021) 29:e20200859. doi: 10.1590/1678-7757-2020-0859

15. Duangthip D, Wong MCM, Chu CH, Lo ECM. Caries arrest by topical fluorides in preschool children: 30-month results. *J Dent.* (2018) 70:74–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent. 2017.12.013

16. Hu S, Muniraj G, Mishra A, Hong K, Lum JL, Hong CHL, et al. Characterization of silver diamine fluoride cytotoxicity using microfluidic tooth-on-a-chip and gingival equivalents. *Dent Mater.* (2022) 38(8):1385–94. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2022.06.025

17. Jackson SM, Williams ML, Feingold KR, Elias PM. Pathobiology of the stratum corneum. West J Med. (1993) 158(3):279–85. PMID: 8460510.

18. Horst JA, Ellenikiotis H, Milgrom PL. UCSF Protocol for caries arrest using silver diamine fluoride: rationale, indications and consent. J Calif Dent Assoc. (2016) 44(1):16–28. PMID: 26897901.

19. Mulder R, Potgieter N, Noordien N. Penetration of SDF and AgF from the infected dentine towards the unaffected tooth structure. *Front Oral Health.* (2023) 11(4):1298211. doi: 10.3389/froh.2023.1298211

20. Vasquez E, Zegarra G, Chirinos E, Castillo JL, Taves DR, Watson GE, et al. Short term serum pharmacokinetics of diammine silver fluoride after oral application. *BMC Oral Health*. (2012) 12:60. doi: 10.1186/1472-6831-12-60

21. Persaud SJ. "Cell and tissue culture: laboratory procedures in biotechnology". In: Doyle A, Griffiths JB, editors. *Cell Biochemistry and Function*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Ltd. (1999). p. 289–332. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0844(199912) 17:4<289::AID-CBF845>3.0.CO;2-B

22. Basak V, Bahar TE, Emine K, Yelda K, Mine K, Figen S, et al. Evaluation of cytotoxicity and gelatinases activity in 3T3 fibroblast cell by root repair materials. *Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip.* (2016) 30:984–90. doi: 10.1080/13102818.2016.1192960

23. Mosmann T. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *J Immunol Methods*. (1983) 65:55–6. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(83)90303-4

24. Monjazebi Y. Effect of Silver Diamine Fluoride (SDF) Solution on the Stem Cells from Human Exfoliated Deciduous Teeth (SHEDs). (doctoral dissertation) (2022). Available online at: https://repository.mbru.ac.ae/handle/1/999 (accessed February 13, 2024).

25. García-Bernal D, Pecci-Lloret MP, López-García S. The cytocompatibility of silver diamine fluoride on mesenchymal stromal cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth: an in vitro study. *Materials (Basel)*. (2022) 15:2104. doi: 10.3390/ma15062104

26. Fernandes LDO, Mendes Soares IP, Anselmi C, Pires MLBA, Ribeiro RADO, Peruchi V, et al. Pulp cell response to the application of silver diamine fluoride and potassium iodide on caries-like demineralized dentin. *Clin Oral Invest.* (2023):1–12. doi: 10.1007/s00784-023-05320-8

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Sonia Groisman, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Ashwin Jawdekar, Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed to be University Dental College and Hospital, India

*CORRESPONDENCE F. S. L. Wong Is.l.wong@qmul.ac.uk

RECEIVED 21 January 2024 ACCEPTED 08 April 2024 PUBLISHED 19 April 2024

CITATION

Kaur M, Anderson P, Shahid S and Wong FSL (2024) Chemical kinetics of silver diammine fluoride in demineralization and remineralization solutions—an *in vitro* study. Front. Oral. Health 5:1374333. doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1374333

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Kaur, Anderson, Shahid and Wong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Chemical kinetics of silver diammine fluoride in demineralization and remineralization solutions—an *in vitro* study

M. Kaur, P. Anderson, S. Shahid and F. S. L. Wong*

Dental Physical Sciences Unit, Centre for Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom

Introduction: Silver Diammine Fluoride (SDF) is a clinical minimal intervention to manage dentin caries. Its chemistry in demineralization conditions has been investigated widely, but far less in remineralization conditions. The aim was to investigate and compare the chemical reactions when SDF is added to remineralization and demineralization solutions.

Methods: 0.01 ml SDF (Riva Star) was added to deionized water (DW); demineralization (DS = pH4) and remineralization (RS = pH7.0) solutions. The time sequence of concentrations of NH₄⁺, F⁻, and Ag⁺ were measured using ion selective electrodes (ISEs) every 2 min. The pH was also measured. Precipitates were characterized using x-ray Diffraction (XRD) and, ³¹P and ¹⁹F nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR).

Results: The concentrations of NH_4^+ and Ag^+ showed decreasing trends in DW (-0.12 and -0.08 mM/h respectively), and in DS (-1.06 and -0.5 mM/h respectively); with corresponding increase in F⁻ concentration (0.04 and 0.7 mM/h respectively). However, in RS, NH_4^+ concentration showed little change (0.001 mM/h), and Ag^+ and F⁻ concentrations were negligible. XRD results showed that precipitates (in RS only) contained AgCl, and metallic Ag. NMR showed that fluorapatite/carbonated fluorapatite (FAP/CFAP) were formed. The pH increased after SDF addition in all three solutions.

Discussion: SDF dissolved to release NH_4^+ , F^- and Ag^+ . In DW and DS, NH_4^+ combined with Ag^+ to form diamminesilver, causing an increase of F^- and pH. In RS, F^- reacted with Ca^{2+} and $(PO)_4^{3-}$ to form FAP/CFAP, and Ag^+ reacted with Cl^- to form AgCl/Ag. These suggests why SDF is effective in managing dentin caries.

KEYWORDS

SDF, demineralization, remineralization, XRD, NMR, AgCl

Introduction

Demineralization and remineralization studies serve as crucial tools in investigating the efficacy of therapeutic interventions on dental substrates such as hydroxyapatite (HA) discs, enamel, or dentin. These investigations simulate

Abbreviations

Ag⁺, silver ion; AgCl, silver chloride; Ca²⁺, calcium ion; CaF₂, calcium fluoride; Cl⁻, chloride ion; DS, demineralizing solution; DW, de-ionized water; F⁻, fluoride ion; FAP, fluorapatite; g, gram; h, hour; HAp, hydroxyapatite; ISE, ion-selective electrodes; kHz, kilo hertz; L, litre; mM, millimolar; M, Mol; MAS-NMR, magic angle spinning nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy; ml, milli litre; mm, millimetre; MHz, mega hertz; NH⁴⁺, ammonium ion; RM, remineralizing solution; XRD, x-ray diffraction.

the cariogenic challenges encountered in the oral cavity and provide valuable insights into potential treatments for caries prevention and management.

While various models have been employed in cariology research to replicate the caries process, chemical models offer distinct advantages in terms of efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and reproducibility. Among these models, chemical approaches utilizing acid or acid buffers to mimic demineralization and remineralization mechanisms have gained prominence. Notably, Yu et al. (1) observed that 62% of mechanistic studies utilize simple mineralization models, while 38% employ pH cycling models.

Silver diammine fluoride (SDF) is a colorless liquid and is a promising agent for dentin caries management. Its application involves painting it onto carious lesions for a brief duration. Therefore, understanding the chemical interaction of SDF in both acidic and remineralization environments is important.

Ion-selective electrodes (ISEs) are an analytical tool for determining the concentration of specific free ions in solution. In dental research, ISEs have a proven efficacy in various studies. For example, Huang et al. (2) demonstrated that calcium ISEs is a reliable method for real-time quantification of mineral loss during demineralization using a hydroxyapatite model system.

While numerous investigations have explored the effect of SDF on HA during demineralization, but there are noticeably fewer investigating its impact during remineralization (3). The aim of this study was to compare the chemical kinetics of SDF following dissolution in water, demineralization solutions, and in remineralization solutions. The emphasis was to investigate the chemical reactions in real-time of following addition of SDF into de- and re-mineralization solutions rather than its reactions directly on tooth tissues.

Materials and methods

Commercially available SDF (Ag(NH₄)₂F) (Riva Star, SDI, Australia) was used which has a concentration of 3.16M. Demineralization solutions of buffered 0.1M acetic acid at pH4.0 were prepared. Remineralization solutions comprising of 0.222 g/L CaCl₂, 0.163 g/L KH₂PO₄, 8.7 g/L NaCl at pH7 were also prepared (4). 0.01 ml of SDF was added to 50 ml of: deionized water, demineralization solution, and remineralization solutions, thus resulting in a concentration of 0.632 mM of SDF in each. ISEs (Nico2000, UK) were used to measure initial, and also to continually monitor NH₄⁺ Ag⁺ and F⁻ concentrations at intervals of 2 min (2) for a period of 2 h. All the experiments were carried out at 37 °C (repeated three times). The pH of the solution was measured before addition of SDF, and at the end of the experiment using a calibrated pH meter (Mettler Toledo portable pH meter).

Any precipitates were collected and dried in an incubator and characterized using x-ray diffraction (XRD), and ³¹P and ¹⁹F solid state Magic Angle Spinning nuclear magnetic resonance (MAS-NMR) spectroscopy. XRD spectra were collected using a x-ray powder diffractometer (PANalytical CubiX³, UK). The theta-

2theta scan measurements were carried out in standard reflection mode, using Cu K radiation, with sample holders spinning on the stage during the scan. ³¹P MAS-NMR was conducted using a 14.1 Tesla spectrometer (600 MHz Bruker, UK) at a Larmor frequency of 242.94 MHz. ¹⁹F MAS NMR analysis was conducted using a 14.1 Tesla spectrometer at a Larmor frequency of 564.658 MHz. All spectra were obtained with a 2.5 mm probe under spinning conditions of 20 kHz.

Results

The ISE results of the real-time changes of free NH_4^+ , F^- and Ag^+ in the water, demineralization and remineralization solutions are shown in Figure 1. The trends after initial values were similar in deionized water and the demineralization solutions, i.e., decreasing concentration with time for NH_4^+ , and Ag^+ , but increasing for F^- . Whereas, for remineralization solution, after initial solubilization, following addition of SDF, the trend was no change in NH_4^+ and very low with virtually no change in Ag^+ and F^- concentrations.

Ammonium ions

Following addition of SDF into deionized water, the initial NH_4^+ concentration increased immediately to 1.2 mM, and then subsequently decreased linearly by 0.12 mM/h. Following addition of SDF into demineralization solution the NH_4^+ concentration increased rapidly to 9.0 mM, and then subsequently decreased linearly by 1.06 mM/h. However, following addition of SDF into remineralization solution, the initial NH_4^+ concentration increased to 1.0 mM but subsequently did not change much over time.

Fluoride ions

The initial F^- concentration in deionized water was 0.6 mM on addition of SDF, and then increased by 0.04 mM/h. The initial F^- in demineralizing solution was 6 mM on addition of SDF, and then increased by 0.7 mM/h. In the remineralization solution, the F^- concentration was between 0.025 and 0.045 mM on addition of SDF, and did not change subsequently.

Silver ions

The initial Ag^+ concentration in deionized water was 0.6 mM on addition SDF, and then decreased by 0.08 mM/h. Following addition of SDF in demineralization solution, the concentration of Ag^+ was 4.5 mM, and then decreased by 0.5 mM/h. Whereas, following addition of SDF to the remineralization solution, the Ag^+ concentration did not rise above the minimum detection limit of the ISE electrode.



Precipitation of solids

No precipitate was seen when SDF was added to either deionized water or demineralization solution. However, when SDF was added to remineralization solution, there was a rapid change in color from clear to white and a white precipitate was formed. XRD pattern of the precipitate (Figure 2) showed peaks at 27.9°, 32.3°, 46.3°, 54.9° and 57.6° that could be assigned to silver chloride (AgCl, Reference code-04-007-3906). The small peaks at 38.3°, 44.3° and 64.4° are consistent with the formation of metallic silver (Reference code: 04-006-1881). The ¹⁹F MAS-NMR spectrum (Figure 3A) shows a peak at -102 ppm suggesting the formation of fluorapatite (FAP); and the peak at -88 ppm suggesting the formation of carbonated fluorapatite (CFAP) (5, 6). The ³¹P MAS-NMR spectrum peak at 2.7 ppm indicates the presence of calcium hydroxyapatite (Figure 3B).

pН

The change of pH in the solutions is presented in Table 1. The pH increased after the addition of SDF in all solutions. The greatest increase in pH was in deionized water and the least was in demineralization solution.

Discussion

The complete dissolution of SDF in any of the solutions would result in concentrations of 1.2 mM NH₄⁺, 0.6 mM F⁻, and 0.6 mM Ag⁺ calculated from the stoichiometry and concentration and volumes of SDF used, and assuming complete dissociation. SDF is known to be soluble in water (7). The ISE results in deionized water showed that it completely dissociated to give rise to around 1.2 mM NH₄⁺ and 0.6 mM Ag⁺ and F⁻ ions after adding 0.01 ml of 3.16 mM SDF in 50 ml of water. The subsequent small decrease of NH₄⁺ and Ag⁺ in the following 2 h indicated that an aqueous ammonia-silver ion complex, likely to be diamminesilver $[Ag(NH)_3)_2^{-}]$ (8, 9), leading to a corresponding increase in F⁻ in the solution, which might be the cause for the pH increase.

This situation was similar for SDF dissolved in demineralization solution as the gradients of the decrease of $\rm NH_4^+$ and $\rm Ag^+$ concentrations, and the corresponding gradient of increase for F⁻, were similar to that in deionized water. As Ag $(\rm NH)_3)_2^+$ is a stable aqueous species, and its ammonia-silver covalent bonds prevent the photo-reduction of silver, no precipitate was formed and the solution remained clear.

However, when SDF was dissolved in remineralization solution, the NH_4^+ concentration remained constant at about the stoichiometric value, but the concentrations of F^- and Ag^+ were



X-ray diffraction results obtained from the precipitate formed as a result of interaction of SDF with remineralization solution. The sharp diffraction lines and the pattern seen above indicate AgCl crystal (Reference Code: 04-007-3906) and small amount of metallic silver (Reference code: 04-006-1881).



both very low. This indicated that these ions were taken up immediately to form the precipitate. The XRD and NMR analyses (Figures 2, 3) showed that these precipitates contained a

mixture of AgCl, metallic silver, and fluorapatites, which are all insoluble compounds. As the remineralization solution contained $CaCl_2$, KH_2PO_4 , and NaCl, this suggests that the dissociated Ag⁺ reacted rapidly with the Cl⁻ to form AgCl as a white precipitate, thus reducing the Ag⁺ concentration in the solution to a negligible amount. Subsequently, when the AgCl precipitate was exposed to light, a small amount was then photo-reduced to metallic silver, which was also seen in the XRD analysis. The F⁻ would react immediately with Ca²⁺ to form CaF₂ (10, 11), another white precipitate, which in the presence of phosphate, would form insoluble fluorapatite, (and therefore was not seen in the NMR spectra). Thus, the F⁻ concentration was also very little (Figure 1C).

This in vitro study, investigating the kinetics of the chemical reactions of SDF in demineralization and remineralization conditions can be used to predict the effects of SDF in the oral environment. As saliva contains Ca^{2+} , $(PO_4)^{3-}$ and Cl^- , these ions would also react with SDF to form insoluble FAP/CFAP and AgCl. These precipitates would then be retained for example in exposed dentinal tubules and not be washed away. The formation of the FAP would render the dentin to be less susceptible to acid demineralization (12-14). AgCl is photo-reduced to metallic Ag (giving the black appearance seen when SDF is used in dentin treatments) which will hinder bacterial growth and degradation of dentin collagen (15, 16). As the components of SDF also increase the pH in the oral environment, this will further reduce the damage caused by acid challenges. Furthermore, as the AgCl and FAP/CFAP precipitate within the dental tubules, these precipitated compounds may occlude the tubular lumens and TABLE 1 Change of pH in solutions on interaction with SDF before and after experimental period.

Change in pH	Deionised water	Demineralisation solution	Remineralisation solution		
Before SDF	7.7	4.0	7.0		
After SDF	10.3	4.4	8.4		

minimize pain by reducing direct communication of the pulp with external stimuli. However, in enamel, these precipitates could only be retained in demineralized porous lesions, and not on sound smooth surface. Therefore, clinically, the SDF protective benefit against acidic challenge for enamel (17) is reduced compared to dentin (13). Other studies [e.g., (14)] also demonstrated that the use of SDF/NaF had a remineralizing effect on a dentin surface under acid challenge.

Clearly, this *in vitro* study is limited if compared to the complexity of the *in vivo* oral environment, where there are a multitude of other charged species (ions and proteins) in saliva, all of which may partially interact with the ionic constituents of SDF. In the oral environment both demineralization and remineralization occur within the complex biological fluid that is saliva (18). Enamel biodemineralization (19, 20) has been proposed as the process by which tooth mineral is lost within a chemically interacting environment. Nevertheless, this *in vitro* study does demonstrate that complexes are formed when SDF is dissolved, especially when other ions including Cl^- are present, which is a major component of saliva.

Conclusion

In remineralizing solutions which contain chloride ions (and therefore likely to be the case in saliva), SDF reacts rapidly with calcium, phosphate, and chloride ions, leading to the formation of fluorapatite, carbonated fluorapatite, and silver chloride precipitates. The silver chloride precipitate will undergo photoreduction, resulting in black discoloration. These precipitates, which would be retained inside dentinal tubes, with the increases of pH, suggests why SDF is beneficial in clinical treatments for dentin caries.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

Author contributions

MK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PA: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. SS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. FW: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgment

We wish to thank Dr. Harold Toms and Dr. Nasima Kanwal, both the facility managers of cross faculty NMR Centre, and Dr. Natalia Karpukhina for her help in NMR analysis and interpretation, at Queen Mary University of London.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{1.} Yu OY, Zhao IS, Mei ML, Lo EC-M, Chu C-H. A review of the common models used in mechanistic studies on demineralization-remineralization for cariology research. *Dent J.* (2017) 5(2):20. doi: 10.3390/dj5020020

^{2.} Huang WT, Shahid S, Anderson P. Validation of a real-time ISE methodology to quantify the influence of inhibitors of demineralization kinetics in vitro using a

hydroxyapatite model system. Caries Res. (2018) 52(6):598-603. doi: 10.1159/000488597

^{3.} Kaur M, Shahid S, Karpukhina N, Anderson P, Wong FSL. Characterization of chemical reactions of silver diammine fluoride and hydroxyapatite under remineralization conditions. *Front Oral Health.* (2024) 5(March). doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1332298

4. Siddiqui S, Anderson P, Al-Jawad M. Recovery of crystallographic texture in remineralized dental enamel. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9(10):e108879. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0108879

5. Yi H, Balan E, Gervais C, Segalen L, Fayon F, Roche D, et al. Letter. A carbonate-fluoride defect model for carbonate-rich fluorapatite. *Am Mineral.* (2013) 98(5-6):1066-9. doi: 10.2138/am.2013.4445

6. Hiraishi N, Sayed M, Hill RG, Shimada Y. Solid-state NMR spectroscopy measurement of fluoride reaction by bovine enamel and dentin treated with silver diammine fluoride. *Dent Mater.* (2022) 38(5):769–77. doi: 10.1016/j.dental. 2022.04.017

7. Jackson JK, Dietrich C, Shademani A, Manso A. The manufacture and characterization of silver diammine fluoride and silver salt crosslinked nanocrystalline cellulose films as novel antibacterial materials. *Gels.* (2021) 7(3):104. doi: 10.3390/gels7030104

8. Chu C, Lo ECM. Promoting caries arrest in children with silver diamine fluoride: a review. Oral Health Prev Dent. (2008) 6(4):315-21. doi: 10.3290/j. ohpd.a14177

9. Jiang M, Mei ML, Wong MCM, Chu CH, Lo ECM. Influence of silver diamine fluoride treatment on the microtensile bond strength of glass ionomer cement to sound and carious dentin. *Oper Dent.* (2020) 45(5):E271-9. doi: 10. 2341/19-237-1

10. Mohammed NR, Kent NW, Lynch RJ, Karpukhina N, Hill R, Anderson P. Effects of fluoride on in vitro enamel demineralization analyzed by ¹⁹F MAS-NMR. *Caries Res.* (2013) 47(5):421–28. doi: 10.1159/000350171

11. Ferizoli B, Cresswell-Boyes AJ, Anderson P, Lynch RJM, Hill RG. Effects of fluoride on in vitro hydroxyapatite demineralisation analysed by ¹⁹F MAS-NMR. *Front Dent Med.* (2023) 4(May). doi: 10.3389/fdmed.2023.1171827

12. Mei ML, Nudelman F, Marzec B, Walker JM, Lo ECM, Walls AW, et al. Formation of fluorohydroxyapatite with silver diamine fluoride. J Dent Res. (2017) 96(10):1122–8. doi: 10.1177/0022034517709738

13. Yu OY, Zhao IS, Mei ML, Lo EC, Chu CH. Caries-arresting effects of silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride on dentine caries lesions. J Dent. (2018b) 78:65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2018.08.007

14. Cifuentes-Jiménez CC, Bolaños-Carmona MV, Enrich-Essvein T, González-López S, Álvarez-Lloret P. Evaluation of the remineralizing capacity of silver diamine fluoride on demineralized dentin under pH-cycling conditions. *J Appl Oral Sci.* (2023) 31:e202203. doi: 10.1590/1678-7757-2022-0306

15. Mei ML, Chu CH, Low KH, Che CM, Lo EC. Caries arresting effect of silver diamine fluoride on dentine carious lesion with *S. mutans* and *L. acidophilus* dual-species cariogenic biofilm. *Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal.* (2013) 18:e824–31. doi: 10.4317/medoral.18831

16. Mei ML, Lo EC. 'Arresting dentine caries with silver diamine fluoride: what's behind it? J Dent Res. (2018) 97(7):751–8. doi: 10.1177/0022034518774783

17. Yu OY, Mei ML, Zhao IS, Li Q, Lo EC, Chu CH. Remineralisation of enamel with silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride. *Dent Mater.* (2018a) 34(12): e344–52. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2018.10.007

18. DePaola DP. Saliva. J Am Dent Assoc. (2008) 139(May):5S-6S. doi: 10.14219/ jada.archive.2008.0348

19. Wang L, Nancollas GH. Pathways to biomineralization and biodemineralization of calcium phosphates: the thermodynamic and kinetic controls. *Dalton Trans.* (2009) 15(January):2665. doi: 10.1039/b815887h

20. Al-Jawad M, Anderson P. Biomineralization and biodemineralization of enamel. In: Matinlinna JP, editor. *Handbook of Oral Biomaterials*. 1st ed. United Kingdom: Jenny Stanford Publishing (2014). p. 25–80. doi: 10.1201/B15644-3

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Riwa Deghaim,

World Federation of Public Health Associations (WFPHA), Switzerland Mariel Cabrera, Providence Care Hospital, Canada Ana Clara Simoes, Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE N. Potgieter

🖂 nipotgieter@uwc.ac.za

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 28 January 2024 ACCEPTED 26 April 2024 PUBLISHED 30 May 2024

CITATION

Potgieter N, Pereira V, Elias R, Charone S and Groisman S (2024) Acceptance of the use of silver fluoride among Brazilian parents of children with special health care needs. Front. Oral. Health 5:1377949. doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1377949

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Potgieter, Pereira, Elias, Charone and Groisman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Acceptance of the use of silver fluoride among Brazilian parents of children with special health care needs

N. Potgieter^{1*†} , V. Pereira^{2†} , R. Elias^{3†} , S. Charone^{4†} and S. Groisman^{4,5†}

¹Department of Paediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa, ²Dental Special Needs, Brazilian Dental Association of Duke de Caxias - Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ³Dental Special Needs, Brazilian Society of Duque de Caxias - Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ⁴Department of Community Dentistry, School of Dentistry, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ⁵DNA Laboratory of Diagnosis, Biosciences, Biology Institute, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Background: Children with special health care needs including Down Syndrome, Autism Spectrum Disorder and Down Syndrome experience difficulties in receiving dental treatment. Silver Diamine Fluoride (SDF) and Silver Fluoride (SF) are a minimally invasive treatments options to arrest dental caries without sedation; local or general anaesthesia (GA).

Aim: Evaluation of Brazilian's parents' acceptance of the use of SF in CSHCN. **Methods:** After receiving education on SF, 100 Parents of CSHCN completed a questionnaire concerning their acceptance of SF, in different dental situation.

Result: Majority of parents (74,5%) agreed to the use of SF for their children. SF was more acceptable on posterior teeth (74,5%) when compared to its use on anterior teeth (43,1%). Parents accepted to use SF in order: to reduce infection and pain (82,4%); to avoid dental injection (72,5%) and treatment under GA (84,3%). The Majority of parents accepted the properties of SF (82,4%) and Silver (80,4%).

Conclusion: Silver Fluoride was accepted as a treatment option for caries, by Brazilian parents of CSHCN. SF should be considered as a treatment option for caries limited to dentine for CSHCN, taking into consideration the individual needs and opinions with regard to aesthetics and exposure to fluoride and silver.

KEYWORDS

silver diamine fluoride (SDF), silver fluoride, parental acceptance, children with special health care needs (CSHCN), caries arrest

1 Introduction

According World Health Organization (WHO), approximately 15% of global population lives with disabilities or special needs, indicating more than 1 billion people (1).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, described that 1 in 68 children suffer from autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in the United States (2). The increase in prevalence could be due to better diagnostic criteria, as well genetic diagnosis (3, 4). Several studies

Abbreviation

CSHCNm, Children with Special Health Care Needs; SDF, Silver Diamine Fluoride; SF, Silver Fluoride; GA, General Anaesthesia.

have highlighted the difficulties of performing dental care on children with a serious mental disability like Cerebral Paralysis (CP), Down Syndrome (DS) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) (2, 4–6). CSHCN, tends to receive less oral health care than general population, which can lead to a poorer oral health outcomes, impacting nutrition, general diseases and quality of life (7).

Delivering good oral care to CSHCN has many challenges, not only concerning their medical status, but also the family's involvement in attaining proper oral care, transportation difficulties among others (8). The most common reason cited for not taking children to the dentist for DS group was "Not aware of the dental problems of their children" and for non- DS groups "No awareness of the importance of dental visit" (61.2% and 53%, respectively) (8). It has also being reported that individuals with special needs demonstrate exaggerated responses to physical stimulation, especially with regards to oral sensitivity (9, 10). This hypersensitivity to oral stimulation poses a challenge for dentists in providing proper dental treatment.

Silver Diamine Fluoride (SDF), is a product that has gained popularity as a minimally invasive treatment option and has demonstrated effectiveness in arresting dental caries in clinical trials (11). The product was originally used for desensitization but has proven effectiveness in arresting dental caries (11). SDF is also cost effective, requires limited instruments and does not require anaesthesia or cause severe pain during application (11).

The new generation ammonia free Silver Fluoride (SF) has added benefits, including less risk for tissue burn and irritation, improved smell, and improved product stability (12). Both Silver Diamine Fluoride (Riva Star, SDI Limited, Australia) and Silver Fluoride (Riva Star Aqua, SDI Limited, Australia) is approved for medical use with product registration numbers (D349082/ K172047/GMDN code 45232 Class iia), and the qualities are summarized in Table 1 (12).

The improved properties of SF makes it even more ideal for CSHCN as the oral stimulation is less than SDF with regards to taste, smell and the "burning" sensation. Limited research is available on the acceptancy of parents or caregivers, concerning the use of SF as well as the efficacy of the treatment in CSHCN. The aim of this study was to identify whether there is parental acceptance of SF as a treatment option for CSHCN in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. A subsequent study then evaluated the clinical success of SF application to carious lesions among this vulnerable group of our population.

TABLE 1	А	comparative	summary	of	riva	star	and	riva	star	aqua.	
---------	---	-------------	---------	----	------	------	-----	------	------	-------	--

	Riva star (SDF)	Riva star aqua (SF)
Formulation	38% Silver Fluoride in an ammonia solution; 5% Fluoride	38% Silver Fluoride in water; 5% Fluoride
pH levels	High (+-pH = 10)	Physiological (+-pH = 7)
Storage requirements	Refrigerated	Room temperature
Odour/Taste	Ammonia taste and odour	No ammonia taste and odour
Tissue irritation	Mild	None

Duque de Caxias, is a Brazilian Municipality in the State of Rio de Janeiro, southeast Region of the country. It is located in Baixada Fluminense, in the Metropolitan Region of Rio de Janeiro, 16 km from the state capital. Its population in 2023 according to National Census is 808,152 inhabitants, making it the most populous in the state and 22nd most populous in the country (13). In Duke de Caxias, 18,07% of individual received 2,6 minimum salary and 37.8% of the population recives half minimum salary per month 2010 (14). The minimum Salary is the lowest national wage mandatory by Brazilian by Law, and one minumum salary in Brazil is 272,30 Euros (15).

2 Materials and methods

The aim of this *in vivo* study was to determine the acceptance of the parents/legal guardians of SF application as treatment option for Brazilian CSHCN.

Ethical approval was obtained by the Ethical Committee Approval (CEP-Dental Association of Duque de Caxias).

This cross-sectional, questionnaire based study included 100 participants. All the participants self-reported to the Association of Dentistry: Duque de Caxias-Rio de Janeiro, Brazil for dental treatment. This association is dedicated to provide treatment to any patient, including patients without medical insurance. The study was conducted over a period 6 months from January 8th 2022–June 7th 2022.

Parents of children diagnosed with DS, CP and ASD, that required dental treatment, with at least one cavity indicated for restoration, were invited to participate in the study. All participants were informed about the purpose and nature of the study. All participants where from the same municipality with the same socio-economic status, therefore no statistical test was performed to observed if might be same variable that could affected the results of the acceptance of SF.

Once written informed consent was obtained for participation, the parents were educated about the treatment option of SF by making use of a patient information leaflet adapted from the British Society of Paediatric Dentistry's (16). The questionnaire was printed in English but a translator was available when necessary. The questionnaire was adapted from Crystal et al. (17), and evaluated the general acceptance of SF as a treatment option for caries, aesthetic concerns and concerns related to the composition of the SF treatment option. Responses were captured on a Microsoft Excell sheet and descriptively reported in percentages.

3 Results

100 questionnaires were analysed in this study with a 100% participation rate. The parental/guardian acceptance with regards to the use of silver fluoride is reported in Table 2. Majority of parents (74,5%) definitely agreed to the use of SF for their children. The use of SF on posterior teeth was more acceptable (74,5%) as opposed to its use on anterior teeth (43,1%). Parents

TABLE 2 Parental acceptance of SDF.

Variable	Definitely disagree	Neutral	Definitely agree
I would use silver diamine fluoride on my child.	9.8%	15.7%	74.5%
I would use silver diamine fluoride on my child to treat front teeth even if it turns teeth dark until it falls off.	31.3%	25.5%	43.1%
I would use silver diamine fluoride on my child to treat back teeth even if it turns teeth dark until it falls off.	17.6%	7.8%	74.5%
I would use silver diamine fluoride on my child if it can reduce the chances of infection and pain	-	13.7%	82.4%
I will use silver diamine fluoride on my child if it means avoiding treatment under general anesthesia	-	11.8%	84.3%
I would use silver diamine fluoride if my child can avoid having an injection	15.7%	11.8%	72.5%
I would use silver diamine fluoride if it reduces cost of treatment when compared to traditional fillings	17.6%	29.4%	52.9%
I would use silver diamine fluoride on my child even though it contains fluoride (within safety limits)	11.8%	-	82.4%
I would use silver diamine fluoride on my child even though it contains silver (within safety limits)	13.7%	-	80.4%

agreed to the use of SF to reduce infection and pain (82,4%); avoid treatment under GA (84,3%); and to avoid an injection (72,5%). 52,9% of parents indicated their agreement in using SF not only because it has a reduced cost when compared to other treatments options but also because of its minimally invasive nature. The use of SF, even with Fluoride (82,4%) or Silver (80,4%) is almost totally accepted by parents and caregivers.

4 Discussion

SDF and SF are similar products with SF having some different clinical properties (12). Limited literature is available on SF as it is a recent newer generation. Parental acceptance of SF in this study, will therefore also be discussed with parental acceptance of SDF from previous literature.

Conventional dental procedures can often propagate fear due to the uncomfortable nature of some dental procedures and the ineffectiveness of certain behavioral management techniques among CSHCN. CSHCN suffering from caries can often only be treated under general anesthesia or sedation, thus predisposing them to multiple general anesthesia/sedation treatments in their lifetime (18, 19). Due to the medical conditions, sedation and general anaesthesia is often also considered high risk (19, 20). Brazilian parents indicated that they would consent to SF treatment if it will reduce infection/pain (82.4%), the need for injections (72.5%) and avoid the need for general anaesthesia (84.3%). Crystal et al. (21) and Hu et al. (17), reported similar results and demonstrated that parent's acceptance increases specifically to decrease their child's pain and suffering. Efforts should be made to optimize prevention and early management of carious lesions among CSHCN to limit pain and infection as well as the need for repeat sedation and general anaesthesia for dental treatments.

Authors corroborated that there is a higher acceptance of the use of SDF in primary teeth compared to permanent teeth, and posterior teeth compared to anterior teeth (22). Brazilian parents had similar views with only 43.1% definitely agreeing to the use of SF on anterior teeth but 74.5% on posterior teeth. The unaesthetic result (black colour) therefore remains a limitation of SDF/SF treatments on anterior teeth and should be discussed during patient education and obtaining consent.

Concerns with regards to the presence of fluoride and silver in SDF has been reported (23). The majority of Brazilian parents of CSHCN reported acceptance of the use of SF for caries management regardless of the product containing silver and fluoride. This is particularly relevant at this time when the safety of fluoride is under increased scrutiny, and prone to misinformation (24), which has the potential to reignite the debate of the use of fluoride to manage dental caries. It is important to note that there were however parents who were not comfortable with the use of silver (13.7%) and fluoride (11.8%), Efforts should be made to provide more awareness and education to parents on the constitution and safety of silver and fluoride in dental medicaments and should therefore also be included when obtaining informed consent for SDF/SF treatments.

Lastly, a limitation of the study is the small sample size and more research with a larger sample size is recommended to support the findings of this study. Secondly, the parental acceptance of SF was evaluated before the actual experience of the procedure. A previous study by Crystal et al. (21) has shown that when examining parental perception after SDF application, it was found that almost all of the respondents thought that SDF was acceptable when considering ease of application, providing more comfort for the child. Future studies could incorporate reevaluation of the parents' acceptance after the child has undergone the SF treatment procedure.

5 Conclusion

Silver Fluoride was accepted by the majority of Brazilian parents of children with special health care needs. The positive response of parents and the minimally invasive nature of SF indicates that SF should be considered as a treatment option for caries limited to dentine for this vulnerable population. Patient education should include the unaesthetic result as well as product constitution to enable informed consent (25).

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by CEP-Dental Association of Duque de Caxias. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

NP: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. VP: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. RE: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SC: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SG: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SG: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

References

1. WHO World Report on Disability 2011. "The Way Forward: Recommendations". Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK304067/ (Accessed March 21, 2020).

2. Waldman HB, Perlman SP. What about dental care for people with mental retardation? a commentary. J Am Coll Dent. (2002) 69:35-8.

3. Vozza I, Cavallè E, Corridore D, Ripari F, Spota A, Brugnoletti O, et al. Preventive strategies in oral health for special needs patients. *Ann Stomatol.* (2015) 6:3–4. doi: 10. 11138/ads/2015.6.3.096

4. Thikkurissy S, Lal S. Oral health burden in children with systemic diseases. Dent Clin N Am. (2009) 53:351-7. doi: 10.1016/j.cden.2008.12.004

5. Rodríguez Peinado N, Mourelle Martínez MR, Diéguez Pérez M, De Nova García MJ. A study of the dental treatment needs of special patients: cerebral paralysis and down syndrome. *Eur J Paed Dent.* (2018) 19(3):233–8. doi: 10.23804/ejpd.2018.19.03.12

6. Carvalho R, Mendes R, Prado R, Moita JM. Oral health and oral motor function in children with cerebral palsy. *Spec Care Dent*. (2011) 31:58–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-4505.2011.00180.x

7. Charles JM. Dental care in children with developmental disabilities: attention deficit disorder, intellectual disabilities, and autism. J Dent Child. (2010) 77:84–91.

 Al Habashneh R, Al Jundi S, Khader Y, Nofel N. Oral health status and reasons for not attending dental care among 12- to 16-yer-old children with down syndrome in special needs centres in Jordan'. *Int J Dent Hygiene*. (2012) 10:259–64. doi: 10.1111/ j.1601-5037.2012.00545.x

9. Fahlvik C, Herrström P. Dental care of autistic children within the non-specialized public dental service. *Swed Dent J.* (2001) 25:113-8.

10. De Camargo MA, Antunes LF. Untreated dental caries in children with cerebral palsy in the Brazilian context. *Int J Paediatr Dent*. (2008) 18(2):131–8. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-263X.2007.00829.x

11. Gao SS, Zhang S, Mei ML, Lo EC, Chu CH. Caries remineralisation and arresting effect in children by professionally applied fluoride treatment—a systematic review. *BMC Oral Health.* (2016) 16:12. doi: 10.1186/s12903-016-0171-6

12. Riva Aqua product information. SDI. Available online at: https://www.sdi.com. au/en-eu/product/riva-star-aqua/ (Accessed January 20, 2024).

13. Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE). (2017). «Divisão Regional do Brasil». Available online at: https://www.ibge.gov.br/geociencias/cartas-e-mapas/redes-geograficas/15778-divisoes-regionais-do-brasil.html (Accessed April 12, 2024).

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. Produto Interno Bruto dos Municípios—Tabelas. Available online at: https://sidra.ibge.gov.br/pesquisa/pib-munic/tabelas (Accessed April 12, 2024).

15. População Brasil, Rio de Janeiro, Duque de Caxias. Available online at: https://cidades.ibge.gov.br/brasil/rj/duque-de-caxias/panorama (Accessed: April 12, 2024).

16. British Society of Paediatric Dentistry. Patient leaflet: Silver Diamine Fluoride (SDF) Liquid Treatment. Available online at: https://www.bspd.co.uk/Portals/0/ BSPD_SDF%20patient%20leaflet_For%20website.pdf (Accessed March 21, 2020).

17. Hu S, Meyer B, Lai BWP, Chay PL, Tong HJ. Parental acceptance of silver diammine fluoride in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Int J Paediatr Dent.* (2020) 30:514–22. doi: 10.1111/ipd.12624

18. Oh TJ, Nam OH, Kim MS, Choi SC, Lee HS. Oral health of patients with special health care needs after general anesthesia: a 25-year retrospective study. *Ped Dent.* (2018) 40(3):215–9.

19. Norderyd J, Klingberg G, Faulks D, Granlund M. Specialised dental care for children with complex disabilities focusing on child's functioning and need for general anaesthesia. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2017) 39:2484–91. doi: 10.1080/09638288. 2016.1236406

20. Meitzner MC, Skurnowicz JA. Anesthetic considerations for patients with down syndrome. *AANA J.* (2005) 73:103–7.

21. Crystal YO, Janal MN, Hamilton DS, Niederman R. Parental perceptions and acceptance of silver diamine fluoride staining. J Am Dent Assoc. (2017) 148 (7):510-518.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.adaj.2017.03.013

22. Bagher SM, Sabbagh HJ, AlJohani SM, Alharbi G, Aldajani M, Elkhodary H. Parental acceptance of the utilization of silver diamine fluoride on their child's primary and permanent teeth. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2019) 23(13):829–35. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S205686

23. Rada RE. Controversial issues in treating the dental patient with autism. J Am Dent Assoc. (2010) 141(8):947–53. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2010.0308

24. Seymour B, Getman R, Saraf A, Zhang LH, Kalenderian E. When advocacy obscures accuracy online: digital pandemics of public health misinformation through an antifluoride case study. *Am J Public Health.* (2015) 105(3):517–23. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302437

25. Dziedzic A. The role of general anaesthesia in special care & paediatric dentistry; inclusion criteria and clinical indications. SAAD Dig. (2017) 33:48–54.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Raman Bedi, King's College London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Mariel Cabrera, Providence Care Hospital, Canada Sonia Groisman, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE F. S. L. Wong Is.l.wong@qmul.ac.uk

RECEIVED 17 July 2024 ACCEPTED 06 August 2024 PUBLISHED 26 August 2024

CITATION

Kaur M, Anderson P, Shahid S, Davis GR, Mills D and Wong FSL (2024) Effects of silver diammine fluoride with/without potassium iodide on enamel and dentin carious lesions in primary teeth. Front. Oral. Health 5:1465956.

doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1465956

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Kaur, Anderson, Shahid, Davis, Mills and Wong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of silver diammine fluoride with/without potassium iodide on enamel and dentin carious lesions in primary teeth

M. Kaur, P. Anderson, S. Shahid, G. R. Davis, D. Mills and F. S. L. Wong*

Centre for Oral Bioengineering, Barts and the London School of Medicine and Dentistry Queen Mary, University of London, London, United Kingdom

Aim: To assess the effects of SDF and SDF+KI treatment on enamel and dentin carious lesions in primary teeth using x-ray Microtomography (XMT) and back scattered scanning electron microscopy (BSE-SEM).

Methods: Artificial enamel caries of 3 caries free primary teeth were created by immersion of the samples in 50 ml demineralization solution for 72 h. Three other teeth with natural dentin caries were selected. Both groups were divided into 3 subgroups: EC–Enamel Control; ES–Enamel with SDF application; ESK–Enamel with SDF followed by KI application; DC–Dentin Control; DS–Dentin with SDF application; DSK–Dentin with SDF followed by KI application. Each tooth was imaged using XMT at 3 time points: (1) Pretreatment; (2) after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h, with or without SDF or SDF+KI; (3) after subsequent immersion in demineralization solution for 72 h. The change of radiopacities of the lesions in these time points were assessed from the XMT images. After the XMT scans, all teeth were investigated microscopically using BSE-SEM.

Results: In EC, no change in linear attenuation coefficient (LAC) was observed after remineralization, but LAC reduction was observed after subsequent demineralization. For ES, thin layer of high LAC material was deposited on the enamel surface after remineralization, and further reduction of LAC was observed after demineralization. In ESK, the surface layer was lost after SDF +KI, and small reduction of LAC was observed after demineralization. In DC, no LAC change was observed after remineralization, but reduction of LAC was detected after demineralization. In DS, high LAC material was formed on the carious dentin surface and randomly inside the lesion. No further LAC change was deposited on the carious surface and inside the dentinal tubules. No further LAC reduction was found after subsequent demineralization.

Conclusion: SDF and SDF+KI did not protect artificial enamel under acid attack even though Ag products were deposited in the porous enamel. However, SDF and SDF+KI shows protective properties against acid challenges and Ag products are deposited in carious dentin lesion without tubular structure randomly; and within dentinal tubules when these structures are retained.

KEYWORDS

SDF, KI, remineralization, XMT, SEM

1 Introduction

The application of Silver Diammine Fluoride (SDF) on carious dentin lesion has been shown to arrest caries progression by forming a black remineralized surface layer (1-3). This black discoloration is caused by metallic silver (Ag) which is a photoreduced product from silver chloride (AgCl), a compound formed by SDF reacting with saliva (4). Riva Star (SDI, Australia), a commercial SDF brand, has an optional additional application of potassium iodide (KI) solution to remove the discolouration by binding the Ag ions with I ions to form AgI, thereby reducing metallic Ag formation (5-7). However, the effect of this combination of SDF and KI (SDF+KI) on remineralization, and on preventing further demineralization, has not been well researched. Therefore, the aims of this study were to investigate and compare the effects of SDF with SDF+KI on primary enamel and primary dentin lesions, under re- and de-mineralization conditions in vitro, using x-ray microtomography (XMT) and back scattered scanning electron microscopy (BSE-SEM).

2 Materials and methods

Six primary teeth were selected from the human tooth tissue bank at Queen Mary University of London (Ethics number- QMREC 0014/ 17). Three teeth with sound enamel, and three other teeth with natural dentin caries were selected for the experiment. Each sound enamel tooth was coated with nail varnish, leaving a 3×4 mm window and immersed in 50 ml demineralization solution (0.1M acetic acid buffered with sodium acetate at pH 4.5) for 72 h (8) in order to create an artificial enamel lesion. Both the enamel and dentin groups were divided into 3 subgroups: EC - Enamel Control; ES -Enamel with SDF application; ESK - Enamel with SDF followed by KI application; DC - Dentin Control; DS - Dentin with SDF application; DSK - Dentin with SDF followed by KI application. Each tooth had XMT scans using MUCAT2 (QMUL) at 90 keV and 180 µA for 18 h, at 3 timepoints: (1) Pretreatment; (2) after immersion in remineralization solution (2 mM CaCl₂, 1.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 150 mM NaCl) for 120 h, with/without SDF (Riva Star), or SDF+KI (Riva Star) treatment; (3) after immersion in demineralization solution (as above) for 72 h (Figure 1). After image reconstructions, the three XMT images of the same sample in 3 timepoints were aligned, and their linear attenuation coefficients (LACs) were normalised to 40 KeV using in-house software so that they could be compared and analysed quantitatively. After the XMT scans, all teeth were embedded and sectioned. The region of interest was then investigated microscopically using BSE-SEM (9).

3 Results

3.1 Artificial enamel carious lesion

All the pre-treatment scans of the artificial demineralized enamel lesions show that each tooth had a subsurface





XMT slices of artificially created lesions in enamel with no SDF treatment showing no protection from demineralization in this control tooth. (A) Pretreatment scan; (B) after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h; (C) subsequent immersion in demineralisation solution for 72 h; (D) line profiles of LACs for the 3 scans. (E) BSE-SEM image of the lesion in enamel: A- indicates the position of initial layer of demineralisation. B – extended demineralized region after subsequent immersion in demineralization solution.

demineralized lesion with a surface mineralized layer (Figures 2A, D, 3A,D, and 4A,D). With no SDF treatment, the lesion did not have any observable changes in LAC after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h (Figures 2B,D). After subsequent demineralization for 72 h, the subsurface lesion extended further into enamel by about 0.06 mm (Figure 2C) and the line profile shows a second mineralized layer on the surface of the advancing front (Figure 2D). This feature could also be seen in the SEM image, which shows substantial loss of mineral (Figure 2E). With the application of SDF, there was a layer of high LAC (\sim 3.2 cm⁻¹) material on the demineralized enamel surface, and into the lesion after remineralization (Figures 3B,D). After subsequent demineralization, the line profile (Figures 3C,D) shows that there was some loss of mineral in the depth of the lesion (indicated by the grey line shift to the right of the orange line). The radiopaque layer could be seen clearly in the BSE-SEM image covering the enamel, but it did not completely seal the surface. Therefore, a secondary demineralized layer could be detected (B in Figure 3E). With the application of SDF+KI, the initial surface mineralized layer was lost after remineralization (Figures 4B,D) and the normal enamel LAC was increased slightly from 2.6 to 2.8 cm⁻¹. After subsequent demineralization, there was a small loss of mineral in sound enamel (~0.02 mm).

3.2 Natural dentin carious lesion

In all the natural dentin carious lesions, there was no surface mineralized layer as observed in the artificial enamel lesions (Figures 5A,D, 6A,D, 7A,D). In the control sample without SDF application, remineralization did not seem to have an effect (Figures 5B,D). After subsequent demineralization, there was further loss of minerals in the sound dentin (Figures 5C,D). This could also be observed in the BSE-SEM image (B in Figure 5E). With the application of SDF, the DS sample had high LAC at the surface, and a speckled appearance with high LAC islands after remineralization inside the lesion (Figures 6B,D). After subsequent demineralization, no further loss of mineral was observed within the lesion or into the sound dentin (Figures 6C,E). In the BSE-SEM image, high density particles were observed inside the lesion (Figure 6E). No dentinal tubule structures were observed inside the lesion, but was apparent in the sound dentin. With the application of SDF+KI, the DSK sample had a thick layer of radiopaque material (LAC > 3 cm^{-1}) from the carious dentin surface into the into the depth of the lesion (Figures 7B,D), after remineralisation. Even in the deeper part of the lesion, the LAC was increased to around 1.25 cm⁻¹, similar to that of sound dentin. After subsequent demineralization, there was no observable change



of LACs in the lesion (Figures 7C,D). The BSE-SEM image (Figure 7E) showed that the lesion maintained some dentinal tubular structure and the high-density materials were deposited along the direction of the dentinal tubules.

4 Discussion

4.1 Enamel carious lesions

Artificial enamel lesions were used because it is difficult to standardise natural enamel carious lesions. Also, in natural early enamel carious lesion, there is usually a surface mineralised layer, possibly with high fluoride content that may prevent penetration of SDF into the lesion. It is confirmed in this study that even with the thinner surface mineralized layer, the penetration of the SDF was limited on the surface (Figure 2B). As the outer surface layer was smooth, the Ag particles did not retain well. This was shown in the ESK sample (Figure 4) which showed total loss of the surface after SDF+KI remineralization (Figure 4B). This might be due to the surface layer was very thin and was lost during the application of SDF+KI. In the enamel control sample (EC), no increase of LAC (*i.e.*, no remineralization) was observed after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h (Figure 2B). This might be due to the immersion time was too short; and/or the surface mineralized layer prevented any further exchange of ions in the deeper layer. However, when this tooth was re-immersed in demineralization solution for 72 h, there was further mineral loss in the body of the lesion, with an increase in depth (Figure 2C). It was noted the surface mineralized layer was intact and retained its LAC. Furthermore, there was a 2nd mineralized layer with the second wave of demineralization in the depth of enamel. This implies that clinically when enamel is subjected to cyclical de- and remineralization, the dynamics of ion exchange will create a complex enamel structure.

In the ES sample, after SDF application and remineralization, there was a very radiopaque layer on the enamel surface (Figure 3B). When SDF was in contact with the remineralization solution, AgCl is formed (4). From the high LAC value, this layer is due to the Ag content of AgCl. In this sample, the AgCl was retained, covering the surface of enamel. From the line profile (Figure 3D), the AgCl might have penetrated inside the lesion and increased LAC of the lesion. Although remineralization might also occur due to the high F content of



FIGURE 4

XMT slices of artificially created lesions in enamel with SDF+KI treatment showing no barrier formation and protection from demineralization. (A) Pretreatment scan; (B) after SDF+KI application and immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h; (C) subsequent immersion in demineralisation solution for 72 h; (D) line profiles of LACs for the 3 scans. (E) BSE-SEM image of the lesion in enamel: A- indicates the position of initial layer of demineralization B - extended demineralized region.



FIGURE 5

XMT slices of natural lesions in dentin with no SDF treatment showing no protection from demineralization in this control tooth. (A) Pretreatment scan; (B) after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h; (C) subsequent immersion in demineralisation solution for 72 h; (D) line profiles of LACs for the 3 scans. (E) BSE-SEM image of the lesion in dentin showing dentinal tubules: A- indicates the position of initial layer of demineralization B – extended demineralized region in dentin.



protecting dentin from further demineralization. (A) Pretreatment scan; (B) after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h; (C) subsequent immersion in demineralisation solution for 72 h; (D) line profiles of LACs for the three scans. The spikes indicate Ag deposition. (E) BSE-SEM image of the lesion in dentin showing no dentinal tubules: A - initial demineralized lesion; B - Ag particles in carious dentin matrix.

SDF, the immersion time is too short for this to happen, as shown in the EC sample. Also, after demineralization, there is some mineral loss beyond the original lesion into normal enamel, showing that SDF does not prevent demineralization in enamel.

After application of SDF+KI and after remineralization, the surface layer of the ESK seemed to be destroyed (Figure 4B). As there was no acidic component in SDF+KI, the destruction was likely caused by the mechanical brushing during the application since the surface was thin and weak. However, there was a small increase in LAC in the normal enamel, indicating that a small amount of AgI (a product formed when SDF is mixed with KI) managed to be deposited on the surface and partly into the enamel. Once again, this layer did not protect the enamel from subsequent demineralization indicating no formation of acid resistant fluorapatite or fluoride substituted hydroxyapatite (FA/FSHA).

These results suggest that the SDF will penetrate into the enamel only if some porosities exist. Li et al. (10), reported the movement of silver ions through the pellicle along the prism boundaries. However, this current study shows that the penetration of SDF is limited to the surface of the demineralized lesion. In natural enamel carious lesion, the porous structure could be different from the artificial lesion. Clinically, when the lesion becomes black after SDF application, it indicates that the lesion is porous enough to retain the SDF byproduct that is photo reduced to metallic Ag, which might offer protection from bacterial invasion.

4.2 Dentin carious lesion

In natural dentin carious lesion (DC sample), no change of LAC was observed after immersion in remineralization solution for 120 h (Figure 5B). This implies that dentin caries is difficult to remineralize without the presence of fluoride. Hence, there was no protection when the tooth was subsequently immersed in demineralization solution for 72 h, resulting in a loss of mineral and decrease in LAC (Figure 5D). When SDF was applied to the dentin carious lesion (DS sample), after remineralization, a layer of high LAC (up to 3.4 cm⁻³ material was deposited on the surface of the lesion. This material was likely to be AgCl. Some of this material also penetrated into the lesion and randomly deposited in the dentin lesion. After subsequent demineralization, the LAC was unchanged. This implies that



unlike enamel, FA or FSHA might have been formed inside the dentin lesions but was masked by the high LAC of precipitated AgCl. This might explain the multiple peaks in the line profile (Figure 6D). As FA/FSHA are more acid resistant and harder, subsequent demineralization did not result in further loss of mineral (11).

Several studies have reported occlusion of dentin tubules with the application of silver ions (2, 10, 12–15). Seto et al. (13) reported the formation of microwires of silver within the dentinal tubules but Kiesow et al. (14) and Menzel et al. (15) found particles of Ag occluding the dentinal tubules. However, if the dentinal tubule structure is destroyed, as shown in the BSE-SEM image (Figure 6E), Ag particles could only be retained within space in the matrix. This might explain the random high LAC island appearance in Figure 6B.

In the DSK sample which had SDF+KI application, there was a thick layer of high LAC material on the surface. Unlike the DS sample, the penetrated material had a structural pattern (Figure 7B). The BSE-SEM image (Figure 7E) showed that the dentinal tubule structure within the lesion was not destroyed. Hence, this radiopaque material, most likely to be AgI, was deposited inside the dentinal tubules, as shown by others (14, 15). Hence, it does not indicate that SDF+KI application results in deeper penetration than SDF, it depends on the structure of the natural dentin carious lesion. Similar to SDF, SDF+KI application

would have formed FA/FSHA to harden the dentin and prevent mineral loss in subsequent demineralization (Figure 7D).

Regarding the remineralization effect of SDF, Heukamp et al. (16) found that SDF to be less effective than Cervitec F varnish on artificial enamel caries lesion, which agrees with the results of present study. |With regard to SDF on dentin, Cifuentes-Jiménez et al. (3) found that SDF and NaF resulted in an increase in mineral content, the formation of a crystalline precipitate with high flexural strength. They found no effect of acid challenge on dentin blocks treated with SDF under pH cycling. This agrees with this current study which shows application of SDF with or without KI protects dentin from acid attack.

5 Conclusion

The study presented provides valuable insights into the remineralization potential of SDF and its KI adjunct on both enamel and dentin lesions in primary teeth. The findings from this *in vitro* study shows that silver ions penetrate the enamel structure only in the presence of porosities, suggesting that SDF treatment may benefit sound enamel to prevent demineralization. The SDF application is most effect in carious dentin where Ag containing material is deposited on the surface and inside dentin tubule, with F containing apatite formation. This can then

protect the dentin from acidic challenge. The adjunct of KI, used for reducing formation of black metallic silver, does not seem to hamper its protective property.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Queen Mary University Of London (QMREC 0014/17). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The human samples used in this study were acquired from a by- product of routine care or industry. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

MK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PA: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing, Supervision. SS: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. GD: Writing – review & editing, Methodology,

References

1. Mei ML, Ito L, Cao Y, Li Q, Lo EC, Chu C. Inhibitory effect of silver diamine fluoride on dentine demineralisation and collagen degradation. *J Dent.* (2013) 41 (9):809–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2013.06.009

2. Yu OY, Mei ML, Zhao IS, Li Q, Lo EC, Chu C. Remineralisation of enamel with silver diamine fluoride and sodium fluoride. *Dent Mater.* (2018) 34(12):e344–52. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2018.10.007

3. Cifuentes-Jiménez CC, Bolaños-Carmona MV, Enrich-Essvein T, González-López S, Álvarez-Lloret P. Evaluation of the remineralizing capacity of silver diamine fluoride on demineralized dentin under pH-cycling conditions. *J Appl Oral Sci.* (2023) 31: e20220306. doi: 10.1590/1678-7757-2022-0306

4. Kaur M, Shahid S, Karpukhina N, Anderson P, Wong FSL. Characterization of chemical reactions of silver diammine fluoride and hydroxyapatite under remineralization conditions. *Front Oral Health*. (2024) 5(March). doi: 10.3389/froh.2024.1332298

5. Craig G, Knight G, McIntyre J. Clinical evaluation of diamine silver fluoride/ potassium iodide as a dentine desensitizing agent. A pilot study. *Aust Dent J.* (2012) 57(3):308–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1834-7819.2012.01700.x

6. Patel J, Anthonappa RP, King NM. Evaluation of the staining potential of silver diamine fluoride: *in vitro. Int J Paediatr Dent.* (2018) 28(5):514–22. doi: 10.1111/ipd. 12401

7. Patel J, Turton B, Cherian S, Anthonappa R. Silver diamine fluoride staining with potassium iodide: a prospective cohort study. *Int Dent J.* (2024) 74(1):95–101. doi: 10. 1016/j.identj.2023.07.006

8. Sperber GH, Buonocore MG. Effect of different acids on character of demineralization of enamel surfaces. *J Dent Res.* (1963) 42(2):707–23. doi: 10.1177/00220345630420022001

Software. DM: Methodology, Software, Writing – review & editing. FW: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We wish to express out thanks to Professor Alan Boyde for his help in the BSE-SEM images.

Conflict of interest

The authors received the materials for the study from SDI Limited. The company played no role in the design, implementation, analysis, or preparation of the manuscript.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Boyde A. Scanning electron microscopy of bone. In: Idris A, editor. *Bone Research Protocols. Methods in Molecular Biology.* vol. 1914. New York, NY: Humana Press (2019). doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8997-3_31

10. Li Y, Liu Y, Psoter WJ, Nguyen OM, Bromage TG, Walters MA, et al. Assessment of the silver penetration and distribution in carious lesions of deciduous teeth treated with silver diamine fluoride. *Caries Res.* (2019) 53 (4):431–40. doi: 10.1159/000496210

11. Turton B, Horn R, Durward C. Caries arrest and lesion appearance using two different silver fluoride therapies on primary teeth with and without potassium iodide: 12-month results. *Clin Exp Dent Res.* (2020) 7(4):609–19. doi: 10.1002/cre2.367

12. Zander HA. Use of silver nitrate in the treatment of caries. J Am Dent Assoc. (1941) 28(8):1260-67. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.1941.0203

13. Seto J, A Horst J, Parkinson DY, Frachella JC, DeRisi JL. Enhanced tooth structure via silver microwires following treatment with 38 percent silver diamine fluoride. *Pediatr Dent.* (2020) 42(3):226–31.

14. Kiesow A, Menzel M, Lippert F, Tanzer JM, Milgrom P. Dentin tubule occlusion by a 38% silver diamine fluoride gel: an *in vitro* investigation. *BDJ Open*. (2022) 8(1):1. doi: 10.1038/s41405-022-00095-8

15. Menzel M, Kiesow A, De Souza E Silva JM. Nano-CT characterization of dentinal tubule occlusion in SDF-treated dentin. *Sci Rep.* (2023) 13(1):15895. doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-42805-8

16. Heukamp J, Korbmacher-Steiner H, Schmidt S, Neumann CM, Bottenberg P, Jablonski-Momeni A. Remineralisation capability of silver diamine fluoride in artificial enamel lesions on smooth surfaces using quantitative light-induced fluorescence measurements *in vitro. Sci Rep.* (2022) 12(1):8498. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-12498-6

Frontiers in Oral Health

Investigates and improves the diagnosis and treatment of oral diseases

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34

Contact us



